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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Shareholders of Bold Ventures Inc.  

Opinion  

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bold Ventures Inc. and its subsidiaries 
(the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at October 
31, 2021 and 2020, and the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, 
consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the 
years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as at October 31, 2021 and 2020 
and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Material uncertainty related to going concern 

We draw attention to Note 2 in the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the 
Company has a deficit and a working capital deficiency as at October 31, 2021. As stated in Note 
2, these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate that 
material uncertainties exist that cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Other information  

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
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inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated 
financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the Company or cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risks of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease 
to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
The engagement partner of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report Jessica 
Glendinning. 
 
McGovern Hurley LLP 

 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
 
Toronto, Ontario 
February 28, 2022 
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1. General information 
 
Bold Ventures Inc. (“Bold” or the “Company”) was incorporated on June 8, 1989 under the laws of British 
Columbia. On August 31, 2010, the Company filed Articles of Continuance to continue into Ontario and is 
now subject to the laws of Ontario as if it had been incorporated under the Business Corporations Act 
(Ontario).   
 
The Company is engaged in the acquisition, exploration and evaluation of mineral properties in Canada and 
is publicly listed on the TSX Venture Exchange. The address of the registered office is Bay Adelaide Centre 
- East Tower, 22 Adelaide Street West Suite 3600, Toronto, Ontario M5H 4E3. 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the years ended October 31, 2021 and 2020 
were authorized for issuance in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors on February 28, 
2022. 
 

2. Going concern 
 
The Company’s ability to realize the costs it has incurred to date on its properties is dependent upon it 
being able to identify economically recoverable reserves; to finance their exploration and evaluation costs; 
to resolve any environmental, regulatory, or other constraints which may hinder the successful development 
of the reserves; and to attain profitable operations.  
 
The business of mining and exploration for minerals involves a high degree of risk and there can be no 
assurance that current exploration programs will result in profitable mining operations.  The recoverability of 
the carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets and the Company’s continued existence is 
dependent upon the preservation of its interest in the underlying properties, the discovery of economically 
recoverable reserves, the achievement of profitable operations, or the ability of the Company to raise 
alternative financing, if necessary, or alternatively upon the Company’s ability to dispose of its interests on 
an advantageous basis. These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties which cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Changes in future conditions 
could require material write downs of the carrying values. 
 
Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to the properties on which it is conducting exploration 
and in which it has an interest, in accordance with industry standards for the current stage of exploration of 
such properties, these procedures do not guarantee the Company's title. Property title may be subject to 
government licensing requirements or regulations, unregistered prior agreements, unregistered claims, 
aboriginal claims, and non-compliance with regulatory, environmental and social requirements. 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles 
applicable to a going concern. Accordingly, they do not give effect to adjustments that would be necessary 
should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern and therefore be required to realize its 
assets and liquidate its liabilities and commitments in other than the normal course of business and at 
amounts different from those in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Such adjustments 
could be material. It is not possible to predict whether the Company will be able to raise adequate financing 
or to ultimately attain profitable levels of operations.  
 
Details of deficit and working capital of the Company are as follows: 
 October 31, 2021 October 31, 2020
 $ $ 
Deficit 11,398,924 11,174,379
Working capital (deficit) (105,662) 116,422
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3. Basis of preparation   
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain 
financial instruments that have been measured at fair value. The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Canadian dollars which is the functional currency of the Company. 
 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). IFRS represents 
standards and interpretations approved by the IASB, and are comprised of IFRSs, International Accounting 
Standards (“IASs”), and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRICs”) and the 
former Standing Interpretations Committee (“SICs”). 

4. Significant accounting policies 
 
Basis of consolidation 
 
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its controlled 
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries consist of entities over which the Company is exposed to, or has rights to, 
variable returns as well as the ability to affect those returns through the power to direct the relevant 
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date control is transferred to the 
Company and are de-consolidated from the date control ceases. The consolidated financial statements 
include all the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries 
after eliminating inter-entity balances and transactions. 

The Company owns 100% of Rencore Resources Inc., a company engaged in exploration of the Ring of 
Fire area north northeast of Thunder Bay, Ontario, and 100% of Bold Ventures (Utah) Inc., which is 
inactive. 

Exploration and evaluation assets 

Exploration and evaluation outlays relating to properties, that are incurred after the legal right to explore has 
been obtained, are capitalized until the properties are brought into production, at which time they are 
amortized on a unit of production basis. Other general exploration expenses are charged to the 
consolidated statements of loss as incurred. The cost of properties abandoned, impaired or sold and their 
related capitalized exploration costs are expensed to the consolidated statements of loss in the year of 
abandonment or sale. The amounts shown as exploration and evaluation assets represent unamortized 
costs to date and do not necessarily reflect present or future values. 

Costs include the cash consideration and the fair market value of shares issued for the acquisition and 
exploration of properties. The carrying value is reduced by option proceeds received until such time as the 
exploration and evaluation assets are reduced to nominal amounts. Properties acquired under option 
agreements, whereby payments are made at the sole discretion of the Company are recorded in the 
accounts at the time of payment. 

When a project is considered to no longer have commercially viable prospects for the Company, 
exploration and evaluation assets in respect of that property are assessed as impaired and written off to the 
consolidated statements of loss. The Company also assesses exploration and evaluation assets for 
impairment when other facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an asset may exceed 
its recoverable amount. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

At the end of each reporting period, non-financial assets are subject to impairment tests whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. Where the 
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carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and fair 
value less costs to sell, the asset is written down accordingly. Any impairment is recognized in the 
consolidated statements of loss.  

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include short-term investments with original maturities of less than ninety days. 
The Company invests cash in term deposits maintained in high credit quality institutions. 

Provisions and decommissioning liabilities 

Provisions, which include decommissioning liabilities, are liabilities that are uncertain in timing or amount. 
The Company records a provision when:  

(i)  the Company has a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event;  

(ii)  it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation; and  

(iii)  a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  

Constructive obligations are obligations that derive from the Company’s actions where:  

 (i)  by an established pattern of past practice, published policies or a sufficiently specific current statement, 
the Company has indicated to other parties that it will accept certain responsibilities; and  

(ii)  as a result, the Company has created a valid expectation on the part of those other parties that it will 
discharge those responsibilities.  

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect management’s current 
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. 
If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. Provisions are reduced by actual expenditures for which the 
provision was originally recognized. Where discounting has been used, the carrying amount of a provision 
increases in each period to reflect the passage of time. This increase (accretion expense) is included in 
finance costs in the consolidated statements of loss.  

The Company did not have any material reclamation provisions or decommissioning liabilities as at October 
31, 2021 and 2020. 

Loss per share  

Basic loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding. Diluted loss 
per share is calculated by assuming that any proceeds from the exercise of dilutive stock options and 
warrants would be used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the period, with 
the incremental number of shares being included in the denominator of the diluted loss per share 
calculation. The diluted loss per share calculation excludes any potential conversion of options and 
warrants that would increase earnings per share or decrease loss per share.  During the years ended 
October 31, 2021 and 2020, all outstanding options and warrants were considered anti-dilutive and were 
therefore excluded from the diluted loss per share calculation. 

Income taxes 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred income tax. Income tax is recognized in consolidated 
statements of loss except to the extent it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive loss or directly 
in equity. 
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Current income tax 

Current income tax expense is based on the results for the period as adjusted for items that are not taxable 
and not deductible. Current tax is calculated using tax rates and laws that were enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Management at the end of each reporting period evaluates 
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to 
interpretation. Provisions are established where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to 
the tax authorities. 

Deferred income tax 

Deferred income taxes are the taxes expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets in the financial statements and their corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit and are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and their corresponding tax bases. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be 
utilized. 

Flow through-share financings 

The Company periodically finances a portion of its exploration activities through the issue of flow through 
shares, which transfers the tax deductibility of exploration expenditures to the investor (referred to as 
renunciation). Proceeds received on the issuance of such shares up to the value of similar non-flow through 
shares are credited to capital stock and any difference between that amount and the issue price is 
recognized as a flow through share premium and recognized as a liability in the consolidated statements of 
financial position. Upon renunciation to the investor of the tax benefits associated with the related 
expenditures, a deferred tax liability is recognized and the liability previously recorded is reversed with any 
difference being recorded as a deferred tax recovery (expense). To the extent that suitable deferred tax 
assets are available, the Company will reduce the deferred tax liability and record a recovery on the 
consolidated statements of loss. The related exploration costs are charged to exploration and evaluation 
assets.  

Foreign currency translation 

The Canadian dollar is the functional and reporting currency of the Company’s operations. Monetary assets 
and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars at exchange rates in effect at the statement of financial 
position date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at historical exchange rates. Revenues and 
expenses are translated at the rate at the time of the transaction. Any resulting gain or loss is recorded in 
the consolidated statements of loss. 

Financial instruments 

Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Non-derivative financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified and measured as “financial assets 
at fair value”, as either fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) or fair value through other comprehensive 
income (“FVOCI”), and “financial assets at amortized cost”, as appropriate. The Company determines the 
classification of financial assets at the time of initial recognition based on the Company’s business model 
and the contractual terms of the cash flows. 
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All financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not at FVPL, 
directly attributable transaction costs on the trade date at which the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining their 
classification at FVPL or at amortized cost. 

Subsequent measurement – financial assets at amortized cost 

After initial recognition, financial assets measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured at the end 
of each reporting period at amortized cost using the Effective Interest Rate (“EIR”) method. Amortized cost 
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any fees or costs that are 
an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance income in the consolidated 
statements of loss. 

Subsequent measurement – financial assets at FVPL 

Financial assets measured at FVPL include financial assets management intends to sell in the short term 
and any derivative financial instrument that is not designated as a hedging instrument in a hedge 
relationship. Financial assets measured at FVPL are carried at fair value in the consolidated statements of 
financial position with changes in fair value recognized in other income or expense in the consolidated 
statements of loss. The Company does not measure any financial assets at FVPL. 

Subsequent measurement – financial assets at FVOCI 

Financial assets measured at FVOCI are non-derivative financial assets that are not held for trading and 
the Company has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to measure the assets at 
FVOCI. The Company does not measure any financial assets at FVOCI.  

After initial measurement, investments measured at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with 
unrealized gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive income or loss in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income (loss). When the investment is sold, the cumulative gain or loss 
remains in accumulated other comprehensive income or loss and is not reclassified to profit or loss. 

Dividends from such investments are recognized in other income in the consolidated statements of loss 
when the right to receive payments is established. 

Derecognition 

A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or the 
Company no longer retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The Company’s only financial assets subject to impairment are other amounts receivable, which are 
measured at amortized cost. The Company has elected to apply the simplified approach to impairment as 
permitted by IFRS 9, which requires the expected lifetime loss to be recognized at the time of initial 
recognition of the receivable. To measure estimated credit losses, accounts receivable have been grouped 
based on shared credit risk characteristics, including the number of days past due. An impairment loss is 
reversed in subsequent periods if the amount of the expected loss decreases and the decrease can be 
objectively related to an event occurring after the initial impairment was recognized. 

Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 
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Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured at FVPL as is 
the case for held for trading or derivative instruments, or the Company has opted to measure the financial 
liability at FVPL. The Company’s financial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities and 
share subscription liability, which are each measured at amortized cost.  All financial liabilities are 
recognized initially at fair value and in the case of long-term debt, net of directly attributable transaction 
costs. 

Subsequent measurement – financial liabilities at amortized cost 

After initial recognition, financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured at the 
end of each reporting period at amortized cost using the EIR method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking 
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any fees or costs that are an integral part of the 
EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance cost in the consolidated statements of loss. 

Derecognition 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires 
with any associated gain or loss recognized in other income or expense in the consolidated statements of 
loss. 

Share-based payments 

The Company applies the fair value method of accounting for share-based payments granted to employees 
and other individuals providing similar services. The fair value of the options is determined using an option 
pricing model that takes into account, as of the grant date, the exercise price, the expected life of the 
option, the current price of the underlying stock and its expected volatility, expected dividends on the stock, 
and the risk-free interest rate over the expected life of the option. Each tranche of an option that vests over 
time is considered a separate award and the fair value of each tranche is expensed over its vesting period 
with the corresponding credit to contributed surplus.  

Share-based payments granted to non-employees are measured at the fair value of goods received unless 
that cannot be reasonably estimated in which case the fair value of the share-based payments are used. 
The measurement date is generally the date the goods or services are received. 

Cash consideration received from employees on exercise of options is credited to share capital along with 
the original grant date fair value of the options exercised. The value of options forfeited before vesting is 
removed from contributed surplus and credited to operations, while the value of options that expire after 
vesting is credited directly to deficit. 

Warrants 

All warrants issued under a unit financing arrangement are valued on the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model, net of related issue costs and are recorded in contributed surplus. Expired 
warrants are removed from contributed surplus and credited directly to deficit. 

Recent accounting pronouncements and changes in accounting policies 

During 2021, the Company did not adopt any new IFRS standards. 

Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRIC that are mandatory for accounting periods 
beginning on or after November 1, 2021, or later periods. Many are not applicable or do not have a 
significant impact to the Company and have been excluded below. The following has not yet been adopted 
and is being evaluated to determine its impact on the Company. 

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”) and IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures (“IAS 28”) were amended in September 2014 to address a conflict between the 
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requirements of IAS 28 and IFRS 10 and clarify that in a transaction involving an associate or joint venture, 
the extent of gain or loss recognition depends on whether the assets sold or contributed constitute a 
business. The effective date of these amendments is yet to be determined, however early adoption is 
permitted. 
 
Segmented information 

The Company currently conducts substantially all of its operations in Canada in one business segment.  

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Estimates and judgments are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. Actual outcomes can differ from these estimates. The key sources of estimation 
uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the amounts recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements are: 

Capitalization of exploration and evaluation assets   

Management has determined that exploration and evaluation costs incurred during the year have future 
economic benefits and are economically recoverable. In making this judgement, management has 
assessed various sources of information including but not limited to the geologic and metallurgic 
information, history of conversion of mineral deposits to proven and probable mineral reserves, scoping and 
feasibility studies, proximity of operating facilities, operating management expertise and existing permits.  

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets 

While assessing whether any indications of impairment exist for exploration and evaluation assets, 
consideration is given to both external and internal sources of information. Information the Company 
considers includes changes in the market, economic and legal environment in which the Company operates 
that are not within its control that could affect the recoverable amount of exploration and evaluation assets. 
Internal sources of information include the manner in which exploration and evaluation assets are being 
used or are expected to be used and indications of expected economic performance of the assets. 
Reductions in metal price forecasts, increases in estimated future costs of production, increases in 
estimated future capital costs, reductions in the amount of recoverable mineral reserves and mineral 
resources and/or adverse current economics can result in a write-down of the carrying amounts of the 
Company’s exploration and evaluation assets. 

Income, value added, withholding and other taxes 

The Company is subject to income, value added, withholding and other taxes. Significant judgment is 
required in determining the Company’s provisions for taxes. There are many transactions and calculations 
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Company 
recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be 
due. The determination of the Company’s income, value added, withholding and other tax liabilities requires 
interpretation of complex laws and regulations. The Company’s interpretation of taxation law as applied to 
transactions and activities may not coincide with the interpretation of the tax authorities. All tax related 
filings are subject to government audit and potential reassessment subsequent to the financial statement 
reporting period. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were 
initially recorded, such differences will impact the tax related accruals and deferred income tax provisions in 
the period in which such determination is made. 
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Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations 

Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations are estimated based on the Company’s 
interpretation of current legal or constructive obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental 
costs, which may arise when environmental disturbance is caused by the exploration and evaluation of a 
property interest.  Such costs are discounted to their net present value using a risk-free rate and are 
provided for and expensed as soon as the obligation to incur such costs arises. Discount rates using a pre-
tax rate that reflects the time value of money are used to calculate the net present value. The related 
liability is adjusted for each period for the unwinding of the discount rate and for changes to the current 
market-based discount rate and the amount or timing of the underlying cash flows needed to settle the 
obligation. The Company has no material restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations as at 
October 31, 2021 and 2020, as the disturbance to date is minimal. 

Share-based payments 

Management determines costs for share-based payments using market-based valuation techniques. The 
fair value of the market-based and performance-based share awards are determined at the date of grant 
using generally accepted valuation techniques. Assumptions are made and judgment used in applying 
valuation techniques. These assumptions and judgments include estimating the future volatility of the stock 
price, expected dividend yield, future employee turnover rates and future employee stock option exercise 
behaviors and corporate performance. Such judgments and assumptions are inherently uncertain. Changes 
in these assumptions affect the fair value estimates. 

Contingencies  
Refer to Note 10. 

Going concern 
Refer to Note 2. 

5.    Exploration and evaluation assets 

 
Property descriptions: 
 
(a) Northern Ontario properties - Ring of Fire 
(i) Dundee Corporation earn-in right 

Pursuant to an option agreement dated May 31, 2011 with a subsidiary (“Subco”) of Dundee 
Corporation, Subco had the right to earn up to a 33-1/3% interest in Bold’s Ring of Fire properties by 
funding $2,500,000 of exploration work by May 31, 2014. Upon expending $2,500,000 within a three 
year period, a joint venture is to be formed between the Company and Subco. During the year ended 
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October 31, 2014 the $2,500,000 spending threshold was met and Subco earned its 33-1/3% interest. 
The properties that Subco has earned into to date are described in (ii) to (iv) below.  

(ii) Ring of Fire Claims 
The Ring of Fire Claim blocks, for which exploration expenditure requirements are in abeyance with the 
Ministry of Northern Development and Mines, pending completion of First Nation agreements, were 
staked to explore areas located to the north and west of the Ring of Fire area of the James Bay 
Lowlands.  

(iii) Koper Lake Project 
Under an agreement dated May 4, 2012 with Fancamp Exploration Limited (“Fancamp”), subject to 
KWG Resources Inc.’s (“KWG”) interest as discussed in (iv) below, the Company has earned a 50% 
working interest in the Fancamp Ring of Fire property known as the Koper Lake Project. The Koper 
Lake Project property is situated approximately 530 km north east of Thunder Bay in the James Bay 
Lowlands of northern Ontario. The agreement called for the Company to make option payments 
totalling $1,500,000 and to incur exploration expenditures on the property of at least $8,000,000 over a 
3-year period, which it did under the KWG option agreement during 2016, as discussed in (iv) below.  
 
A further 10% interest may be earned by Bold at any time by delivery of a positive feasibility study and 
by making a payment of $700,000 in cash and/or stock at the option of Bold. There is a 2% net smelter 
royalty interest (“NSR”) to be paid in respect of the four claims that comprise the property. Bold 
maintains a right of first refusal on one-half (1%) of the 2% NSR. In January 2013, the Company signed 
an agreement with Fancamp giving Bold the option to earn up to a 100% working interest in the Koper 
Lake property. The agreement provides that once Bold has earned its 60% interest in the Koper Lake 
property (it has currently earned a 50% interest as discussed in (iv) below), it will then have two options 
for a period of 90 days following the date it earns its 60% interest. Under the first option it can earn a 
further 20% interest by agreeing to pay Fancamp $15,000,000 payable in equal installments over three 
years with half of the amount payable in cash and the balance payable, at Bold’s option, through the 
issuance of common shares of Bold, or its assignee, at the market price at the time the shares are 
issued. If the first option is exercised, Bold would then have the option to acquire Fancamp’s remaining 
interest in exchange for a Gross Metal Royalty. Fancamp would then be entitled to be paid 2% of the 
total revenue from the sale of all metals and mineral products from the property from the 
commencement of commercial production. Once all of the capital costs to bring the Koper Lake project 
to the production stage have been repaid entirely, the gross metal royalty may be scaled up to a 
maximum of 4% of the total revenue from the sale of all metals and mineral products from the property 
depending upon the price of product sold. 
 

(iv) KWG Resources Inc. option on the Koper Lake property 
In March 2013, and amended October 23, 2015, the Company optioned its interest in the Koper Lake 
property to KWG. Under the terms of the option agreement, KWG assumed the obligation to make 
option payments totaling $1,500,000 and to fund the $8,000,000 exploration programs planned for the 
property; and as of September 21, 2016, KWG had met those obligations. As a result, on September 
21, 2016, the Company earned a 50% working interest in Fancamp’s Koper Lake property; KWG 
earned an 80% interest in Bold’s interest in chromite and a 20% interest in Bold’s interest in nickel and 
other non-chromite minerals.  

  
KWG can acquire an 80% interest in chromite produced from the Koper Lake property by funding 100% 
of the costs to a feasibility study leaving Bold and its co-venturer Subco with a 20% carried interest, pro 
rata. For nickel and other non-chromite minerals identified during the exploration programs, the parties 
have agreed to form a joint arrangement in which KWG would have a 20% participating interest and 
Bold and its co-venturer Subco would have an 80% participating interest, pro rata. KWG will have a 
right of first refusal to purchase all ores or concentrates produced by such joint arrangement whenever 
its interest in the joint arrangement exceeds 50%.  
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(v) Rencore Claims 
Pursuant to an amalgamation completed on February 13, 2012, the Company acquired Rencore 
Resources Inc. (“Rencore”) and all of the exploration properties and related obligations held by Rencore 
in the Ring of Fire (“Rencore claims”).  The Rencore claims consist of a 100% interest in mineral claims 
located north-northwest of Thunder Bay.     

 
Rencore has an option agreement dated May 31, 2011, as amended October 7, 2014, with Subco for 
Subco to earn a 33-1/3% interest in Rencore’s Ring of Fire project by funding $2,500,000 of exploration 
work by March 31, 2014 (extended to the date when another exploration program is approved and 
budgeted for completion). Upon expending $2,500,000 within the agreed timeline, a joint venture will be 
formed between Rencore and Subco.  Rencore will pay a finder’s fee, as funds are expended by Subco 
pursuant to the option agreement in tranches of $1,000,000, calculated as 2% of the funds expended 
satisfied in either common shares of the Company at the market price at the time of issuance, or twice 
that number of warrants exercisable at the market price for two years, subject to regulatory approval. At 
October 31, 2021 and 2020, $1,371,188 has been spent under this program. 

 
(b) Northwestern Ontario properties 
(i) Wilcorp Project  

Under an agreement dated February 24, 2012, and subsequent amendments, the Company acquired 
an option to certain property that is made up of patented claims and a staked mining claim.  

 
Under the terms of the option agreement for the patented claims, as amended on July 19, 2021, the 
Company is required to remit a payment of $5,000 to the vendor on September 1, 2020 (paid), $5,000 
November 1, 2020 (paid), $4,000 December 31, 2020 (paid) and $8,000 annually on January 15, 2022 
of each year thereafter. The option may be exercised at any time, and the properties acquired, by the 
payment of $100,000 to the vendor. The vendor retains a 2% NSR of which half may be purchased at 
any time by Bold for $500,000 cash. Bold retains a right of first refusal on the remaining 1% NSR. 
  
The terms of the agreement for the staked mining claim are a one-time payment of $12,000 (paid). The 
vendor retains a 1% NSR of which half may be purchased at any time prior to production for a cash 
consideration of $500,000. Bold retains a right of first refusal on the remaining 0.5% NSR 
 

(ii) Traxxin Extension Gold project 
During 2017, the Company announced it had formalized an agreement with Lac des Milles Lac First 
Nation (LDMLFN”) and had staked 7 claims in the Bedivere Lake area of northwestern Ontario. The 
parties have shared the cost related to the claim staking equally, and each party owns 50% of the gold 
property. Bold is the operator of the claims. 

Pursuant to an Option Agreement dated July 24, 2020, Bold acquired the option to earn a 100% interest 
in the Traxxin Gold Property over a three-year period by paying the aggregate sum of $150,000 cash, 
issuing an aggregate of 1,000,000 common shares of Bold and completing a total of $250,000 of 
exploration work on the claims over a three-year period. The first payment of $20,000 cash and 200,000 
common shares were issued to the vendor. In 2021, a further $30,000 was paid and 200,000 common 
shares were issued (ascribed a fair value of $18,000). The vendor will retain a 2% Net Smelter Royalty 
(NSR) of which Bold has the right to purchase a 1% NSR for $1 million leaving a 1% NSR in favour of 
the vendor. 
 
Pursuant to an arrangement with LDMLFN, LDMLFN has the right to earn a 50% interest in the Traxxin 
Gold Property from Bold by paying to Bold 50% of the cash option payments, 50% of the expenditure 
requirements and reimbursing Bold for 50% of the value of the shares issued pursuant to the Option. If 
the Option is earned and both parties maintain their interest in the Traxxin Gold Property, Bold and 
LDMLFN will form a joint venture for the further exploration and development of the Traxxin Gold 
Property. 
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a. Farwell Gold project 
On March 12, 2020, the Company optioned the Farwell Gold and Base Metals property. The Farwell 
Property is located northwest of Wawa, Ontario. The Company has the option to earn a 100% interest 
in the property by making aggregate cash option payments of $225,000, issuing an aggregate of 
1,650,000 common shares, and completing a total of $1,000,000 of exploration work on the property 
over a four-year period (with first-year exploration work expenditures of $90,000(met)). The vendors 
retained a 3% NSR in the property, and the Company will have the right to buy back a 1.5% NSR in 
consideration for the payment of $2 million. During the year ended October 31, 2021, the Company 
made cash payments of $25,000 and issued 250,000 common shares (ascribed a fair value of 
$23,750). 

6. Related party transactions 
During the years ended October 31, 2021, and 2020, the Company had the following related party 
transactions:  
a. Director’s fees, professional fees and other compensation in the amount of $39,490 (2020 - $76,131) of 

which $8,150 was capitalized to exploration and evaluation assets (2020 - $12,500), were paid or 
payable to directors and key management personnel in the form of short-term salaries and benefits. 
- In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, 
including any directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company.  
- The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the compensation committee. 
In addition share-based compensation made to directors and officers for the year ended October 31, 
2021 totalled $101,960 (2020 - $nil). 

b. During 2020 the Company’s President and a director agreed to a debt settlement arrangement under 
which 1,700,567 common shares of the Company were exchanged for settlement of $107,528 in debts 
owed to them; in addition, the Company’s president forgave $22,500 of debt owed to him.   

c. Legal fees in the amount of $38,639 (2020 – $43,962) were paid or payable to a law firm whose partner 
is a director and an officer of the Company, of which $13,461 (2020 - $17,661) was charged to share 
capital as share issue expenses.  

 
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at October 31, 2021 was $50,987 (2020 - $26,912) 
owing to directors, and officers, companies owned by directors and officers, and a law firm whose partner is 
a director and an officer of the Company. These amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on 
demand. 

7. Share capital 
 
Share consolidation: 
On February 3, 2020, the Company consolidated its outstanding common shares on a one-new-for-five-old 
basis. All share and per share figures in these interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial 
statements have been presented on a retroactive basis showing the effect of this share-consolidation. 
 
Authorized and outstanding: 
The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares with no par 
value. At October 31, 2021, the Company had 40,935,615 (2020 – 37,935,615) common shares issued and 
outstanding. 

 
(a) Share activity: 
 
Activity during 2021 – 
 
On April 1, 2021 and August 17, 2021, 250,000 and 200,000 common shares, respectively (450,000 
common shares in aggregate) were issued in partial satisfaction of a property option agreement. The 
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shares have been valued at $23,750 and $18,000, respectively which was the market value of the shares 
on the dates issued. 
 
On May 18 and 28, 2021, the Company closed two tranches of a non-brokered private placement of 
2,550,000 working capital units of the Company at a price of $0.08 per unit for total proceeds of $204,000 
in aggregate. Each working capital unit comprises one common share of the Company priced at $0.08 
and one half of a common share purchase warrant with each full warrant entitling the holder to acquire 
one common share at a price of $0.15 for two years following the closing of the offering. The Company 
paid cash commission and share issue costs of $25,641 and issued 138,250 broker warrants to qualified 
finders in connection with the offering. Each broker warrant is exercisable for two years following the 
closing of the offering at $0.08 and is comprised of a unit consisting of a share and one-half warrant; each 
full warrant entitles the holder to acquire one common share at a price of $0.15 for two years following the 
closing of the offering. 
 
As at October 31, 2021, the Company had received cash proceeds of $38,750 pertaining to a subsequent 
private placement.  The proceeds have been recorded as share subscription liability on the Company’s 
consolidated statements of financial position. (See note 12) 
 
Activity during 2020 – 
 
On February 11, and March 25, 2020 the Company placed an aggregate of 2,745,000 working capital units 
under a private placement for total gross proceeds of $137,250. Each working capital unit was priced at 
$0.05 and comprises one common share of the Company and one common share purchase warrant, with 
each warrant entitling the holder to acquire one common share at a price of $0.10 until two years after the 
closing date. The Company paid $5,590 in cash compensation and issued 42,700 broker warrants to a 
finder. Each broker warrant entitles the holder to acquire one common share at a price of $0.05 until 
February 11, 2022. 
 
On April 1, 2020, and August 14, 2020, 400,000 common shares were issued in partial satisfaction of 
property option agreements. The shares have been valued at $19,000 which was the market value of the 
shares on the date issued. 
 
On July 21, 2020, the Company entered into agreements to settle an aggregate of $107,528 of debt owed 
to two the president and a director of the Company in consideration for the issuance of 1,700,567 common 
shares of the Company. The shares issued were valued at a total of $102,034 being the estimated value of 
the shares on the day the transaction closed. A gain on the debt settlement of $5,494 was realized. 
 
On August 11, 28, and September 29, 2020, the Company placed an aggregate of 5,600,000 working 
capital units under a private placement for total gross proceeds of $280,000. Each working capital unit was 
priced at $0.05 and comprises one common share of the Company and one common share purchase 
warrant, with each warrant entitling the holder to acquire one common share at a price of $0.10 until two 
years after the closing date. The Company paid $24,400 in cash compensation and issued 140,000 broker 
warrants to a finder. Each broker warrant entitles the holder to acquire one common share at a price of 
$0.10 until August 28, 2022. 
 
On August 28, and September 29, 2020 the Company placed an aggregate of 2,081,000 flow through units 
under a private placement for total gross proceeds of $156,075, of which $61,741 was estimated to be the 
flow-through premium. Each flow through unit was priced at $0.075 and comprises one common flow 
through share of the Company and one half of one common share purchase warrant. Each whole warrant 
entitles the holder to acquire one common share at a price of $0.10 until two years after the closing date. 
The Company paid $9,769 in cash compensation. 
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On August 14, and September 9, 2020, the Company issued 275,000 common shares to an arms-length 
party in exchange for services. The shares issued were valued at a total of $16,000 being the market value 
of the shares on the day they were issued. 
 
(b) Warrants 
 
Activity during 2021 –  
 
On May 18, and May 28, 2020, the Company issued 650,000 and 625,000 warrants, respectively or 
1,275,000 in aggregate. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at an exercise 
price of $0.15 per share for a period of two years from the date of issuance. In connection with this 
financing, the Company issued 50,750 and 87,500 broker compensation warrant, respectively, or 138,250 
in aggregate. Each broker compensation warrant entitles the holder to purchase one broker compensation 
unit at an exercise price of $0.08 per share for a period of two years from the date of issuance.  Each 
broker compensation unit is comprised of one common share and one half of one common share warrant 
with each full warrant exercisable for $0.15. The total value of the warrants and broker warrants has been 
estimated at $55,175 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the following weighted 
average assumptions: 

Expected dividend yield                         0% 
Expected annual volatility (based on historic)   142% 
Risk-free interest rate                                         0.32% 

                                  Expected average life                                       2 years 
                   Current share price                       $0.06 
         

Activity during 2020 - 
 
On February 11, and March 25, 2020, the Company issued 2,745,000 warrants. Each warrant entitles the 
holder to purchase one common share at an exercise price of $0.10 per share for a period of two years 
from the date of issuance. On February 11, the Company issued a total of 42,700 broker compensation 
warrants. Each broker compensation warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at an 
exercise price of $0.05 per share for a period of two years from the date of issuance. The total value of the 
warrants has been estimated at $41,815 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the 
following weighted average assumptions: 

Expected dividend yield                         0% 
Expected annual volatility (based on historic)   128% 
Risk-free interest rate                                         1.47% 

                                  Expected average life                                       2 years 
 
On August 11, 28 and September 29, 2020, the Company issued a total of 6,640,500 warrants. Each 
warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at an exercise price of $0.10 per share for a 
period of two years from the date of issuance. On August 28, 2020, the Company issued a total of 140,000 
broker compensation warrants. Each broker warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at 
an exercise price of $0.10 per share for a period of two years from the date of issuance. The total value of 
the warrants has been estimated at $117,059 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the 
following weighted average assumptions: 

Expected dividend yield                         0% 
Expected annual volatility (based on historic)    150% 
Risk-free interest rate                                   0.24% to 0.28% 

                                                Expected average life                                       2 years 
 
During the year ended October 31, 2020 756,000 warrants expired with an estimated value of $82,500, 
which amount was charged to deficit. 
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A summary of warrant activity for the years ended October 31, 2021, and 2020, is as follows: 

   
Weighted-
average 

  
Number of 
warrants 

exercise price 
($) 

Balance, October 31, 2019 1,556,000 0.250
Warrants issued 9,525,500 0.100
Warrants issued 42,700 0.050
Warrants expired (1) (756,000) 0.250
Balance, October 31, 2020  10,368,200 0.111
Warrants issued 1,275,000 0.15
Warrants issued (2) 138,250 0.08
Balance, October 31, 2021 11,781,450 0.115

(1) The 756,000 warrants that expired during the year ended October 31, 2020 had an original 
estimated value of $82,500 which amount was transferred to deficit. 

(2) Each broker warrant is exercisable for two years following the closing of the offering at $0.08 into 
one unit consisting of a share and one-half warrant; each full warrant entitles the holder to acquire 
one common share at a price of $0.15 for two years following the closing of the offering. 

 
As at October 31, 2021 the following common share purchase warrants were outstanding: 

Expiration date 
Number of 
 Warrants 

Exercise 
 Price ($) 

Remaining 
Life (years) 

23-Jan-23 800,000 0.250 1.23 
11-Feb-22 2,445,000 0.100 0.28 
11-Feb-22 42,700 0.050 0.28 
25-Mar-22 300,000 0.100 0.40 
11-Aug-22 2,900,000 0.100 0.79 
28-Aug-22 3,013,500 0.100 0.82 
29-Sep-22 867,000 0.100 0.91 
18-May-23 650,000 0.150 1.55 
18-May-23* 50,750 0.080 1.55 
28-May-23 625,000 0.150 1.57 
28-May-23* 87,500 0.080 1.57 

Balance, October 31, 2021 11,781,450 0.115 0.81 
 
* exercisable for one common share and one half of one common share warrant with each resulting warrant 
exercisable for $0.15 until May 28, 2023. 
 
(c) Options 
The Company has established a stock option plan pursuant to which options to purchase common shares 
may be granted to certain officers, directors, and employees of the Company as well as persons providing 
ongoing services to the Company.  The maximum number of common shares reserved for issuance upon 
the exercise of options is not to exceed 10% of the total number of common shares outstanding 
immediately prior to such an issuance.  Under the plan, the Board of Directors has the choice of either 
vesting or allowing options issued to be exercisable upon issuance.  Options are normally issued for a five-
year term. 
 
During 2021, 590,000 options expired. The expired options had an original estimated fair value of $59,000 
which amount was transferred from contributed surplus to deficit. 
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On November 12, 2020 and August 25, 2021, 2,150,000 and 500,000 options were granted, respectively, 
exercisable at $0.075 and $0.09 per share, respectively, vesting immediately except for 200,000 which vest 
over four quarters. The options expire on November 12, 2025 and August 25, 2026, respectively, and have 
been valued at $107,500 and $42,400, respectively, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on 
the following weighted average assumptions:  

Expected dividend yield                              0% 
Expected annual volatility  (based on historic)                   142%-150% 
Risk-free interest rate                                           0.45%-0.87% 

                               Expected average life                                           5 years 
                Current share price                                 0.07 
 
During the year ended October 31, 2020, 455,000 options expired. The expired options had an original 
estimated fair value of $51,500 which amount was transferred from contributed surplus to deficit. 
 
A summary of option activity for the years ended October 31, 2021, and 2020, is as follows: 
     Number of     Weighted-average
           options     exercise price ($)
Balance October 31, 2019  1,345,000   0.250
Expired  (455,000)   0.250
Balance October 31, 2020 890,000   0.250
Expired (590,000)   0.250
Granted 2,650,000   0.078
Balance October 31, 2021 2,950,000   0.095
 
The following table summarizes stock options outstanding under the plan at October 31, 2021: 
 

Options outstanding    
      
    Weighted  
    average  

Number    exercise Remaining 
outstanding Expiry date   price ($) Life (years) 

300,000 October 30, 2022 0.250 0.99
2,150,000 November 12, 2025 0.075 4.04

500,000 August 25, 2026 0.090 4.82
2,950,000  0.095  3.86

Of the 2,950,000 options outstanding as at October 31, 2021, 2,900,000 were exercisable.  

8. Capital management 
The Company’s objective when managing capital, defined as its equity, is to safeguard its ability to 
continue as a going concern, and to pursue the exploration and evaluation of its properties. The Company 
manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and 
the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 
Company may from time-to-time issue shares and adjust its capital spending. The Company is subject to 
flow-through obligations to investors, which require it to use the funds raised through the issue of “flow-
through shares” on exploration expenditures.  To assess capital and operating efficiency and financial 
strength, the Company continually monitors its net cash and working capital.  The Company’s capital 
management objectives, policies and processes have remained unchanged during the years ended 
October 31, 2021 and 2020.   
 
The Company is not subject to any capital requirements imposed by a lending institution or regulatory body, 
other than Policy 2.5 of the TSXV Venture Exchange (“TSXV”) which requires adequate working capital or 
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financial resources of the greater of (i) $50,000 and (ii) an amount required in order to maintain operations 
and cover general and administrative expenses for a period of 6 months.  As of October 31, 2021, based on 
the Company's projections, the Company was not compliant with Policy 2.5. 
 

9. Financial instruments and risk management 
The carrying amounts for cash, amounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and share 
subscription liability approximate their estimated fair value due to the short-term nature of these financial 
instruments. 
 
Cash and amounts receivable, are recorded at amortized cost, which upon their initial measurement is 
equal to their fair value. Subsequent measurements are recorded at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method.  
 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities and share subscription liability are initially measured at their fair 
value. Subsequent measurements are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  

The Company's risk exposures and the impact on its financial instruments, as summarized below, have 
not changed significantly during the year. 

Credit Risk 
The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and amounts receivable. The Company has no 
significant concentration of credit risk arising from operations. Management believes that the credit risk 
concentration with respect to the financial instrument included in cash and amounts receivable is remote. 

Liquidity Risk 
The Company's main source of liquidity is derived from its share capital issuances. At October 31, 2021, 
the Company had current assets of $121,553 (2020 - $255,496) to settle current liabilities of $227,215 
(2020 - $139,074). The Company's financial liabilities generally have contractual maturities that are 
subject to normal trade terms.  

Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in market interest rates. The Company's exposure to interest rate risk is minimal. 

Market Risk 
Foreign Currency Risk 
The Company's functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar, and all expenditures are 
transacted in Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal. 
 
Price Risk 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. The Company closely monitors 
commodity prices to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company.  As the 
Company's properties are in the exploration stage and to date do not contain any identified mineral 
resources or reserves, the Company does not hedge against commodity price risk. 

Sensitivity Analysis 
Based on management's knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Company believes the 
following movements are reasonably possible over a twelve-month period: 
(i) The Company receives low interest rates on its cash balances and, as such, the Company does not 

have significant interest rate risk. 
(ii) The Company does not hold balances in foreign currencies to give rise to exposure to foreign exchange 

risk. 
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10. Commitments and contingencies 
The Company's exploration and evaluation activities are subject to government laws and regulations, 
including tax laws, and laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment. The Company 
believes that its operations comply in all material respects with all applicable past and present laws and 
regulations. The Company records provisions for any identified obligations, based on management's 
estimate at the time. Such estimates are, however, subject to changes in laws and regulations. 
 
The Company has indemnified the subscribers of flow-through share offerings pursuant to subscription 
agreements with investors for amounts that may become payable by the shareholder as a result of the 
Company not having met its expenditure commitments on qualified items. 
 
During 2020, the Company issued $156,075 in flow through shares. At October 31, 2021, the Company had 
met its expenditure commitment to these flow through funds. Refer to note 12. 
 
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $29,459 pertaining to amounts billed by a exploration 
service provider which the Company is currently disputing.  
 
The Company is party to certain consulting agreements with minimum payments of $55,000 of which 
$30,000 is due within one year. 
 
The Company’s operations could be significantly adversely affected by the effects of a widespread global 
outbreak of a contagious disease, including the recent outbreak of respiratory illness caused by COVID-19. 
The Company cannot accurately predict the impact COVID-19 will have on its operations and the ability of 
others to meet their obligations with the Company, including uncertainties relating to the ultimate 
geographic spread of the virus, the severity of the disease, the duration of the outbreak, and the length of 
travel and quarantine restrictions imposed by governments of affected countries. In addition, a significant 
outbreak of contagious diseases in the human population could result in a widespread health crisis that 
could adversely affect the economies and financial markets of many countries, resulting in an economic 
downturn that could further affect the Company’s operations and ability to finance its operations. As of 
October 31, 2021, COVID-19 has not had a material impact on the Company. 

11. Income taxes 
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12. Subsequent events 
 
On November 29, and December 30, 2021, the Company closed two tranches of a non-brokered private 
placement offering with the sale of a total of 1,180,000 “flow-through shares” at a price of $0.125 per flow-
through share for aggregate gross proceeds of $147,500. The Company paid a cash commission of $3,238. 
 
On December 20, 2021, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement of 3,161,000 working 
capital units for gross proceeds of $252,800.  Each working capital unit comprises one common share of 
the Company and one-half of a common share purchase warrant with each full warrant entitling the holder 
to acquire one common share at a price of $0.15 until December 20, 2023. The Company paid a cash 
commission of $5,058. 
 
Subsequent to October 31, 2021, 2,487,700 warrants with exercise prices between $0.05 and $0.10 
expired without exercise. 
 
Subsequent to October 31, 2021, 440,000 stock options were cancelled with expiry prices between 0.075 
and $0.25. 
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BOLD VENTURES INC. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (“MD&A”) 
For the years ended October 31, 2021 and 2020 
 

1. GENERAL 
The following discussion and analysis provide an analysis of the financial results of Bold Ventures Inc. (“Bold” 
or the “Company”) For the years ended October 31, 2021 and 2020. The following information should be read 
in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the years ended 
October 31, 2021 and 2020 prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  
This MD&A is prepared in conformity with National Instrument 51-102 F1 and has been approved by the Board 
of Directors.  All monetary amounts, unless otherwise indicated, are expressed in Canadian dollars.  Additional 
information relating to the Company can be found on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com 

The date of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis is February 28, 2022.  

2. OVERALL PERFORMANCE AND OUTLOOK 
Performance highlights 
 
 Farwell Gold and Base Metal Project  

The Company undertook a prospecting and sampling program on the Farwell Gold and Base Metal 
Project. The program was successful in locating key historical occurrences and previously 
undocumented mineralized shear zones in the 3 key areas of interest on the property. These include 
the eastern Tundra Gold Horizon (TGH), the central Farwell Sulphide Zone (FSZ) and the western 
Koala Gold Area (KGA). These Key Areas are displayed on the Bedrock Geology and Mineral 
Compilation Map located on the Farwell, Ontario, Gold and Base Metals Project page at 
www.boldventuresinc.com. 
 

 The Robert Douglas Corporation (“RDC”) was retained by the Company to provide investor relations 
services to the Company. RDC will work in tandem with Bold Management to plan, develop and 
execute marketing strategies aimed at accreting shareholder value. 

 
 Wilcorp Gold Project 

During the year ended October 31, 2021, Company and the vendor have amended the Wilcorp 
Option Agreement. The amendment calls for a $5,000 payment on September 1, 2020 (paid), $5,000 
November 1, 2020 (paid), $4,000 December 31, 2020 (paid) and $8,000 annually on January 15, 2022 of 
each year thereafter. 
 

 Traxxin Gold Project  
The Company completed an initial diamond drill program on this property. Four NQ diameter holes, 
designed to test the Main Zone, were drilled. Bold’s geological team is satisfied that the structure 
controlling the gold mineralization present in the historical drilling (2017/2018) was tested for the 
purposes of this program. Hole BV-21-04 intersected a prominent 12 m long shear zone (Traxxin 
Shear Zone) hosting brecciated quartz vein material, intense chlorite-sericite alteration and 
silicification. Assay results within this zone ranged from 0.61 g/t Au to 15.0 g/t Au. Hole BV-21-01 
hosts multiple shear zones with intervals ranging from <0.5 m up to 10 m consisting of intense 
chlorite-sericite alteration and quartz-carbonate breccia. Assay values from this hole ranged from 
<0.002 g/t Au to 9.87 g/t Au. The Traxxin Shear Zone was intersected in holes BV-21-02 and BV-21-
03, with intervals ranging from 3 m to 8.5 m, respectively. The zone is characterized by strongly to 
intensely sheared and boudined diorite and quartz veining, exhibiting moderate to strong chlorite-
sericite alteration. Assay results from the target shear zone vary from <0.002 g/t Au to 0.92 g/t Au. 
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 On July 21, 2021, the Company announced it had signed a contract to carry out a VTEM™_Plus 
Time Domain EM airborne survey(VTEM) over the Farwell Goldand Base Metalsproperty located 
near Wawa, Ontario. The electromagnetic and magnetic survey, to be performed by Geotech Ltd. of 
Vaughan, Ontario, will consist of 450 line-kms with provision to detail additional line-kms as needed. 

 
 On August 25, 2021, the Company announced Jeff Wareham had joined the Company’s Board of 

Directors. Mr. Wareham has extensive experience in the financial services, private and public equity 
sectors. Additionally, the Company announced the resignation of Rodger Roden as Chief Financial 
Officer and the appointment of Robert Suttie as his replacement in that position. 

 
 On August 25, 2021, the Company granted a total of 500,000 options to a director and an officer of 

the Company. In accordance with the Company's stock option plan, the granted options are 
exercisable at $0.09 per share, have a term of five years, and vest immediately. 

 
 Financing 

Subsequent to October 31, 2021 
1. Under private placements the Company raised a total of $400,300 by issuing 3,161,000 working 

capital units and 1,180,000 flow-through units. 
During the year ended October 31, 2021: 
1. Under private placements, the Company raised a total of $204,000 through the issuance of 

2,550,000 working capital units. 
 
Outlook 
 
Overall the outlook and prospects for Bold are encouraging. The Company’s Farwell Gold and Base 
Metals Project, the Wilcorp Gold Project, the acquisition of the Traxxin Gold Project with Lac des Mille 
Lacs First Nation (“LDMLFN”), who elected to participate in the first phase drilling program and the 
Company’s Ring of Fire property interests, provide Bold with a diverse portfolio of opportunities: 

 
 The Company has the opportunity to acquire a 100% interest in two gold projects at Traxxin and 

Wilcorp and a copper gold project at Farwell. Bold has the option to earn up to 100% of the Traxxin 
Gold Project. Pursuant to the Traxxin Extension Joint Venture, LDMLFN has the right to earn a 50% 
interest in the Traxxin Gold Property from Bold by paying to Bold 50% of the cash option payments, 
50% of the expenditure requirements and reimbursing Bold for 50% of the value of the shares issued 
pursuant to the Option. If the Option is earned and both parties maintain their interest in the Traxxin 
Gold Property, Bold and LDMLFN will form a joint venture for the further exploration and development 
of the Traxxin Gold Property.  

 At the Koper Lake project an initial 43-101 level resource estimation was completed on December 15, 
2015 by KWG as part of their earn-in option. The drilling programs on the Koper Lake property, the last of 
which was completed in May 2014, have been successful in confirming that chromite mineralization does 
exist within the Koper Lake property directly to the east and contiguous with of the adjoining Blackbird 
deposit owned by Noront Resources.  

 On September 21, 2016 the Company earned a 50% working interest in Fancamp Exploration 
Limited’s Koper Lake property, and KWG earned an 80% interest in Bold’s interest in chromite and a 
20% interest in Bold’s interest in nickel and other non-chromite minerals. As a result, Bold’s current 
chromite interest is a “carried” 10%. If KWG fulfills the terms of Bold’s option to earn a 100% interest, 
Bold will have a 20% “carried interest” in chromite and an 80% interest in all other non-chromite 
minerals.   

 The Ontario Government has announced its support for the planning and construction of an all-
season road accessing First Nation communities and the Ring of Fire development area. Marten Falls 
First Nation is the primary proponent of an environmental assessment of the road development. 
Bold’s projects in and around the Ring of Fire will benefit from this development with improved access 
and lower cost logistics. 
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3. SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 

Audited data, for the years ended 
October 31, 

 2021 

$ 

2020 

$ 

2019 

$ 

Other income  nil 6,188 6,156 

Net loss for the year     (283,544)    (202,606) (931,434) 

Basic & diluted loss per share  (0.01) (0.01) (0.04) 

Total Assets  1,158,285 983,680 598,192 
 OF OPERATIONS  

4. RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  
 
Overview 
The following table, which should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of the 
Company provides selected financial information: 

 
 
 
Notable operating expense items are outlined in the table that follows: 

 
Revenues 
None of the Company’s properties have advanced to the point where a production decision can be made. As a 
consequence, the company has no producing properties and no sales or revenues from that source. The 
company has been remunerated for certain contracts to provide technical services. 
 
During the year ended October 31, 2021, the Company realized a net loss of $283,545 (2020 – $202,606). 
During the year ended October 31, 2020 the Company wrote off exploration and evaluation assets in the 
amount of $16,740.  There was no such write-off during fiscal 2021. 
 
Acquisition and Exploration Expenditures 
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During the year ended October 31, 2021 the company spent a total of $427,180 (2020 - $160,575) on 
exploration and evaluation assets as follows:  
 

 
 
 
Significant projects 
Bold is in the business of exploring for and developing mineral properties. Substantially all of the efforts of the 
Company are devoted to these business activities. To date the Company has not earned significant revenues 
from any of its ongoing projects. A description of each of the Company’s ongoing projects follows. 
 
(a) Northern Ontario properties - Ring of Fire 
(i) Dundee Corporation earn-in right 

Pursuant to an option agreement dated May 31, 2011 with a subsidiary (“Subco”) of Dundee 
Corporation, Subco had the right to earn up to a 33-1/3% interest in Bold’s Ring of Fire properties by 
funding $2,500,000 of exploration work by May 31, 2014. Upon expending $2,500,000 within a three 
year period, a joint venture is to be formed between the Company and Subco. During the year ended 
October 31, 2014 the $2,500,000 spending threshold was met and Subco earned its 33-1/3% interest. 
The properties that Subco has earned into to date are described in (ii) to (iv) below. 

(ii) Ring of Fire Claims 
The Ring of Fire Claim blocks, for which exploration expenditure requirements are in abeyance with 
the Ministry of Northern Development and Mines, pending completion of First Nation agreements, 
were staked to explore areas located to the north and west of the Ring of Fire area of the James Bay 
Lowlands. Located approximately 550 km north of Thunder Bay, these claim groups are named Areas 
55, 55E, 55E1, 55E2, 57 to 63 inclusive and 64 to 71 inclusive.  

(iii) Koper Lake 
Under an agreement dated May 4, 2012 with Fancamp Exploration Limited (“Fancamp”), subject to 
KWG Resources Inc.’s (“KWG”) interest as discussed in (iv) below, the Company has earned a 50% 
working interest in the Fancamp Ring of Fire property known as the Koper Lake Project. The Koper 
Lake Project property is situated approximately 530 km north east of Thunder Bay in the James Bay 
Lowlands of northern Ontario. The agreement called for the Company to make option payments 
totalling $1,500,000 and to incur exploration expenditures on the property of at least $8,000,000 over 
a 3-year period, which it did under the KWG option agreement during 2016, as discussed in (iv) 
below.  
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A further 10% interest may be earned by Bold at any time by delivery of a positive feasibility study 
and by making a payment of $700,000 in cash and/or stock at the option of Bold. The estate of the 
Company’s former Chairman holds a 2% net smelter royalty interest (“2% NSR”) in the four claims 
that comprise the property. Bold Ventures maintains a right of first refusal on one-half (1%) of the 2% 
NSR. 

 
In January 2013, the Company signed an agreement with Fancamp giving Bold the option to earn up 
to a 100% working interest in the Koper Lake property. The agreement provides that once Bold has 
earned its 60% interest in the Koper Lake property (it has currently earned a 50% interest as 
discussed in (iv) below), it will then have two options for a period of 90 days following the date it earns 
its 60% interest. Under the first option it can earn a further 20% interest by agreeing to pay Fancamp 
$15,000,000 payable in equal installments over three years with half of the amount payable in cash 
and the balance payable, at Bold’s option, through the issuance of common shares of Bold, or its 
assignee, at the market price at the time the shares are issued. If the first option is exercised, Bold 
would then have the option to acquire Fancamp’s remaining interest in exchange for a Gross Metal 
Royalty. Fancamp would then be entitled to be paid 2% of the total revenue from the sale of all metals 
and mineral products from the property from the commencement of commercial production. Once all 
of the capital costs to bring the Koper Lake project to the production stage have been repaid entirely, 
the gross metal royalty may be scaled up to a maximum of 4% of the total revenue from the sale of all 
metals and mineral products from the property depending upon the price of product sold. 

(iv) KWG Resources Inc. option on the Koper Lake property 
In March 2013, and amended October 23, 2015, the Company optioned its interest in the Koper Lake 
property to KWG. Under the terms of the option agreement, KWG assumed the obligation to make 
option payments totaling $1,500,000 and to fund the $8,000,000 exploration programs planned for the 
property; and as of September 21, 2016 KWG had met those obligations. As a result on September 
21, 2016, the Company earned a 50% working interest in Fancamp’s Koper Lake property; KWG 
earned an 80% interest in Bold’s interest in chromite and a 20% interest in Bold’s interest in nickel 
and other non-chromite minerals.  

  
KWG can acquire an 80% interest in chromite produced from the Koper Lake property by funding 
100% of the costs to a feasibility study leaving Bold and its co-venturer Subco with a 20% carried 
interest, pro rata. For nickel and other non-chromite minerals identified during the exploration 
programs, the parties have agreed to form a joint arrangement in which KWG would have a 20% 
participating interest and Bold and its co-venturer Subco would have an 80% participating interest, 
pro rata. KWG will have a right of first refusal to purchase all ores or concentrates produced by such 
joint arrangement whenever its interest in the joint arrangement exceeds 50%.  

 
(v) Rencore Claims 

Pursuant to an amalgamation completed on February 13, 2012, the Company acquired Rencore 
Resources Limited and all of the exploration properties and related obligations held by Rencore in the 
Ring of Fire (“Rencore claims”).  The Rencore claims consist of a 100% interest in mineral claims 
located north-northwest of Thunder Bay.  These properties are known as REN 6 and REN 8.   

 
Rencore has an option agreement dated May 31, 2011, as amended October 7, 2014, with a 
subsidiary (“Subco”) of Dundee Corporation for Subco to earn a 33-1/3% interest in Rencore’s Ring of 
Fire project by funding $2,500,000 of exploration work by March 31, 2014 (extended to the date when 
another exploration program is approved and budgeted for completion). Upon expending $2,500,000 
within the agreed timeline, a joint venture will be formed between Rencore and Subco.  Rencore will 
pay a finder’s fee, as funds are expended by Subco pursuant to the option agreement in tranches of 
$1,000,000, calculated as 2% of the funds expended satisfied in either common shares of the 
Company at the market price at the time of issuance, or twice that number of warrants exercisable at 
the market price for two years, subject to regulatory approval. At October 31, 2021 and 2020, 
$1,371,188 has been spent under this program. 

 



 

6 
 

(b) Northwestern Ontario properties 
(i) Wilcorp Project 

Under an agreement dated February 24, 2012, and subsequent amendments, the Company acquired 
an option to certain property that is made up of patented claims and a staked mining claim.  
 
Under the terms of the option agreement for the patented claims, as amended on July 19, 2021, the 
Company is required to remit a payment by the Company of $5,000 September 1, 2020 (paid), $5,000 
November 1, 2020 (paid), $4,000 December 31, 2020 (paid) and $8,000 annually on January 15, 
2022 (amended from June 1, 2021 during fiscal 2021) of each year thereafter. The option may be 
exercised at any time, and the properties acquired, by the payment of $100,000 to the vendor. The 
vendor retains a 2% NSR of which half may be purchased at any time by Bold for $500,000 cash. 
Bold retains a right of first refusal on the remaining 1% NSR. 
 
The terms of the agreement for the staked mining claim are a one-time payment of $12,000 (paid). 
The vendor retains a 1% NSR of which half may be purchased at any time prior to production for a 
cash consideration of $500,000. Bold retains a right of first refusal on the remaining 0.5% NSR.  

 
(ii) Traxxin Extension Gold project 

During 2017, the Company announced it had formalized an agreement with Lac des Milles Lac First 
Nation (LDMLFN”) and had staked 7 claims in the Bedivere Lake area of northwestern Ontario. The 
parties have shared the cost related to the claim staking equally, and each party owns 50% of the 
gold property. Bold is the operator of the claims. 
 

Pursuant to an Option Agreement dated July 24, 2020, Bold acquired the option to earn a 100% 
interest in the Traxxin Gold Property over a three-year period by paying the aggregate sum of 
$150,000 cash, issuing an aggregate of 1,000,000 common shares of Bold and completing a total of 
$250,000 of exploration work on the claims over a three-year period. The first payment of $20,000 
cash and 200,000 common shares were issued to the vendor. In 2021, a further $30,000 was paid 
and 200,000 common shares were issued (ascribed a fair value of $18,000). The vendor will retain a 
2% Net Smelter Royalty (NSR) of which Bold has the right to purchase a 1% NSR for $1 million 
leaving a 1% NSR in favour of the vendor. 
 
Pursuant to the Traxxin Extension arrangement with LDMLFN, LDMLFN has the right to earn a 50% 
interest in the Traxxin Gold Property from Bold by paying to Bold 50% of the cash option payments, 
50% of the expenditure requirements and reimbursing Bold for 50% of the value of the shares issued 
pursuant to the Option. If the Option is earned and both parties maintain their interest in the Traxxin 
Gold Property, Bold and LDMLFN will form a joint venture for the further exploration and development 
of the Traxxin Gold Property. 
 

(iii) Farwell Gold project 
On March 12, 2020, the Company optioned the Farwell Gold and Base Metals property. The Farwell 
Property is located northwest of Wawa, Ontario. The Company has the option to earn a 100% interest 
in the property by making aggregate cash option payments of $225,000, issuing an aggregate of 
1,650,000 common shares, and completing a total of $1,000,000 of exploration work on the property 
over a four-year period (with first-year exploration work expenditures of $90,000). The vendors 
retained a 3% NSR in the property, and the Company will have the right to buy back a 1.5% NSR in 
consideration for the payment of $2 million. The first anniversary, option payments and expenditures 
have been made. During the year ended October 31, 2021, the Company made cash payments of 
$25,000 and issued 250,000 common shares (ascribed a fair value of $23,750). 
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The following table sets out selected quarterly financial information for the eight most recent quarters (all 
reported under IFRS).  

 
Discussion of significant items affecting results by quarter: 
 
Q4 2021 – During Q4 2021, the Company recorded a loss of $98,665 (2020 - $48,326). During the quarter, the 
Company issued 500,000 stock options valued at $42,400.  There was no such grant in the comparative 
period. 
 
Q3 2021 – During Q3 2021 the Company recorded a loss of $69,081 (2020 - $63,166). There were no unusual 
items. 
 
Q2 2021 – During Q2 2021 the Company recorded a loss of $35,853 (2020 - $49,457). There were no unusual 
items. 
 
Q1 2021 - During the three months ended January 31, 2021 the Company recorded; share based payments in 
the amount of $107,500 (2020 - Nil); flow through share premium income $61,741 (2020 – Nil). 
 
Q4 2020 - During Q4 2020, the Company realized a net loss of $48,326 (2019 – loss $584,408). During Q4 
2020 the Company wrote off exploration and evaluation assets in the amount of $Nil (2019 - $507,410). 
 
Q3 2020 - During Q3 2020, the Company realized a net loss of $59,449 (2019 – loss $268,059). During Q3 
2020 the Company wrote off exploration and evaluation assets in the amount of $Nil (2019 - $303,080) and 
realized a gain on debt settlement of $5,494 (2019 - $55,100). 
 

5. LIQUIDITY 
The Company has no significant revenues and no expectation of significant revenues in the near term. In order 
to manage this risk, the Company closely monitors its cash requirements and expenditures to maintain 
sufficient liquidity.  
 
At October 31, 2021, the Company had current assets of $121,553 (October 31, 2020 - $255,495) to 
settle current liabilities of $227,215 (October 31, 2020 - $139,074). All of the Company's accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities have contractual maturities that are subject to normal trade terms.  
 

 
  Q4 

October 31, 
2021 

Q3 
July 31, 

2021 

Q2 
April 30, 

2021 

Q1 
January 31, 

2021 

Interest and other income (loss) $ - - - - 

Net income (loss) $ (98,665) (69,081) (35,853) (79,946) 

Net Loss per common share   $ (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) 

Number of shares outstanding  40,935,615 40,253,560 38,185,615 37,935,615 

  Q4 
October 31, 

2020 

Q3 
July 31, 

2020 

Q2 
April 30, 

2020 

Q1 
January 31, 

2020 

Interest and other income $ (153) (1,777) 8,117 - 

Net Loss $ (48,326) (59,449) (49,457) (45,374) 

Net Loss per common share   $ (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) 

Number of shares outstanding  37,935,615 28,079,049 28,079,049 25,134,049 
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Future exploration programs will depend on the Company’s ongoing ability to raise funds. Bold is an 
exploration stage company and continues to rely on equity offerings and other partnership arrangements to 
fund its exploration activities. There can be no assurance that funds will be available.  
 

6. CAPITAL RESOURCES 
The Company experienced normal operating conditions during the year. There were no events during the 
year, other than normal operating conditions, that affected the company’s capital resources. 
 

7. OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
As at October 31, 2021 the Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements. 

8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
During the year ended October 31, 2021, and 2020, the Company had the following related party 
transactions:  
a. Director’s fees, professional fees and other compensation in the amount of $39,490 (2020 - $76,131) 

of which $8,150 was capitalized to exploration and evaluation assets (2020 - $12,500), were paid or 
payable to directors and key management personnel in the form of short-term salaries and benefits. 
- In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, 
including any directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company.  
- The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the compensation committee. 
In addition share-based compensation made to directors and officers for the year ended October 31, 
2021 totalled $101,960 (2020 - $nil) 

b. During 2020 the Company’s President and a director agreed to a debt settlement arrangement under 
which 1,700,567 common shares of the Company were exchanged for settlement of $107,528 in 
debts owed to them; in addition, the Company’s president forgave $22,500 of debt owed to him.   

c. Legal fees in the amount of $38,639 (2020 – $43,962) were paid or payable to a law firm whose 
partner is a director and an officer of the Company, of which $13,461 (2020 - $17,661) was charged 
to share capital as share issue expenses.  

 
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at October 31, 2021 was $50,987 (2020 - $26,912) 
owing to directors, and officers, companies owned by directors and officers, and a law firm whose partner 
is a director and an officer of the Company. These amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due 
on demand. 

9. EVENTS AFFECTING THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL CONDITION 
There were no events during the period, other than normal operating conditions, that affected the Company’s 
financial condition.  

10. PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 
There are no asset or business acquisitions or dispositions proposed by the Company at October 31, 2021 
other than those disclosed herein. 

11. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. Estimates and judgments are continuously evaluated and are based on 
management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual outcomes can differ from these estimates. The key 
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sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the 
amounts recognized in the financial statements are: 
 
Capitalization of exploration and evaluation assets   
Management has determined that exploration and evaluation costs incurred during the year have future 
economic benefits and are economically recoverable. In making this judgement, management has 
assessed various sources of information including but not limited to the geologic and metallurgic 
information, history of conversion of mineral deposits to proven and probable mineral reserves, scoping 
and feasibility studies, proximity of operating facilities, operating management expertise and existing 
permits.  

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets 
While assessing whether any indications of impairment exist for exploration and evaluation assets, 
consideration is given to both external and internal sources of information. Information the Company 
considers includes changes in the market, economic and legal environment in which the Company 
operates that are not within its control that could affect the recoverable amount of exploration and 
evaluation assets. Internal sources of information include the manner in which exploration and evaluation 
assets are being used or are expected to be used and indications of expected economic performance of 
the assets. Estimates include but are not limited to estimates of the discounted future after-tax cash flows 
expected to be derived from the Company’s exploration properties, costs to sell the properties and the 
appropriate discount rate. Reductions in metal price forecasts, increases in estimated future costs of 
production, increases in estimated future capital costs, reductions in the amount of recoverable mineral 
reserves and mineral resources and/or adverse current economics can result in a write-down of the 
carrying amounts of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets. 
 
Income, value added, withholding and other taxes 
The Company is subject to income, value added, withholding and other taxes. Significant judgment is 
required in determining the Company’s provisions for taxes. There are many transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. 
The Company recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether 
additional taxes will be due. The determination of the Company’s income, value added, withholding and 
other tax liabilities requires interpretation of complex laws and regulations. The Company’s interpretation 
of taxation law as applied to transactions and activities may not coincide with the interpretation of the tax 
authorities. All tax related filings are subject to government audit and potential reassessment subsequent 
to the financial statement reporting period. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from 
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the tax related accruals and deferred 
income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.  

Share-based payments 
Management determines costs for share-based payments using market-based valuation techniques. The 
fair value of the market-based and performance-based share awards are determined at the date of grant 
using generally accepted valuation techniques. Assumptions are made and judgment used in applying 
valuation techniques. These assumptions and judgments include estimating the future volatility of the 
stock price, expected dividend yield, future employee turnover rates and future employee stock option 
exercise behaviors and corporate performance. Such judgments and assumptions are inherently 
uncertain. Changes in these assumptions affect the fair value estimates. 
 
Business combinations 
Determination of whether a set of assets acquired and liabilities assumed constitute a business requires 
the Company to make certain judgments, taking into account all facts and circumstances. Applying the 
acquisition method to business combinations requires the consideration paid and each identifiable asset 
and liability to be measured at its acquisition-date fair value. The determination of the acquisition-date fair 
values often requires management to make assumptions and estimates about future events. The 
assumptions and estimates with respect to determining the fair value of net identifiable assets acquired 
generally require a high degree of judgment, and include estimates of future reserves and resources, 
sales levels and discount rates. Changes in any of the assumptions or estimates used in determining the 
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fair value of the consideration paid and the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities could impact the 
amounts assigned to assets, liabilities and goodwill in the purchase price allocation. 

 

Covid-19 
The Company’s operations could be significantly adversely affected by the effects of a widespread global 
outbreak of a contagious disease, including the recent outbreak of respiratory illness caused by COVID-
19. The Company cannot accurately predict the impact COVID-19 will have on its operations and the 
ability of others to meet their obligations with the Company, including uncertainties relating to the ultimate 
geographic spread of the virus, the severity of the disease, the duration of the outbreak, and the length of 
travel and quarantine restrictions imposed by governments of affected countries. In addition, a significant 
outbreak of contagious diseases in the human population could result in a widespread health crisis that 
could adversely affect the economies and financial markets of many countries, resulting in an economic 
downturn that could further affect the Company’s operations and ability to finance its operations. As of 
July 31, 2021, COVID-19 has not had a material impact on the Company. 
 

12. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

During 2021, the Company did not adopt any new IFRS standards.   

Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRIC that are mandatory for accounting periods 
beginning on or after November 1, 2021, or later periods. Many are not applicable or do not have a 
significant impact to the Company and have been excluded below. The following has not yet been 
adopted and is being evaluated to determine its impact on the Company. 

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”) and IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures (“IAS 28”) were amended in September 2014 to address a conflict between the 
requirements of IAS 28 and IFRS 10 and clarify that in a transaction involving an associate or joint 
venture, the extent of gain or loss recognition depends on whether the assets sold or contributed 
constitute a business. The effective date of these amendments is yet to be determined, however early 
adoption is permitted. 

13. OTHER RISK EXPOSURES 

The Company's risk exposures and the impact on its financial investments, as summarized below, have 
not changed significantly during the year. 

Credit Risk 
The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to amounts receivable. The Company has no 
significant concentration of credit risk arising from operations. Management believes that the credit risk 
concentration with respect to the financial instrument included in amounts receivable is remote. 

Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in market interest rates. The Company's exposure to interest rate risk is minimal. 

Market Risk 
 
Foreign Currency Risk 
The Company's functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and all expenditures are 
transacted in Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal. 
 
Price Risk 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. The Company closely monitors 
commodity prices to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company.  As the 
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Company's properties are in the exploration stage and to date do not contain any identified mineral 
resources or reserves, the Company does not hedge against commodity price risk. 

Sensitivity Analysis 
Based on management's knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Company believes the 
following movements are reasonably possible over a twelve-month period: 
(i) The Company receives low interest rates on its cash and cash equivalent balances and, as such, the 

Company does not have significant interest rate risk. 
(ii) The Company does not hold balances in foreign currencies to give rise to exposure to foreign 

exchange risk. 
 

In addition to the financial risks noted above, given the Company's current status as an exploration stage 
company, there are numerous additional risk factors that could affect the Company’s business prospects 
and future performance, including the following. These risks and uncertainties are not the only ones 
facing the Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Company, or that the 
Company currently deems immaterial, may also affect the Company’s business prospects and future 
performance. 
 
Additional capital 
The exploration and development of the Company’s mineral property interests will require substantial 
additional financing. Failure to obtain sufficient financing may result in the delay or indefinite 
postponement of exploration, development or production on the Company’s mineral property interests. 
The Company will also require additional funding to acquire further property interests. The ability of the 
Company to arrange such financing in the future will depend, in part, upon the prevailing capital market 
conditions as well as the business performance of the Company. There can be no assurance that the 
Company will be successful in its efforts to arrange additional financing on terms satisfactory to the 
Company. If additional financing is raised by the issuance of shares from treasury of the Company, 
control of the Company may change and security holders may suffer additional dilution. 
 
Operating history 
The Company has a very limited history of operations and must be considered a start-up. As such, the 
Company is subject to many risks common to such enterprises, including under-capitalization, cash 
shortages, limitations with respect to personnel, financial and other resources and an absence of 
revenues. There is no assurance that the Company will be successful in achieving a return on 
shareholder investment and the likelihood of success must be considered in light of its early stage of 
operations. 
 
Highly speculative business 
The nature of the Company’s business is highly speculative due to its proposed involvement in the 
exploration, development and production of minerals. Exploration for minerals involves many risks, which 
even a combination of experience, knowledge and careful evaluation may not be able to overcome. There 
is no assurance that any commercial quantities of ore will be discovered by the Company. The 
commercial viability of a mineral deposit, if discovered, depends upon a number of factors including the 
particular attributes of the deposit (principally size and grade), the proximity to infrastructure, the impact of 
mine development on the environment, environmental regulations imposed by various levels of 
government and the competitive nature of the industry which causes base metal prices to fluctuate 
substantially over short periods of time. Most of these factors are beyond the control of the Company. 
Mineral exploration and development are highly speculative and few properties that are explored are 
ultimately placed into commercial production. 
 
Insufficient resources or reserves 
Substantial additional expenditures will be required to establish either resources or reserves on mineral 
properties and to develop processes to extract the minerals. No assurance can be given that minerals will 
be discovered in sufficient quantities to justify commercial operations or that the funds required for 
development can be obtained on a timely basis or at all. 
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Barriers to commercial production 
The Company will rely upon consultants and others for construction and operating expertise. The 
economics of developing mineral properties are affected by many factors including, but not limited to, the 
cost of operations, grade of ore, fluctuating mineral markets, costs of processing equipment, competition, 
extensions on licenses and other factors such as government regulations, including regulations relating to 
title to mineral concessions, royalties, allowable production, importing and exporting of minerals and 
environmental protection. Many of the above factors are beyond the control of the Company. Depending 
on the price of minerals produced, the Company may determine that it is impractical to either commence 
or continue commercial production. 
 
Commodity price and exchange rate fluctuations 
The feasibility of mineral exploration is significantly affected by changes in the market price of the 
minerals expected to be produced. Mineral prices fluctuate widely and are affected by numerous factors 
beyond the Company's control. The level of interest rates, the rate of inflation, world supply of minerals 
and stability of exchange rates can all cause significant fluctuations in mineral prices. Such external 
economic factors are in turn influenced by changes in international investment patterns and monetary 
systems and political developments. 
 
Key officers, consultants and employees 
The success of the Company will be largely dependent upon the performance of its key officers, 
consultants and employees. Locating mineral deposits depends on a number of factors, not the least of 
which is the technical skill of the exploration personnel involved. Failure to retain key individuals or to 
attract or retain additional key individuals with necessary skills could have a materially adverse impact 
upon the Company’s success. The Company has not purchased any key-man insurance with respect to 
any of its directors, officers or consultants and has no current plans to do so. 
 
Title 
The mining claims in which the Company has an interest have not been surveyed and, accordingly, the 
precise location of the boundaries of the claims and ownership of mineral rights on specific tracts of land 
comprising the claims may be in doubt. Such claims have not been converted to lease and tenure, and as 
a result, are subject to annual compliance with assessment work requirements. Other parties may dispute 
the Company’s title to its mining properties. While the Company has diligently investigated title to all 
mineral claims and, to the best of its knowledge, title to all properties is in good standing; this should not 
be construed as a guarantee of title. The properties may be subject to prior unregistered agreements or 
transfers or land claims, including First Nations land claims and title may be affected by undetected 
defects. There is no guarantee that title to the Company’s properties or its rights to earn an interest in its 
properties will not be challenged or impugned.  Also, in many countries including Canada and the USA, 
claims have been made and new claims are being made by aboriginal peoples that call into question the 
rights granted by the governments of those countries in respect of resource properties. 
 
Maintaining interests in mineral properties 
The Company’s continuing right to maintain its ownership in its mineral property interests will be 
dependent upon compliance with applicable laws and with agreements to which it is a party. There is no 
assurance that the Company will be able to obtain and/or maintain all required permits and licenses to 
carry on its operations. Additional expenditures will be required by the Company to maintain its interests 
in its properties. There can be no assurance that the Company will have the funds, will be able to raise 
the funds or will be able to comply with the provisions of the agreements relating to its properties which 
would entitle it to an interest therein and if it fails to do so its interest in certain of these properties may be 
reduced or be lost. 
 
External market factors 
The marketability and price of minerals which may be acquired or discovered by the Company will be 
affected by numerous factors beyond the control of the Company. The Company will be affected by 
changing production costs, the supply or/and demand for minerals, the rate of inflation, the inventory 
levels of minerals held by competing companies, the political environment and changes in international 
investment patterns. 
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Governmental and regulatory requirements 
Government approvals and permits are currently, and may in the future, be required in connection with 
the Company’s operations. To the extent that such approvals are required and not obtained, the 
Company may be restricted or prohibited from proceeding with planned exploration or development 
activities. Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and permitting requirements may result in 
enforcement actions there under, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing 
operations to cease or be curtailed, which may include requirements for the Company to take corrective 
measures requiring capital expenditures, installation of additional equipment, or other remedial actions. 
Parties engaged in mining operations may be required to compensate those suffering loss or damage by 
reason of the mining activities and may be liable for civil or criminal fines or penalties imposed for 
violations of applicable laws or regulations. Amendments to current laws, regulations and permitting 
requirements, or more stringent application of existing laws, could have a material adverse impact on the 
Company and cause increases in capital expenditures or production costs or reductions in levels of 
production at producing properties or require abandonment or delays in the development of properties. 
 
Environmental regulations 
All phases of the Company’s operations are subject to environmental regulation. Environmental 
legislation is becoming stricter, with increased fines and penalties for non-compliance, more stringent 
environmental assessments of proposed projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for 
companies and their officers, directors and employees. There can be no assurance that environmental 
regulation will not adversely affect the Company’s operations. Environmental hazards may exist on a 
property in which the Company holds an interest which are unknown to the Company at present which 
have been caused by previous or existing owners or operators of the property. 
 
Environmental legislation provides for restrictions and prohibitions on spills, releases or emissions of 
various substances produced in association with certain mining industry operations, such as seepage 
from tailings disposal areas, which would result in environmental pollution. A breach of such legislation 
may result in the imposition of fines and penalties. In addition, certain types of operations require the 
submission and approval of environmental impact assessments. Environmental legislation is evolving in a 
manner which means standards, and enforcement, fines and penalties for non-compliance are more 
stringent. 
 
Environmental assessments of proposed projects carry a heightened degree of responsibility for 
companies and their directors, officers and employees. The cost of compliance with changes in 
governmental regulations has the potential to reduce the profitability of operations. There is no assurance 
that future changes in environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely affect the Company’s 
operations. The Company intends to fully comply with all environmental regulations in all of the countries 
in which it is active. 
 
Conflicts of interest 
Certain directors and officers of the Company are or may become associated with other natural resource 
companies which may give rise to conflicts of interest. In accordance with the Business Corporations Act 
(Ontario), directors who have a material interest in any person who is a party to a material contract or a 
proposed material contract with the Company are required, subject to certain exceptions, to disclose that 
interest and generally abstain from voting on any resolution to approve the contract. In addition, the 
directors and the officers are required to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of 
the Company. The directors and officers of the Company have either other full-time employment or other 
business or time restrictions placed on them and, accordingly, the Company will not be the only business 
enterprise of these directors and officers. 
 
Competition in acquiring additional properties 
Significant and increasing competition exists for mineral acquisition opportunities throughout the world. As 
a result of this competition, some of which is with large, better established mining companies with 
substantial capabilities and greater financial and technical resources, the Company may be unable to 
acquiring rights to exploit additional attractive mining properties on terms it considers acceptable. 
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Land access 
As of April 1, 2013, under the recently modified Mining Act, the Company is required to obtain permits to 
conduct exploration and evaluation activities on its Ontario properties. In management’s view there is 
uncertainty concerning the First Nation’s ability to comply with the legislation on a timely basis, and there 
is a risk of permitting delays. The impact of any delays on the Company’s operations is unknown. 
 
Dividend policy 
No dividends on the common shares of the Company have been paid by the Company to date. The 
Company intends to retain its earnings, if any, to finance the growth and development of its business and 
has no present intention of paying dividends or making any other distributions in the foreseeable future. 

14. SUBSEQUENT EVENT  
On November 29, and December 30, 2021, the Company closed two tranches of a non-brokered private 
placement offering with the sale of a total of 1,180,000 “flow-through shares” at a price of $0.125 per flow-
through share for aggregate gross proceeds of $147,500. The Company paid a cash commission of 
$3,238. 
 
On December 20, 2021, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement of 3,161,000 working 
capital units for gross proceeds of $252,800.  Each working capital unit comprises one common share of 
the Company and one-half of a common share purchase warrant with each full warrant entitling the holder 
to acquire one common share at a price of $0.15 until December 20, 2023. The Company paid a cash 
commission of $5,058. 
 
Subsequent to October 31, 2021, 2,487,700 warrants with exercise prices between $0.05 and $0.10 
expired without exercise. 
 
Subsequent to October 31, 2021, 440,000 stock options were cancelled with expiry prices between 0.075 
and $0.25. 

15. OUTSTANDING SHARE, WARRANT AND OPTION DATA  
Common shares  
As at the date of this document, there were 45,276,615 common shares of the Company outstanding.   
 
Warrants  
As at the date of this document, there were 10,874,250 warrants outstanding.    
 
Options  
As at the date of this document, the Company had 2,510,000 options outstanding.  

Forward-Looking Statements 
Certain statements in this MD&A may constitute “forward-looking” statements which involve known and 
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or 
achievements of the Company and its subsidiary, or the industry in which they operate, to be materially 
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements.  When used in this report, the words “estimate”, “believe”, “anticipate”, “intend”, 
“expect”, “plan”, “may”, “should”, “will”, the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable 
terminology are intended to identify forward-looking statements.  Such forward-looking statements reflect 
the current expectations of the management of the Company with respect to future events based on 
currently available information and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results, 
performance or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied by those forward-
looking statements, such as reduced funding, currency and interest rate fluctuations, increased 
competition and general economic and market factors and including the risk factors summarized above 
under the heading “Risks and Uncertainties”.  New risk factors may arise from time to time and it is not 
possible for management of the Company to predict all of those risk factors or the extent to which any 
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factor or combination of factors may cause actual results, performance or achievements of the Company 
to be materially different from those expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements.  Given 
these risks and uncertainties, investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as 
a prediction of actual results.  Although the forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are based 
upon what management believes to be reasonable assumptions, the Company cannot assure investors 
that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements.  The forward-looking 
statements contained in this MD&A speak only as of the date hereof.  The Company does not undertake 
or assume any obligation to release publicly any revisions to these forward-looking statements to reflect 
events or circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, except 
as required by law. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Shareholders of Bold Ventures Inc.  

Opinion  

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bold Ventures Inc. and its subsidiaries 
(the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at October 
31, 2020 and 2019, and the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, 
consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the 
years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as at October 31, 2020 and 2019 
and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Material uncertainty related to going concern 

We draw attention to Note 2 in the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the 
Company has a deficit and limited working capital as at October 31, 2020. As stated in Note 2, 
these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate that material 
uncertainties exist that cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Other information  

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
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inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated 
financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the Company or cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risks of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.



 

   Page 4 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease 
to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
The engagement partner of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Jessica 
Glendinning. 
 
McGovern Hurley LLP 

 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
 
Toronto, Ontario 
February 22, 2021 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 
 
 

(in Canadian Dollars) Notes 2020 2019
$ $

Assets

Current assets
Cash 227,225              11,649               
Amounts receivable 19,122               168                    
Prepaids and deposits 9,149                 2,026                 

Total current assets 255,496              13,843               

Exploration and evaluation assets 5, 6 728,184              584,349              
Total assets 983,680              598,192              

Liabilities

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 6 77,333               105,527              
Loan payable -                     10,000               
Un-renounced flow through share premium 7 61,741               -                     

Total liabilities 139,074              115,527              

Equity
Share capital 7 11,697,158         11,265,438         
Contributed surplus 321,827              323,000              
Deficit (11,174,379)        (11,105,773)        
Total equity 844,606              482,665              
Total liabilities and equity 983,680              598,192              

October 31,
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

(in Canadian Dollars) Note 2020 2019

Expenses
Salaries and management fees 6  $      69,031  $         23,070 
Professional fees 6         34,398            53,660 
Office and general         41,714            23,494 
Travel and promotion         26,174              8,755 
Transfer agent and filing fees         26,231            18,121 

Loss before the following       (197,548)          (127,100)

Gain on debt settlement 7           5,494                   - 
Other income           6,188              6,156 
Write-off of exploration and evaluation assets        (16,740)          (810,490)

Net loss and total comprehensive loss for the year  $   (202,606)  $      (931,434)

Net loss per share:

Basic and diluted loss per share $        (0.01)  $           (0.04)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding - basic and
diluted   29,060,767 24,995,660     

ended October 31,
For the years
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(In Canadian Dollars)

Number of 
shares Amount

Contributed 
surplus Deficit

Total 
equity

Note $ $ $ $
Balance at October 31, 2018          24,700,048           11,166,938            403,000       (10,254,339)          1,315,599 
Shares issued in partial settlement of an option payment 7(a)               280,000                  28,000                        -                        -              28,000 
Common shares issued as consideration for debt settlements 7(a)               154,000                  70,500                        -                        -              70,500 
Warrants expired 7(b)                          -                           -              (80,000)               80,000                       - 
Loss for the year                          -                           -                        -            (931,434)            (931,434)
Balance at October 31, 2019          25,134,048           11,265,438            323,000       (11,105,773)            482,665 
Shares issued in partial settlement of option payments 7(a)               400,000                  19,000                        -                        -              19,000 
Common shares issued 7(a)            8,345,000                417,250                        -                        -            417,250 
Flow through common shares issued 7(a)            2,081,000                156,075                        -                        -            156,075 
Common shares issued under shares for debt settlements 7(a)            1,975,567                118,034                        -                        -            118,034 
Value assigned to warrants 7(b)                          -               (158,874)             158,874                        -                       - 
Cash share issue costs 7(a)                          -                 (84,071)                        -                        -              (84,071)
Cash share issue costs allocated to warrants 7(b)                          -                  27,444              (27,444)                        -                       - 
Non-cash share issue costs, broker warrants 7(b)                          -                   (2,160)                 2,160                        -                       - 
Non-cash share issue costs allocated to warrants 7(b)                          -                      763                   (763)                        -                       - 
Value assigned to un-renounced flow through premium 7(a)                          -                 (61,741)                        -                        -              (61,741)
Warrants expired 7(b)                          -              (82,500)               82,500                       - 
Options expired 7(c)                          -                           -              (51,500)               51,500                       - 
Loss for the year                          -                           -                        -            (202,606)            (202,606)
Balance at October 31, 2020          37,935,615           11,697,158            321,827       (11,174,379)            844,606 

Share capital
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(in Canadian Dollars) 2020 2019
$ $

Cash flows from:
Operating activities

Net loss for the year        (202,606)        (931,434)

Adjustment for items not affecting cash:
Write-off of exploration and evaluation assets           16,740         810,490 
Expenses settled with shares           16,000                  - 
Loss on sale of marketable securities                    -                169 
Gain on debt settlement            (5,494)                  - 

Changes in non-cash working capital items: 
Amounts receivable          (18,954)           12,884 
Prepaids and deposits            (7,123)             1,277 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities           72,341           69,763 
Cash flows from operating activities        (129,096)          (36,851)

Investing activities
Proceeds on sale of marketable securities                  -               2,060 
Acquisition of exploration and evaluation assets        (134,582)            (7,018)
Cash flows from investing activities       (134,582)            (4,958)

Financing activities
Loan payable          (10,000)           10,000 
Issuance of common and flow through shares and warrants         573,325                  - 
Share issue expenses          (84,071)                  - 
Cash flows from financing activities         479,254           10,000 

Net change in cash         215,576          (31,809)
Cash, beginning of year           11,649           43,458 

        227,225           11,649 

Supplementary information

          19,000           28,000 

        118,034           70,500 

Fair value assigned to common shares issued as consideration for 
an option to acquire an interest in a property

Cash, end of year

For the years
ended October 31,

Fair value assigned to common shares issued as consideration for 
debt settlements
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1. General information 

 
Bold Ventures Inc. (“Bold” or the “Company”) was incorporated on June 8, 1989 under the laws of British 
Columbia. On August 31, 2010, the Company filed Articles of Continuance to continue into Ontario and is 
now subject to the laws of Ontario as if it had been incorporated under the Business Corporations Act 
(Ontario).   
 
The Company is engaged in the acquisition, exploration and evaluation of mineral properties in Canada and 
is publicly listed on the TSX Venture Exchange. The address of the registered office is Bay Adelaide Centre 
- East Tower, 22 Adelaide Street West Suite 3600, Toronto, Ontario M5H 4E3. 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the years ended October 31, 2020 and 2019 
were authorized for issuance in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors on February 22, 
2021. 
 

2. Going concern 
 
The Company’s ability to realize the costs it has incurred to date on its properties is dependent upon it 
being able to identify economically recoverable reserves; to finance their exploration and evaluation costs; 
to resolve any environmental, regulatory, or other constraints which may hinder the successful development 
of the reserves; and to attain profitable operations.  
 
The business of mining and exploration for minerals involves a high degree of risk and there can be no 
assurance that current exploration programs will result in profitable mining operations.  The recoverability of 
the carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets and the Company’s continued existence is 
dependent upon the preservation of its interest in the underlying properties, the discovery of economically 
recoverable reserves, the achievement of profitable operations, or the ability of the Company to raise 
alternative financing, if necessary, or alternatively upon the Company’s ability to dispose of its interests on 
an advantageous basis. These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties which cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Changes in future conditions 
could require material write downs of the carrying values. 
 
Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to the properties on which it is conducting exploration 
and in which it has an interest, in accordance with industry standards for the current stage of exploration of 
such properties, these procedures do not guarantee the Company's title. Property title may be subject to 
government licensing requirements or regulations, unregistered prior agreements, unregistered claims, 
aboriginal claims, and non-compliance with regulatory, environmental and social requirements. 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles 
applicable to a going concern. Accordingly, they do not give effect to adjustments that would be necessary 
should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern and therefore be required to realize its 
assets and liquidate its liabilities and commitments in other than the normal course of business and at 
amounts different from those in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Such adjustments 
could be material. It is not possible to predict whether the Company will be able to raise adequate financing 
or to ultimately attain profitable levels of operations.  
 
Details of deficit and working capital of the Company are as follows: 
 October 31, 2020 October 31, 2019 
  $ $ 
Deficit 11,174,379 11,105,773
Working capital (deficit) 116,422 (101,684)
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3. Basis of preparation   
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain 
financial instruments that have been measured at fair value. The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Canadian dollars which is the functional currency of the Company. 
 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). IFRS represents 
standards and interpretations approved by the IASB, and are comprised of IFRSs, International Accounting 
Standards (“IASs”), and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRICs”) and the 
former Standing Interpretations Committee (“SICs”). 

4. Significant accounting policies 
 
Basis of consolidation 
 
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its controlled 
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries consist of entities over which the Company is exposed to, or has rights to, 
variable returns as well as the ability to affect those returns through the power to direct the relevant 
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date control is transferred to the 
Company and are de-consolidated from the date control ceases. The consolidated financial statements 
include all the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries 
after eliminating inter-entity balances and transactions. 

The Company owns 100% of Rencore Resources Inc., a company engaged in exploration of the Ring of 
Fire area north northeast of Thunder Bay, Ontario. 

Exploration and evaluation assets 

Exploration and evaluation outlays relating to properties, that are incurred after the legal right to explore has 
been obtained, are capitalized until the properties are brought into production, at which time they are 
amortized on a unit of production basis. Other general exploration expenses are charged to consolidated 
statements of loss as incurred. The cost of properties abandoned, impaired or sold and their related 
capitalized exploration costs are expensed to consolidated statements of loss in the year of abandonment 
or sale. The amounts shown as exploration and evaluation assets represent unamortized costs to date and 
do not necessarily reflect present or future values. 

Costs include the cash consideration and the fair market value of shares issued for the acquisition and 
exploration of properties. The carrying value is reduced by option proceeds received until such time as the 
exploration and evaluation assets are reduced to nominal amounts. Properties acquired under option 
agreements, whereby payments are made at the sole discretion of the Company are recorded in the 
accounts at the time of payment. 

When a project is considered to no longer have commercially viable prospects for the Company, 
exploration and evaluation assets in respect of that property are assessed as impaired and written off to the 
consolidated statements of loss. The Company also assesses exploration and evaluation assets for 
impairment when other facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an asset may exceed 
its recoverable amount. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

At the end of each reporting period, non-financial assets are subject to impairment tests whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. Where the 
carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and fair 
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value less costs to sell, the asset is written down accordingly. Any impairment is recognized in the 
consolidated statements of loss.  

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include short-term investments with original maturities of less than ninety days. 
The Company invests cash in term deposits maintained in high credit quality institutions. 

Provisions and decommissioning liabilities 

Provisions, which include decommissioning liabilities, are liabilities that are uncertain in timing or amount. 
The Company records a provision when:  

(i)  the Company has a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event;  

(ii)  it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation; and  

(iii)  a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  

Constructive obligations are obligations that derive from the Company’s actions where:  

 (i)  by an established pattern of past practice, published policies or a sufficiently specific current statement, 
the Company has indicated to other parties that it will accept certain responsibilities; and  

(ii)  as a result, the Company has created a valid expectation on the part of those other parties that it will 
discharge those responsibilities.  

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect management’s current 
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. 
If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. Provisions are reduced by actual expenditures for which the 
provision was originally recognized. Where discounting has been used, the carrying amount of a provision 
increases in each period to reflect the passage of time. This increase (accretion expense) is included in 
finance costs in the consolidated statements of loss.  

The Company did not have any material reclamation provisions or decommissioning liabilities as at October 
31, 2020 and 2019. 

Loss per share  

Basic loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding. Diluted loss 
per share is calculated by assuming that any proceeds from the exercise of dilutive stock options and 
warrants would be used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the period, with 
the incremental number of shares being included in the denominator of the diluted loss per share 
calculation. The diluted loss per share calculation excludes any potential conversion of options and 
warrants that would increase earnings per share or decrease loss per share.  During the years ended 
October 31, 2020 and 2019, all outstanding options and warrants were considered anti-dilutive and were 
therefore excluded from the diluted loss per share calculation. 

Income taxes 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred income tax. Income tax is recognized in the 
consolidated statements of loss except to the extent it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive 
loss or directly in equity. 
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Current income tax 

Current income tax expense is based on the results for the period as adjusted for items that are not taxable 
and not deductible. Current tax is calculated using tax rates and laws that were enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Management at the end of each reporting period evaluates 
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to 
interpretation. Provisions are established where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to 
the tax authorities. 

Deferred income tax 

Deferred income taxes are the taxes expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets in the financial statements and their corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit and are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and their corresponding tax bases. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be 
utilized. 

Refundable tax credits 

The Company is entitled to a credit on certain exploration expenditures incurred in the Province of Quebec. 
This credit is recognized as an exploration and evaluation asset recovery on the consolidated statements of 
financial position unless the property has been impaired in which case it is recognized in the consolidated 
statements of loss.  

The refundable tax credit for exploration expenditures is 28% of qualified expenditures incurred. The 
Company estimates the benefits to be recognized from refundable tax credits relating to qualified 
expenditures incurred. These receivables are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the Company 
has met all eligibility requirements for the expenditures in the period they are incurred. 

Flow through-share financings 

The Company periodically finances a portion of its exploration activities through the issue of flow through 
shares, which transfers the tax deductibility of exploration expenditures to the investor (referred to as 
renunciation). Proceeds received on the issuance of such shares up to the value of similar non-flow through 
shares are credited to capital stock and any difference between that amount and the issue price is 
recognized as a flow through share premium and recognized as a liability in the consolidated statements of 
financial position. Upon renunciation to the investor of the tax benefits associated with the related 
expenditures, a deferred tax liability is recognized and the liability previously recorded is reversed with any 
difference being recorded as a deferred tax recovery (expense). To the extent that suitable deferred tax 
assets are available, the Company will reduce the deferred tax liability and record a recovery on the 
consolidated statements of loss. The related exploration costs are charged to exploration and evaluation 
assets.  

Foreign currency translation 

The Canadian dollar is the functional and reporting currency of the Company’s operations. Monetary assets 
and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars at exchange rates in effect at the statement of financial 
position date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at historical exchange rates. Revenues and 
expenses are translated at the rate at the time of the transaction. Any resulting gain or loss is recorded in 
the consolidated statements of loss. 
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Financial instruments 

Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Non-derivative financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified and measured as “financial assets 
at fair value”, as either FVPL or FVOCI, and “financial assets at amortized cost”, as appropriate. The 
Company determines the classification of financial assets at the time of initial recognition based on the 
Company’s business model and the contractual terms of the cash flows. 

All financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not at FVPL, 
directly attributable transaction costs on the trade date at which the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining their 
classification at FVPL or at amortized cost. 

Subsequent measurement – financial assets at amortized cost 

After initial recognition, financial assets measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured at the end 
of each reporting period at amortized cost using the Effective Interest Rate (“EIR”) method. Amortized cost 
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any fees or costs that are 
an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance income in the consolidated 
statements of loss. 

Subsequent measurement – financial assets at FVPL 

Financial assets measured at FVPL include financial assets management intends to sell in the short term 
and any derivative financial instrument that is not designated as a hedging instrument in a hedge 
relationship. Financial assets measured at FVPL are carried at fair value in the consolidated statements of 
financial position with changes in fair value recognized in other income or expense in the consolidated 
statements of loss. The Company’s marketable securities are classified as financial assets at FVPL. 

Subsequent measurement – financial assets at FVOCI 

Financial assets measured at FVOCI are non-derivative financial assets that are not held for trading and 
the Company has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to measure the assets at 
FVOCI. The Company does not measure any financial assets at FVOCI.  

After initial measurement, investments measured at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with 
unrealized gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive income or loss in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income (loss). When the investment is sold, the cumulative gain or loss 
remains in accumulated other comprehensive income or loss and is not reclassified to profit or loss. 

Dividends from such investments are recognized in other income in the consolidated statements of loss 
when the right to receive payments is established. 

Derecognition 

A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or the 
Company no longer retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The Company’s only financial assets subject to impairment are other accounts receivable, which are 
measured at amortized cost. The Company has elected to apply the simplified approach to impairment as 
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permitted by IFRS 9, which requires the expected lifetime loss to be recognized at the time of initial 
recognition of the receivable. To measure estimated credit losses, accounts receivable have been grouped 
based on shared credit risk characteristics, including the number of days past due. An impairment loss is 
reversed in subsequent periods if the amount of the expected loss decreases and the decrease can be 
objectively related to an event occurring after the initial impairment was recognized. 

Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured at FVPL as is 
the case for held for trading or derivative instruments, or the Company has opted to measure the financial 
liability at FVPL. The Company’s financial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities and 
loan payable, which are each measured at amortized cost.  All financial liabilities are recognized initially at 
fair value and in the case of long-term debt, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

Subsequent measurement – financial liabilities at amortized cost 

After initial recognition, financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured at the 
end of each reporting period at amortized cost using the EIR method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking 
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any fees or costs that are an integral part of the 
EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance cost in the consolidated statements of loss. 

Derecognition 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires 
with any associated gain or loss recognized in other income or expense in the consolidated statements of 
loss. 

Share-based payments 

The Company applies the fair value method of accounting for share-based payments granted to employees 
and other individuals providing similar services. The fair value of the options is determined using an option 
pricing model that takes into account, as of the grant date, the exercise price, the expected life of the 
option, the current price of the underlying stock and its expected volatility, expected dividends on the stock, 
and the risk-free interest rate over the expected life of the option. Each tranche of an option that vests over 
time is considered a separate award and the fair value of each tranche is expensed over its vesting period 
with the corresponding credit to contributed surplus.  

Share-based payments granted to non-employees are measured at the fair value of goods received unless 
that cannot be reasonably estimated in which case the fair value of the share-based payments are used. 
The measurement date is generally the date the goods or services are received. 

Cash consideration received from employees on exercise of options is credited to share capital along with 
the original grant date fair value of the options exercised. The value of options forfeited before vesting is 
removed from contributed surplus and credited to operations, while the value of options that expire after 
vesting is credited directly to deficit. 

Warrants 

All warrants issued under a unit financing arrangement are valued on the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model, net of related issue costs and are recorded in contributed surplus. Expired 
warrants are removed from contributed surplus and credited directly to deficit. 
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Recent accounting pronouncements and changes in accounting policies 

During 2020 the Company adopted a number of new IFRS standards, interpretations, amendments and 
improvements of existing standards. These included IAS1, IFRS3 and IFRIC 23. These changes did not 
have any material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRIC that are mandatory for accounting periods 
beginning on or after November 1, 2020 or later periods. Many are not applicable or do not have a 
significant impact to the Company and have been excluded below. The following has not yet been adopted 
and is being evaluated to determine its impact on the Company. 

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”) and IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures (“IAS 28”) were amended in September 2014 to address a conflict between the 
requirements of IAS 28 and IFRS 10 and clarify that in a transaction involving an associate or joint venture, 
the extent of gain or loss recognition depends on whether the assets sold or contributed constitute a 
business. The effective date of these amendments is yet to be determined, however early adoption is 
permitted. 
 
Segmented information 

The Company currently conducts substantially all of its operations in Canada in one business segment.  

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Estimates and judgments are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. Actual outcomes can differ from these estimates. The key sources of estimation 
uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the amounts recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements are: 

Capitalization of exploration and evaluation assets   

Management has determined that exploration and evaluation costs incurred during the year have future 
economic benefits and are economically recoverable. In making this judgement, management has 
assessed various sources of information including but not limited to the geologic and metallurgic 
information, history of conversion of mineral deposits to proven and probable mineral reserves, scoping and 
feasibility studies, proximity of operating facilities, operating management expertise and existing permits.  

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets 

While assessing whether any indications of impairment exist for exploration and evaluation assets, 
consideration is given to both external and internal sources of information. Information the Company 
considers includes changes in the market, economic and legal environment in which the Company operates 
that are not within its control that could affect the recoverable amount of exploration and evaluation assets. 
Internal sources of information include the manner in which exploration and evaluation assets are being 
used or are expected to be used and indications of expected economic performance of the assets. 
Reductions in metal price forecasts, increases in estimated future costs of production, increases in 
estimated future capital costs, reductions in the amount of recoverable mineral reserves and mineral 
resources and/or adverse current economics can result in a write-down of the carrying amounts of the 
Company’s exploration and evaluation assets. 
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Income, value added, withholding and other taxes 

The Company is subject to income, value added, withholding and other taxes. Significant judgment is 
required in determining the Company’s provisions for taxes. There are many transactions and calculations 
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Company 
recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be 
due. The determination of the Company’s income, value added, withholding and other tax liabilities requires 
interpretation of complex laws and regulations. The Company’s interpretation of taxation law as applied to 
transactions and activities may not coincide with the interpretation of the tax authorities. All tax related 
filings are subject to government audit and potential reassessment subsequent to the financial statement 
reporting period. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were 
initially recorded, such differences will impact the tax related accruals and deferred income tax provisions in 
the period in which such determination is made. 

Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations 

Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations are estimated based on the Company’s 
interpretation of current legal or constructive obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental 
costs, which may arise when environmental disturbance is caused by the exploration and evaluation of a 
property interest.  Such costs are discounted to their net present value using a risk-free rate and are 
provided for and expensed as soon as the obligation to incur such costs arises. Discount rates using a pre-
tax rate that reflects the time value of money are used to calculate the net present value. The related 
liability is adjusted for each period for the unwinding of the discount rate and for changes to the current 
market-based discount rate and the amount or timing of the underlying cash flows needed to settle the 
obligation. The Company has no material restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations as at 
October 31, 2020 and 2019, as the disturbance to date is minimal. 

Share-based payments 

Management determines costs for share-based payments using market-based valuation techniques. The 
fair value of the market-based and performance-based share awards are determined at the date of grant 
using generally accepted valuation techniques. Assumptions are made and judgment used in applying 
valuation techniques. These assumptions and judgments include estimating the future volatility of the stock 
price, expected dividend yield, future employee turnover rates and future employee stock option exercise 
behaviors and corporate performance. Such judgments and assumptions are inherently uncertain. Changes 
in these assumptions affect the fair value estimates. 

Contingencies  
Refer to Note 11. 

Going concern 
Refer to Note 2. 
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5.    Exploration and evaluation assets 

 
 
Property descriptions: 
 
(a) Northern Ontario properties - Ring of Fire 
(i) Dundee Corporation earn-in right 

Pursuant to an option agreement dated May 31, 2011 with a subsidiary (“Subco”) of Dundee 
Corporation, Subco had the right to earn up to a 33-1/3% interest in Bold’s Ring of Fire properties by 
funding $2,500,000 of exploration work by May 31, 2014. Upon expending $2,500,000 within a three 
year period, a joint venture is to be formed between the Company and Subco. During the year ended 
October 31, 2014 the $2,500,000 spending threshold was met and Subco earned its 33-1/3% interest. 
The properties that Subco has earned into to date are described in (ii) to (iv) below.  

(ii) Ring of Fire Claims 
The Ring of Fire Claim blocks, for which exploration expenditure requirements are in abeyance with the 
Ministry of Northern Development and Mines, pending completion of First Nation agreements, were 
staked to explore areas located to the north and west of the Ring of Fire area of the James Bay 
Lowlands. Located approximately 550 km north of Thunder Bay, these claim groups are named Areas 
55, 55E, 55E1, 55E2, 57 to 63 and 64 to 71.  

(iii) Koper Lake Project 
Under an agreement dated May 4, 2012 with Fancamp Exploration Limited (“Fancamp”), subject to 
KWG Resources Inc.’s (“KWG”) interest as discussed in (iv) below, the Company has earned a 50% 
working interest in the Fancamp Ring of Fire property known as the Koper Lake Project. The Koper 
Lake Project property is situated approximately 530 km north east of Thunder Bay in the James Bay 
Lowlands of northern Ontario. The agreement called for the Company to make option payments 
totalling $1,500,000 and to incur exploration expenditures on the property of at least $8,000,000 over a 
3-year period, which it did under the KWG option agreement during 2016, as discussed in (iv) below.  
 
A further 10% interest may be earned by Bold at any time by delivery of a positive feasibility study and 
by making a payment of $700,000 in cash and/or stock at the option of Bold. There is a 2% net smelter 
royalty interest (“NSR”) to be paid in respect of the four claims that comprise the property. Bold 
maintains a right of first refusal on one-half (1%) of the 2% NSR. In January 2013, the Company signed 
an agreement with Fancamp giving Bold the option to earn up to a 100% working interest in the Koper 
Lake property. The agreement provides that once Bold has earned its 60% interest in the Koper Lake 
property (it has currently earned a 50% interest as discussed in (iv) below), it will then have two options 
for a period of 90 days following the date it earns its 60% interest. Under the first option it can earn a 
further 20% interest by agreeing to pay Fancamp $15,000,000 payable in equal installments over three 

For the year ended October 31, 
2019

Beginning 
balance

Acquisition 
costs

Exploration 
costs

Adjustments Write offs Ending 
balance

($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)
Northern Ontario properties 482,773                -                  -   (74,638)         -              408,135
Northwestern Ontario properties 480,165         28,000           7,018 (583)              (338,386)      176,214
Quebec properties 396,883                -                  -   75,221          (472,104)      -          
  1,359,821         28,000           7,018                  -   (810,490)      584,349

For the year ended October 31, 
2020

Beginning 
balance

Acquisition 
costs

Exploration 
costs

Adjustments Write offs Ending 
balance

($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)
Northern Ontario properties 408,135                -                  -                    -   -              408,135
Northwestern Ontario properties 176,214         67,850         92,725                  -   (16,740)        320,049
  584,349         67,850         92,725                  -   (16,740)        728,184
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years with half of the amount payable in cash and the balance payable, at Bold’s option, through the 
issuance of common shares of Bold, or its assignee, at the market price at the time the shares are 
issued. If the first option is exercised, Bold would then have the option to acquire Fancamp’s remaining 
interest in exchange for a Gross Metal Royalty. Fancamp would then be entitled to be paid 2% of the 
total revenue from the sale of all metals and mineral products from the property from the 
commencement of commercial production. Once all of the capital costs to bring the Koper Lake project 
to the production stage have been repaid entirely, the gross metal royalty may be scaled up to a 
maximum of 4% of the total revenue from the sale of all metals and mineral products from the property 
depending upon the price of product sold. 
 

(iv) KWG Resources Inc. option on the Koper Lake property 
In March 2013, and amended October 23, 2015, the Company optioned its interest in the Koper Lake 
property to KWG. Under the terms of the option agreement, KWG assumed the obligation to make 
option payments totaling $1,500,000 and to fund the $8,000,000 exploration programs planned for the 
property; and as of September 21, 2016, KWG had met those obligations. As a result, on September 
21, 2016, the Company earned a 50% working interest in Fancamp’s Koper Lake property; KWG 
earned an 80% interest in Bold’s interest in chromite and a 20% interest in Bold’s interest in nickel and 
other non-chromite minerals.  

  
KWG can acquire an 80% interest in chromite produced from the Koper Lake property by funding 100% 
of the costs to a feasibility study leaving Bold and its co-venturer Subco with a 20% carried interest, pro 
rata. For nickel and other non-chromite minerals identified during the exploration programs, the parties 
have agreed to form a joint arrangement in which KWG would have a 20% participating interest and 
Bold and its co-venturer Subco would have an 80% participating interest, pro rata. KWG will have a 
right of first refusal to purchase all ores or concentrates produced by such joint arrangement whenever 
its interest in the joint arrangement exceeds 50%.  

 
(v) Rencore Claims 

Pursuant to an amalgamation completed on February 13, 2012, the Company acquired Rencore 
Resources Inc. (“Rencore”) and all of the exploration properties and related obligations held by Rencore 
in the Ring of Fire (“Rencore claims”).  The Rencore claims consist of a 100% interest in mineral claims 
located north-northwest of Thunder Bay.  These properties are known as REN 6 and REN 8.   

 
Rencore has an option agreement dated May 31, 2011, as amended October 7, 2014, with Subco for 
Subco to earn a 33-1/3% interest in Rencore’s Ring of Fire project by funding $2,500,000 of exploration 
work by March 31, 2014 (extended to the date when another exploration program is approved and 
budgeted for completion). Upon expending $2,500,000 within the agreed timeline, a joint venture will be 
formed between Rencore and Subco.  Rencore will pay a finder’s fee, as funds are expended by Subco 
pursuant to the option agreement in tranches of $1,000,000, calculated as 2% of the funds expended 
satisfied in either common shares of the Company at the market price at the time of issuance, or twice 
that number of warrants exercisable at the market price for two years, subject to regulatory approval. At 
October 31, 2020 and 2019, $1,371,188 has been spent under this program. 

 
(b) Northwestern Ontario properties 
(i) Wilcorp Project  

Under an agreement dated February 24, 2012, and subsequent amendments, the Company acquired 
an option to certain property that is made up of patented claims and a staked mining claim.  

 
The option agreement for the patented claims requires a payment by the Company of $5,000 
September 1, 2020 (paid), $5,000 November 1, 2020 (paid), $4,000 December 31, 2020 and $8,000 
annually on June 1 of each year thereafter. The option may be exercised at any time, and the properties 
acquired, by the payment of $100,000 to the vendor. The vendor retains a 2% NSR of which half may 
be purchased at any time by Bold for $500,000 cash. Bold retains a right of first refusal on the 
remaining 1% NSR.  
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The terms of the agreement for the staked mining claim are a one-time payment of $12,000 (paid). The 
vendor retains a 1% NSR of which half may be purchased at any time prior to production for a cash 
consideration of $500,000. Bold retains a right of first refusal on the remaining 0.5% NSR. 
 

(ii) Traxxin Extension Gold project 
During 2017, the Company announced it had formalized an agreement with Lac des Milles Lac First 
Nation (LDMLFN”) and had staked 7 claims in the Bedivere Lake area of northwestern Ontario. The 
parties have shared the cost related to the claim staking equally, and each party owns 50% of the gold 
property. Bold is the operator of the claims. 
 
Pursuant to an Option Agreement dated July 24, 2020, Bold acquired the option to earn a 100% interest 
in the Traxxin Gold Property over a three-year period by paying the aggregate sum of $150,000 cash, 
issuing an aggregate of 1,000,000 common shares of Bold and completing a total of $250,000 of 
exploration work on the claims over a three-year period. The first payment of $20,000 cash and 200,000 
common shares has been paid to the vendor.  The vendor will retain a 2% Net Smelter Royalty (NSR) 
of which Bold has the right to purchase a 1% NSR for $1 million leaving a 1% NSR in favour of the 
vendor. 
 
Pursuant to a joint venture with LDMLFN, LDMLFN has the right to earn a 50% interest in the Traxxin 
Gold Property from Bold by paying to Bold 50% of the cash option payments, 50% of the expenditure 
requirements and reimbursing Bold for 50% of the value of the shares issued pursuant to the Option. If 
the Option is earned and both parties maintain their interest in the Traxxin Gold Property, Bold and 
LDMLFN will form a joint venture for the further exploration and development of the Traxxin Gold 
Property 
 

(iii)  Stover Gold Project 
On November 17, 2017 the Company entered into an option agreement to acquire the Stover Gold 
Project. On June 14, 2019 the Company announced that it would be dropping its claims on the Stover 
Gold Project. The Company had attempted to raise the cash required to fund option commitments, due 
on May 31, 2019, that were necessary to retain its option on the property. Unfortunately, the Company 
was unable to do so and was also unable to negotiate an alternative proposal with the optionors. Under 
the agreement the Company incurred exploration and evaluation expenditures totalling $303,080 which 
amount was written off during the year ended October 31, 2019. 

 
(iv) J & B Lithium Project 

On February 12, 2018, the Company announced the acquisition of two separate claim groups located 
within the Georgia Lake Area Pegmatite field. The Jean claim group consists of 8 claims and the 
Barbara claim group consists of 2 claims. On August 15, 2018 the Company announced it had an 
option to acquire an additional 28 mining claims, known as the Pleason Claims, which were in the 
vicinity of the Company's Jean claim group. During the year ended October 31, 2019 the Company 
decided not to proceed with the J & B Lithium Project and costs incurred in the amount of $35,306 were 
written off during the year ended October 31, 2019. 
 

a. Farwell Gold project 
On March 12, 2020, the Company optioned the Farwell Gold and Base Metals property. The Farwell 
Property is located northwest of Wawa, Ontario. The Company has the option to earn a 100% interest 
in the property by making aggregate cash option payments of $225,000, issuing an aggregate of 
1,650,000 common shares, and completing a total of $1,000,000 of exploration work on the property 
over a four-year period (with first-year exploration work expenditures of $90,000). The vendors retained 
a 3% NSR in the property, and the Company will have the right to buy back a 1.5% NSR in 
consideration for the payment of $2 million. 

 
(c) Quebec properties 
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The Quebec properties consisted of the Lac Grasset claim groups. Lac Grasset comprises 50 claims in 
La Gauchitiere Township, Mattagami, Quebec straddling the Sunday Lake Deformation Zone. During 
the year ended October 31, 2019, the Company decided to discontinue exploration of the Lac Grasset 
claim group and costs incurred in the amount of $472,104 were written off during the year ended 
October 31, 2019.  

6. Related party transactions 
During the years ended October 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had the following related party 
transactions:  
a. Director’s fees, professional fees and other compensation in the amount of $76,131 (2019 - $24,750), 

were paid or payable to directors and key management personnel in the form of short-term salaries and 
benefits; of this amount $12,500 (2019 - $1,680) was charged to exploration and evaluation assets, and 
$69,031 (2019 - $23,070) was expensed. 
- In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, 
including any directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company.  
- The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the compensation committee. 

b. During 2020 the Company’s President and a director agreed to a debt settlement arrangement under 
which 1,700,567 common shares of the Company were exchanged for settlement of $107,528 in debts 
owed to them; in addition, the Company’s president forgave $22,500 of debt owed to him.  During 2019 
the Company’s President and CFO agreed to a debt settlement arrangement under which 154,000 
common shares of the Company were exchanged for settlement of $70,500 in debts owed to them. 

c.  Legal fees in the amount of $43,962 (2019 – $33,100) were paid or payable to a law firm whose partner 
is a director and an officer of the Company, of which $17,661 was charged to share capital as share 
issue expenses.  

 
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at October 31, 2020 was $26,912 (2019 - $64,410) 
owing to directors, and officers, companies owned by directors and officers, and a law firm whose partner is 
a director and an officer of the Company. These amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on 
demand. 

7. Share capital 
 
Share consolidation: 
On February 3, 2020, the Company consolidated its outstanding common shares on a one-new-for-five-old 
basis. All share and per share figures in these consolidated financial statements have been presented on a 
retroactive basis showing the effect of this share-consolidation. 
 
Authorized and outstanding: 
The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares with no par 
value. At October 31, 2020, the Company has 37,935,615 (2019 – 25,134,048) common shares issued and 
outstanding. 

 
(a) Share activity: 
 
Activity during 2020 – 
 
On February 11, and March 25, 2020 the Company placed an aggregate of 2,745,000 working capital units 
under a private placement for total gross proceeds of $137,250. Each working capital unit was priced at 
$0.05 and comprises one common share of the Company and one common share purchase warrant, with 
each warrant entitling the holder to acquire one common share at a price of $0.10 until two years after the 
closing date. The Company paid $5,590 in cash compensation and issued 42,700 broker warrants to a 
finder. Each broker warrant entitles the holder to acquire one common share at a price of $0.05 until 
February 11, 2022. 
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On April 1, 2020, and August 14, 2020, 400,000 common shares were issued in partial satisfaction of 
property option agreements. The shares have been valued at $19,000 which was the market value of the 
shares on the date issued. 
 
On July 21, 2020, the Company entered into agreements to settle an aggregate of $107,528 of debt owed 
to two the president and a director of the Company in consideration for the issuance of 1,700,567 common 
shares of the Company. The shares issued were valued at a total of $102,034 being the estimated value of 
the shares on the day the transaction closed. A gain on the debt settlement of $5,494 was realized. 
 
On August 11, 28, and September 29, 2020, the Company placed an aggregate of 5,600,000 working 
capital units under a private placement for total gross proceeds of $280,000. Each working capital unit was 
priced at $0.05 and comprises one common share of the Company and one common share purchase 
warrant, with each warrant entitling the holder to acquire one common share at a price of $0.10 until two 
years after the closing date. The Company paid $24,400 in cash compensation and issued 140,000 broker 
warrants to a finder. Each broker warrant entitles the holder to acquire one common share at a price of 
$0.10 until August 28, 2022. 
 
On August 28, and September 29, 2020 the Company placed an aggregate of 2,081,000 flow through units 
under a private placement for total gross proceeds of $156,075, of which $61,741 was estimated to be the 
flow-through premium. Each flow through unit was priced at $0.075 and comprises one common flow 
through share of the Company and one half of one common share purchase warrant. Each whole warrant 
entitles the holder to acquire one common share at a price of $0.10 until two years after the closing date. 
The Company paid $9,769 in cash compensation. 
 
On August 14, and September 9, 2020, the Company issued 275,000 common shares to an arms-length 
party in exchange for services. The shares issued were valued at a total of $16,000 being the market value 
of the shares on the day they were issued. 
 
Activity during 2019 – 
 
During the year ended October 31, 2019 the Company issued 280,000 common shares in partial 
satisfaction of a property option commitment, and 154,000 common shares in satisfaction of $70,500 debts 
owed by the Company. The 280,000 shares were valued at $28,000, and the 154,000 shares were valued 
at $15,400, with the gain on the debt settlement of $55,100 being reflected as an addition to the shares 
issued. The gain on the debt settlement has been recognized directly in equity as the creditors are 
shareholders of the Company. The value attributed to the shares in both transactions was the market value 
of the shares on the day they were issued. 
 
(b) Warrants 
 
Activity during 2020 - 
 
On February 11, and March 25, 2020, the Company issued 2,745,000 warrants. Each warrant entitles the 
holder to purchase one common share at an exercise price of $0.10 per share for a period of two years 
from the date of issuance. On February 11, the Company issued a total of 42,700 broker compensation 
warrants. Each broker compensation warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at an 
exercise price of $0.05 per share for a period of two years from the date of issuance. The total value of the 
warrants has been estimated at $41,815 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the 
following weighted average assumptions: 

Expected dividend yield                         0% 
Expected annual volatility (based on historic)   128% 
Risk-free interest rate                                         1.47% 

                                  Expected average life                                       2 years 
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On August 11, 28 and September 29, 2020, the Company issued a total of 6,640,500 warrants. Each 
warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at an exercise price of $0.10 per share for a 
period of two years from the date of issuance. On August 28, 2020, the Company issued a total of 140,000 
broker compensation warrants. Each broker warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at 
an exercise price of $0.10 per share for a period of two years from the date of issuance. The total value of 
the warrants has been estimated at $117,059 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the 
following weighted average assumptions: 

Expected dividend yield                         0% 
Expected annual volatility (based on historic)    150% 
Risk-free interest rate                                   0.24% to 0.28% 

                                                Expected average life                                       2 years 
 
During the year ended October 31, 2020 756,000 warrants expired with an estimated value of $82,500, 
which amount was charged to deficit. 
 
Activity during 2019 - 
 
During the year ended October 31, 2019, 800,000 warrants expired with an estimated value of $80,000, 
which amount was charged to deficit. 
 
 
 
A summary of warrant activity for the years ended October 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 

   
Weighted-
average 

  
Number of 
warrants 

exercise price 
($) 

Balance, October 31, 2018 2,356,000 0.370
Warrants expired (1)          (800,000)           0.600
Balance, October 31, 2019 1,556,000 0.250
Warrants issued 9,525,500 0.100
Warrants issued 42,700 0.050
Warrants expired (2) (756,000) 0.250
Balance, October 31, 2020 10,368,200 0.111
(1) The 800,000 warrants that expired in the year ended October 31, 2019 had an original estimated value 
of $80,000 which amount was transferred to deficit. 
(2) The 756,000 warrants that expired during the year ended October 31, 2020 had an original estimated 
value of $82,500 which amount was transferred to deficit. 
 
As at October 31, 2020 the following common share purchase warrants were outstanding: 

Expiration date 
Number of 
 Warrants 

Exercise 
 Price ($) 

23-Jan-23 800,000 0.250 
11-Feb-22 2,445,000 0.100 
11-Feb-22 42,700 0.050 
25-Mar-22 300,000 0.100 
11-Aug-22 2,900,000 0.100 
28-Aug-22 3,013,500 0.100 
29-Sep-22 867,000 0.100 

Balance, October 31, 2020 10,368,200  0.111 
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(d) Options 
The Company has established a stock option plan pursuant to which options to purchase common shares 
may be granted to certain officers, directors, and employees of the Company as well as persons providing 
ongoing services to the Company.  The maximum number of common shares reserved for issuance upon 
the exercise of options is not to exceed 10% of the total number of common shares outstanding 
immediately prior to such an issuance.  Under the plan, the Board of Directors has the choice of either 
vesting or allowing options issued to be exercisable upon issuance.  Options are normally issued for a five-
year term. 
 
During the year ended October 31, 2020, 455,000 options expired. The expired options had an original 
estimated fair value of $51,500 which amount was transferred from contributed surplus to deficit. 
 
During the year ended October 31, 2019 there was no option activity. 
 
A summary of option activity for the years ended October 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 
     Number of     Weighted-average
           options     exercise price ($)
Balance October 31, 2018 and 2019  1,345,000   0.25
Expired   (455,000)   0.25
Balance October 31, 2020 890,000   0.25
 
The following table summarizes stock options outstanding and exercisable under the plan at October 31, 
2020: 
 

Options outstanding and exercisable   
      
     Weighted 
     average 

Number     exercise 
outstanding Expiry date    price ($) 

590,000 January 4, 2021   0.25
300,000 October 30, 2022   0.25
890,000   0.25

8. Income taxes 
 

 
 

a) Provision for Income Taxes

Major items causing the Company's effective income tax rate to differ from the combined Canadian 
federal and provincial statutory rate of 26.5% (2019 - 26.5%) were as follows at October 31:

2020 2019
$ $

Loss before income taxes (202,606)        (931,434)        

Expected income tax recovery based on statutory rate (53,700)          (246,798)        
Adjustment to expected income tax benefit:

Increase in (reduction of) unrecognized tax assets 53,700           246,798         
Deferred income tax provision -                -                
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9. Capital management 

The Company’s objective when managing capital, defined as its equity, is to safeguard its ability to 
continue as a going concern, and to pursue the exploration and evaluation of its properties. The Company 
manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and 
the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 
Company may from time-to-time issue shares and adjust its capital spending. The Company is subject to 
flow-through obligations to investors, which require it to use the funds raised through the issue of “flow-
through shares” on exploration expenditures.  To assess capital and operating efficiency and financial 
strength, the Company continually monitors its net cash and working capital.  The Company’s capital 
management objectives, policies and processes have remained unchanged during the the years ended 
October 31, 2020 and 2019.   
 
The Company is not subject to any capital requirements imposed by a lending institution or regulatory body.  
 

10. Financial instruments and risk management 
The carrying amounts for cash, amounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and loan 
payable approximate their estimated fair value due to the short-term nature of these financial instruments. 
 

b) Unrecognized Deferred Tax Assets

Deferred income tax assets have not been recognized in respect 
of the following deductible temporary differences: 2020 2019

$ $
Non-capital loss carry-forwards 1,087,000      1,054,000      
Share issue costs 69,000           21,000          
Exploration and evaluation property costs 7,185,000      6,970,000      
Total 8,341,000      8,045,000      

The tax losses in Canada expire after 20 years.
The other temporary differences do not expire under current legislation.

The Company has non-capital losses for income tax purposes of approximately $1,208,000 in Canada,
which may be carried forward and offset against future taxable income. These losses expire as follows:

$

2029 330,000    
2030 192,000    
2031 79,000      
2032 118,000    
2034 77,000      
2035 149,000    
2036 2,000        
2037 1,000        
2038 75,000      
2039 34,000    
2040 30,000      

1,087,000 
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Cash and amounts receivable, are recorded at amortized cost, which upon their initial measurement is 
equal to their fair value. Subsequent measurements are recorded at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method.  
 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities and loan payable are initially measured at their fair value. 
Subsequent measurements are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  

The Company's risk exposures and the impact on its financial instruments, as summarized below, have 
not changed significantly during the year. 

Credit Risk 
The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and amounts receivable. The Company has no 
significant concentration of credit risk arising from operations. Management believes that the credit risk 
concentration with respect to the financial instrument included in cash and amounts receivable is remote. 

Liquidity Risk 
The Company's main source of liquidity is derived from its share capital issuances. As at October 31, 
2020, the Company had current assets of $255,496 (October 31, 2019 - $13,843) to settle current 
liabilities of $139,074 (October 31, 2019 - $115,527). The current liabilities of $139,074 includes $61,741 
(2019 – Nil) of non-cash flow through share premium. The Company's financial liabilities generally have 
contractual maturities that are subject to normal trade terms.  

Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in market interest rates. The Company's exposure to interest rate risk is minimal. 

Market Risk 
Foreign Currency Risk 
The Company's functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar, and all expenditures are 
transacted in Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal. 
 
Price Risk 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. The Company closely monitors 
commodity prices to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company.  As the 
Company's properties are in the exploration stage and to date do not contain any identified mineral 
resources or reserves, the Company does not hedge against commodity price risk. 

Sensitivity Analysis 
Based on management's knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Company believes the 
following movements are reasonably possible over a twelve-month period: 
(i) The Company receives low interest rates on its cash balances and, as such, the Company does not 

have significant interest rate risk. 
(ii) The Company does not hold balances in foreign currencies to give rise to exposure to foreign exchange 

risk. 

11. Commitments and contingencies 
The Company's exploration and evaluation activities are subject to government laws and regulations, 
including tax laws, and laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment. The Company 
believes that its operations comply in all material respects with all applicable past and present laws and 
regulations. The Company records provisions for any identified obligations, based on management's 
estimate at the time. Such estimates are, however, subject to changes in laws and regulations. 
 
The Company has indemnified the subscribers of flow-through share offerings pursuant to subscription 
agreements with investors for amounts that may become payable by the shareholder as a result of the 
Company not having met its expenditure commitments on qualified items. 
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During 2020, the Company issued $156,075 in flow through shares. As at October 31, 2020, The Company 
has spent $92,135 of the related commitments to these flow through funds. The remaining amount of 
$63,940 must be spent by December 31, 2021. 
 
The Company’s operations could be significantly adversely affected by the effects of a widespread global 
outbreak of a contagious disease, including the recent outbreak of respiratory illness caused by COVID-19. 
The Company cannot accurately predict the impact COVID-19 will have on its operations and the ability of 
others to meet their obligations with the Company, including uncertainties relating to the ultimate 
geographic spread of the virus, the severity of the disease, the duration of the outbreak, and the length of 
travel and quarantine restrictions imposed by governments of affected countries. In addition, a significant 
outbreak of contagious diseases in the human population could result in a widespread health crisis that 
could adversely affect the economies and financial markets of many countries, resulting in an economic 
downturn that could further affect the Company’s operations and ability to finance its operations. 

12. Subsequent events 
On November 12, 2020, a total of 2,150,000 options were granted, vested immediately, and are exercisable 
at $0.075 until November 12, 2025. All of the options were granted to officers and directors. 
 
On January 4, 2021, 590,000 options expired. 
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BOLD VENTURES INC. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (“MD&A”) 
For the years ended October 31, 2020 and 2019 
 

1. GENERAL 

The following discussion and analysis provide an analysis of the financial results of Bold Ventures Inc. (“Bold” 
or the “Company”) For the years ended October 31, 2020 and 2019. The following information should be read 
in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the years ended 
October 31, 2020 prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  This 
MD&A is prepared in conformity with National Instrument 51-102 F1 and has been approved by the Board of 
Directors.  All monetary amounts, unless otherwise indicated, are expressed in Canadian dollars.  Additional 
information relating to the Company can be found on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com 

The date of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis is February 22, 2021.  

2. OVERALL PERFORMANCE AND OUTLOOK 

Performance highlights 

 

Farwell Gold and Base Metal Project 

On March 12, 2020 the Company signed an Option Agreement to option the Farwell Gold and Base 

Metals property. The Farwell Property is located approximately 55 km northwest of Wawa, Ontario. The 

claims are road accessible and consist of 103 Cell claims, 6 Multi-Cell claims and 6 Boundary claims 

comprising approximately 3,993 hectares or 9,867 acres. The Company has the option to earn a 100% 

interest in the Property by making aggregate cash option payments of $225,000, issuing an aggregate of 

1,650,000 common shares, and completing a total of $1,000,000 of exploration work on the property over 

a four-year period (with first-year exploration work expenditures of $90,000). The first payment of $20,000 

cash and 20,000 common shares has been paid to the vendors.  The vendors will retain a 3% net smelter 

royalty in the property, and the Company will have the right to buy back a 1.5% net smelter royalty in 

consideration for the payment of $2 million. 

 

On November 12, 2020, the Company announced it had completed a prospecting program on the Farwell 

Project under which a total of 102 samples were collected from the 3 key areas of interest across the 

property and were subjected to gold and trace element geochemical analysis. The ubiquitous nature of 

the anomalous copper, gold, silver, zinc and lead results indicate the potential for volcanogenic massive 

sulphide (VMS) type mineralization. Combined with the anomalous gold values that persist along the 2.5 

km long magnetic signature that is interpreted to be an extension of the Iron Lake deformation zone, the 

VMS potential of the property is encouraging.  

 
Wilcorp Gold Project 
The Company and the vendor have recently agreed to amend the Wilcorp Option Agreement. The 
amendment calls for a $5,000 payment on September 1, 2020 (paid), $5,000 November 1, 2020, $4,000 
December 31, 2020 and $8,000 on June 1 each year thereafter.  
 
In the fall of 2012, a reconnaissance prospecting program was carried out over seven top priority I.P. 
Anomalies as selected by Abitibi Geophysics. 62 samples were taken from different parts of the property 
and values ranged from <5ppb gold up to 14,403 ppb gold (14.4 g/t gold). Of this total, 16 samples 
returned values greater than 100 ppb gold and six returned gold values greater than 1,000 ppb (1.0g/t 
gold). Additional sampling, mapping and diamond drilling has been recommended. 
 
Lac des Mille Lacs Compilation Study 
The Company completed a data compilation study of an area within Northwestern Ontario that has been 
mandated by the Lac des Mille Lacs First Nation ("LdMLFN"). The identification and compilation of 

http://www.sedar.com/
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resource related information is part of a strategic initiative to develop knowledge, awareness and 
understanding of resources for LdMLFN and will be used as a tool for managing natural resources. Bold's 
technical team carried out the study that includes base and precious metals, industrial minerals and 
materials, aggregate, building stone and peat resources. 
 
During the second quarter of 2020, the Company was retained to produce a resource opportunities 
identification study for the LdMLFN. The Study was successful in identifying a number of opportunities 
related to resource development, mineral exploration and related business opportunities. 
 
Traxxin Gold Project 
Pursuant to an Option Agreement dated July 24, 2020, Bold acquired the option to earn a 100% interest 
in the Traxxin Gold Property over a three-year period by paying the aggregate sum of $150,000 cash, 
issuing an aggregate of 1,000,000 common shares of Bold and completing a total of $250,000 of 
exploration work on the claims over a three-year period. The first payment of $20,000 cash and 200,000 
common shares has been paid to the vendor.  The vendor will retain a 2% Net Smelter Royalty (NSR) of 
which Bold has the right to purchase a 1% NSR for $1 million leaving a 1% NSR in favour of the vendor.  
 
Pursuant to a joint venture with LdMLFN, LdMLFN has the right to earn a 50% interest in the Traxxin Gold 
Property from Bold by paying to Bold 50% of the cash option payments, 50% of the expenditure 
requirements and reimbursing Bold for 50% of the value of the shares issued pursuant to the Option. If 
the Option is earned and both parties maintain their interest in the Traxxin Gold Property, Bold and 
LdMLFN will form a joint venture for the further exploration and development of the Traxxin Gold 
Property. 
 
Financing 
During the year ended October 31, 2020: 

1. The Company completed shares for debt transactions issuing 1,975,567 common shares with a 
value of $118,034 to settle debts. 

2. Under private placements the Company raised a total of $573,325 by issuing 8,345,000 working 
capital units and 2,081,000 flow-through units. 

 

Outlook 
 
Overall the outlook and prospects for Bold are encouraging. The Company’s Farwell Gold and Base 
Metals Project, the Wilcorp Gold Project, the acquisition of the Traxxin Gold Project in joint venture with 
Lac des Mille Lacs First Nation and the Company’s Ring of Fire property interests, provide Bold with a 
diverse portfolio of opportunities: 
 

• The Company has the opportunity to acquire a 100% interest in three gold projects at Traxxin, Farwell 
and Wilcorp. The Traxxin Gold Option Agreement is in joint venture with Lac des Mille Lacs First 
Nation. 

• At the Koper Lake project an initial 43-101 level resource estimation was completed on December 15, 
2015 by KWG as part of their earn-in option. The drilling programs on the Koper Lake property, the last of 
which was completed in May 2014, have been successful in confirming that chromite mineralization does 
exist within the Koper Lake property directly to the east of the adjoining Blackbird deposit owned by Noront 
Resources.  

• On September 21, 2016 the Company earned a 50% working interest in Fancamp Exploration 
Limited’s Koper Lake property, and KWG earned an 80% interest in Bold’s interest in chromite and a 
20% interest in Bold’s interest in nickel and other non-chromite minerals. As a result, Bold’s current 
chromite interest is a “carried” 10%. If KWG fulfills the terms of Bold’s option to earn a 100% interest, 
Bold will have a 20% “carried interest” in chromite and an 80% interest in all other non-chromite 
minerals.   

• The Ontario Government has announced its support for the planning and construction of an all-
season road accessing First Nation communities and the Ring of Fire development area. Marten Falls 
First Nation is the proponent of an environmental assessment of the road development. Bold’s 
projects in and around the Ring of Fire will benefit from this development with improved access and 
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lower cost logistics. 
 

3. SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 

Audited data, for the years ended 
October 31, 

 2020 

$ 

2019 

$ 

2018 

$ 

Other income  6,188 6,156 61 

Net loss for the year     (202,606) (931,434) (127,724) 

Basic & diluted loss per share  (0.01) (0.04) (0.01) 

Total Assets  983,680 598,192 1,421,862 

 OF OPERATIONS  

4. RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

 
Overview 
The following table, which should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of the 
Company provides selected financial information: 

 
 
Notable operating expense items are outlined in the table that follows: 

 
 
Revenues 
None of the Company’s properties have advanced to the point where a production decision can be made. As a 
consequence, the company has no producing properties and no sales or revenues from that source. The 
company has been remunerated for certain contracts to provide technical services. 
 
During the year ended October 31, 2020, the Company realized a net loss of $202,606 (2019 – loss 
$931,434). During the year ended October 31, 2020 the Company wrote off exploration and evaluation assets 
in the amount of $16,740 (2019 - $810,490). 
 
 
 

2020 2019 2020 2019

$ $ $ $

Operating expenses             (48,173)             (21,898)           (197,548)           (127,100)

Net income (loss)             (48,326)           (584,408)           (202,606)           (931,434)

Basic and diluted loss  per share                (0.00)                (0.02)                (0.01)                (0.04)

Total assets            983,680            598,192            983,680            598,192 

For the three months ended

October 31,

For the years ended

October 31,

2020 2019 2020 2019

$ $ $ $

Salaries and management fees              12,356             (12,000)              69,031              23,070 

Professional fees              10,490              26,000              34,398              53,660 

Office and general              18,077                5,504              41,714              23,494 

Travel and promotion              13,594                3,857              26,174                8,755 

Transfer agent and filing fees               (6,344)               (1,463)              26,231              18,121 

Total operating expenses              48,173              21,898            197,548            127,100 

For the three months ended For the years ended

October 31, October 31,
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Acquisition and Exploration Expenditures 
During the year ended October 31, 2020 the company spent a total of $160,575 (2019 - $35,018) on 
exploration and evaluation assets as follows:  

 
 

Significant projects 
Bold is in the business of exploring for and developing mineral properties. Substantially all of the efforts of the 
Company are devoted to these business activities. To date the Company has not earned significant revenues 
from any of its ongoing projects. A description of each of the Company’s ongoing projects follows. 
 
(a) Northern Ontario properties - Ring of Fire 
(i) Dundee Corporation earn-in right 

Pursuant to an option agreement dated May 31, 2011 with a subsidiary (“Subco”) of Dundee 
Corporation, Subco had the right to earn up to a 33-1/3% interest in Bold’s Ring of Fire properties by 
funding $2,500,000 of exploration work by May 31, 2014. Upon expending $2,500,000 within a three 
year period, a joint venture is to be formed between the Company and Subco. During the year ended 
October 31, 2014 the $2,500,000 spending threshold was met and Subco earned its 33-1/3% interest. 
The properties that Subco has earned into to date are described in (ii) to (iv) below. 

(ii) Ring of Fire Claims 
The Ring of Fire Claim blocks, for which exploration expenditure requirements are in abeyance with 
the Ministry of Northern Development and Mines, pending completion of First Nation agreements, 
were staked to explore areas located to the north and west of the Ring of Fire area of the James Bay 
Lowlands. Located approximately 550 km north of Thunder Bay, these claim groups are named Areas 
55, 55E, 55E1, 55E2, 57 to 63 inclusive and 64 to 71 inclusive.  

(iii) Koper Lake 
Under an agreement dated May 4, 2012 with Fancamp Exploration Limited (“Fancamp”), subject to 
KWG Resources Inc.’s (“KWG”) interest as discussed in (iv) below, the Company has earned a 50% 
working interest in the Fancamp Ring of Fire property known as the Koper Lake Project. The Koper 
Lake Project property is situated approximately 530 km north east of Thunder Bay in the James Bay 
Lowlands of northern Ontario. The agreement called for the Company to make option payments 
totalling $1,500,000 and to incur exploration expenditures on the property of at least $8,000,000 over 
a 3-year period, which it did under the KWG option agreement during 2016, as discussed in (iv) 
below.  
 
A further 10% interest may be earned by Bold at any time by delivery of a positive feasibility study 
and by making a payment of $700,000 in cash and/or stock at the option of Bold. The estate of the 
Company’s former Chairman holds a 2% net smelter royalty interest (“2% NSR”) in the four claims 
that comprise the property. Bold Ventures maintains a right of first refusal on one-half (1%) of the 2% 
NSR. 

Outlays by expenditure category by project for the three month periods ended October 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

$ $ $ $ $ $

Staking and acquisition                         -                           -                        49,700                               -                49,700                       -   

Geological consulting                         -                           -                        92,725                               -                92,725                       -   

                        -                           -                     142,425                               -             142,425                       -   

Outlays by expenditure category by project for the years ended October 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

$ $ $ $ $ $

Staking and acquisition                         -                           -                        67,850                      28,000              67,850              28,000 

Geological consulting                         -                           -                        92,725                        7,018              92,725                7,018 

                        -                           -                     160,575                      35,018           160,575              35,018 

Northern Ontario properties Northwestern Ontario properties Total

Northern Ontario properties Northwestern Ontario properties Total
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In January 2013, the Company signed an agreement with Fancamp giving Bold the option to earn up 
to a 100% working interest in the Koper Lake property. The agreement provides that once Bold has 
earned its 60% interest in the Koper Lake property (it has currently earned a 50% interest as 
discussed in (iv) below), it will then have two options for a period of 90 days following the date it earns 
its 60% interest. Under the first option it can earn a further 20% interest by agreeing to pay Fancamp 
$15,000,000 payable in equal installments over three years with half of the amount payable in cash 
and the balance payable, at Bold’s option, through the issuance of common shares of Bold, or its 
assignee, at the market price at the time the shares are issued. If the first option is exercised, Bold 
would then have the option to acquire Fancamp’s remaining interest in exchange for a Gross Metal 
Royalty. Fancamp would then be entitled to be paid 2% of the total revenue from the sale of all metals 
and mineral products from the property from the commencement of commercial production. Once all 
of the capital costs to bring the Koper Lake project to the production stage have been repaid entirely, 
the gross metal royalty may be scaled up to a maximum of 4% of the total revenue from the sale of all 
metals and mineral products from the property depending upon the price of product sold. 

(iv) KWG Resources Inc. option on the Koper Lake property 
In March 2013, and amended October 23, 2015, the Company optioned its interest in the Koper Lake 
property to KWG. Under the terms of the option agreement, KWG assumed the obligation to make 
option payments totaling $1,500,000 and to fund the $8,000,000 exploration programs planned for the 
property; and as of September 21, 2016 KWG had met those obligations. As a result on September 
21, 2016, the Company earned a 50% working interest in Fancamp’s Koper Lake property; KWG 
earned an 80% interest in Bold’s interest in chromite and a 20% interest in Bold’s interest in nickel 
and other non-chromite minerals.  

  
KWG can acquire an 80% interest in chromite produced from the Koper Lake property by funding 
100% of the costs to a feasibility study leaving Bold and its co-venturer Subco with a 20% carried 
interest, pro rata. For nickel and other non-chromite minerals identified during the exploration 
programs, the parties have agreed to form a joint arrangement in which KWG would have a 20% 
participating interest and Bold and its co-venturer Subco would have an 80% participating interest, 
pro rata. KWG will have a right of first refusal to purchase all ores or concentrates produced by such 
joint arrangement whenever its interest in the joint arrangement exceeds 50%.  

 
(v) Rencore Claims 

Pursuant to an amalgamation completed on February 13, 2012, the Company acquired Rencore 
Resources Limited and all of the exploration properties and related obligations held by Rencore in the 
Ring of Fire (“Rencore claims”).  The Rencore claims consist of a 100% interest in mineral claims 
located north-northwest of Thunder Bay.  These properties are known as REN 6 and REN 8.   

 
Rencore has an option agreement dated May 31, 2011, as amended October 7, 2014, with a 
subsidiary (“Subco”) of Dundee Corporation for Subco to earn a 33-1/3% interest in Rencore’s Ring of 
Fire project by funding $2,500,000 of exploration work by March 31, 2014 (extended to the date when 
another exploration program is approved and budgeted for completion). Upon expending $2,500,000 
within the agreed timeline, a joint venture will be formed between Rencore and Subco.  Rencore will 
pay a finder’s fee, as funds are expended by Subco pursuant to the option agreement in tranches of 
$1,000,000, calculated as 2% of the funds expended satisfied in either common shares of the 
Company at the market price at the time of issuance, or twice that number of warrants exercisable at 
the market price for two years, subject to regulatory approval. At October 31, 2020 and 2019, 
$1,371,188 has been spent under this program. 

 
(b) Northwestern Ontario properties 
(i) Wilcorp Project 

Under an agreement dated February 24, 2012, and subsequent amendments, the Company acquired 
an option to certain property that is made up of patented claims and a staked mining claim.  
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The agreement calls for a $5,000 payment on September 1, 2020 (paid), $5,000 November 1, 2020 
(paid), $4,000 December 31, 2020 and $8,000 on June 1 each year thereafter.  The option may be 
exercised at any time, and the properties acquired, by the payment of $100,000 to the vendor. The 
vendor retains a 2% Net Smelter Returns Royalty (“NSR”) of which half may be purchased at any time 
by Bold for $500,000 cash. Bold retains a right of first refusal on the remaining 1% NSR.  
 
The terms of the agreement for the staked mining claim are a one-time payment of $12,000 (paid). 
The vendor retains a 1% NSR of which half may be purchased at any time prior to production for a 
cash consideration of $500,000. Bold retains a right of first refusal on the remaining 0.5% NSR.  

 
(ii) Traxxin Extension Gold project 

During 2017, the Company announced it had formalized an agreement with Lac des Milles Lac First 
Nation (LDMLFN”) and had staked 7 claims in the Bedivere Lake area of northwestern Ontario. The 
parties have shared the cost related to the claim staking equally, and each party owns 50% of the 
gold property. Bold is the operator of the claims. 
 
Pursuant to an Option Agreement dated July 24, 2020, Bold acquired the option to earn a 100% 
interest in the Traxxin Gold Property over a three-year period by paying the aggregate sum of 
$150,000 cash, issuing an aggregate of 1,000,000 common shares of Bold and completing a total of 
$250,000 of exploration work on the claims over a three-year period. The first payment of $20,000 
cash and 200,000 common shares has been paid to the vendor.  The vendor will retain a 2% Net 
Smelter Royalty (NSR) of which Bold has the right to purchase a 1% NSR for $1 million leaving a 1% 
NSR in favour of the vendor. 
 
Pursuant to a joint venture with LDMLFN, LDMLFN has the right to earn a 50% interest in the Traxxin 
Gold Property from Bold by paying to Bold 50% of the cash option payments, 50% of the expenditure 
requirements and reimbursing Bold for 50% of the value of the shares issued pursuant to the Option. 
If the Option is earned and both parties maintain their interest in the Traxxin Gold Property, Bold and 
LDMLFN will form a joint venture for the further exploration and development of the Traxxin Gold 
Property. 
 

(iii) Farwell Gold project 
On March 12, 2020, the Company optioned the Farwell Gold and Base Metals property. The Farwell 
Property is located northwest of Wawa, Ontario. The Company has the option to earn a 100% interest 
in the property by making aggregate cash option payments of $225,000, issuing an aggregate of 
1,650,000 common shares, and completing a total of $1,000,000 of exploration work on the property 
over a four-year period (with first-year exploration work expenditures of $90,000). The vendors 
retained a 3% NSR in the property, and the Company will have the right to buy back a 1.5% NSR in 
consideration for the payment of $2 million. 
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The following table sets out selected quarterly financial information for the eight most recent quarters (all 
reported under IFRS).  

 
Discussion of significant items affecting results by quarter: 
 
Q4 2020 - During Q4 2020, the Company realized a net loss of $48,326 (2019 – loss $584,408). During Q4 
2020 the Company wrote off exploration and evaluation assets in the amount of $Nil (2019 - $507,410). 
 
Q3 2020 - During Q3 2020, the Company realized a net loss of $59,449 (2019 – loss $268,059). During Q3 
2020 the Company wrote off exploration and evaluation assets in the amount of $Nil (2019 - $303,080) and 
realized a gain on debt settlement of $5,494 (2019 - $55,100). 
 
Q2 2020 – During Q2 2020 management fees amounted to 25,675 (2019 - $6,000). 
 
Q1 2020 - During Q1 2020, the Company realized a net loss of $45,374 (2019 – loss $45,541). During Q1 
2020; salaries and management fees were Nil (2019 - $23,070); there was a write-off of exploration and 
evaluation assets of $16,740 (2019 – Nil). 
 

5. LIQUIDITY 

The Company has no significant revenues and no expectation of significant revenues in the near term. In order 
to manage this risk, the Company closely monitors its cash requirements and expenditures to maintain 
sufficient liquidity.  
 
As at October 31, 2020, the Company had current assets of $255,496 (October 31, 2019 - $13,843) to 
settle current liabilities of $139,074 (October 31, 2019 - $115,527). All of the Company's accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities have contractual maturities that are subject to normal trade terms.  
 
Future exploration programs will depend on the Company’s ongoing ability to raise funds. Bold is an 
exploration stage company and continues to rely on equity offerings and other partnership arrangements to 
fund its exploration activities. There can be no assurance that funds will be available.  
 

6. CAPITAL RESOURCES 

The Company experienced normal operating conditions during the year. There were no events during the 
year, other than normal operating conditions, that affected the company’s capital resources. 

 

7. OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

As at October 31, 2020 the Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements. 

 
  Q4 

October 31, 
2020 

Q3 
July 31, 

2020 

Q2 
April 30, 

2020 

Q1 
January 31, 

2020 

Interest and other income (loss) $ (153) (1,777) 8,117 - 

Net income (loss) $ (48,326) (59,449) (49,457) (45,374) 

Net Loss per common share   $ (0.00) (0.01) (0.00) (0.00) 

Number of shares outstanding  37,935,615 28,079,049 28,079,049 25,134,049 

  Q4 
October 31, 

2019 

Q3 
July 31, 

2019 

Q2 
April 30, 

2019 

Q1 
January 31, 

2019 

Interest and other income $ - 6,156 - - 

Net Loss $ (584,408) (268,059) (33,426) (45,541) 

Net Loss per common share   $ (0.03) (0.01) 0.00 0.00 

Number of shares outstanding  25,134,049 25,134,049 24,980,049 24,980,049 
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8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 
During the years ended October 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had the following related party 
transactions:  
a. Director’s fees, professional fees and other compensation in the amount of $76,131 (2019 - $24,750), 

were paid or payable to directors and key management personnel in the form of short-term salaries 
and benefits; of this amount $12,500 (2019 - $1,680) was charged to exploration and evaluation 
assets, and $69,031 (2019 - $23,070) was expensed. 
- In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, 
including any directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company.  
- The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the compensation committee. 

a. During 2020 the Company’s President and a director agreed to a debt settlement arrangement under 
which 1,700,567 common shares of the Company were exchanged for settlement of $107,528 in 
debts owed to them; in addition, the Company’s president forgave $22,500 of debt owed to him.  
During 2019 the Company’s President and CFO agreed to a debt settlement arrangement under 
which 154,000 common shares of the Company were exchanged for settlement of $70,500 in debts 
owed to them. 

c.  Legal fees in the amount of $43,962 (2019 – $33,100) were paid or payable to a law firm whose 
partner is a director and an officer of the Company, of which $17,661 was charged to share capital as 
share issue expenses.  

 
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at October 31, 2020 was $26,912 (2019 - $64,410) 
owing to directors, and officers, companies owned by directors and officers, and a law firm whose partner 
is a director and an officer of the Company. These amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due 
on demand. 

9. EVENTS AFFECTING THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL CONDITION 

There were no events during the year, other than normal operating conditions, that affected the Company’s 
financial condition.  

10. PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 

There are no asset or business acquisitions or dispositions proposed by the Company at October 31, 2020 
other than those disclosed herein. 

11. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

On November 12, 2020, a total of 2,150,000 options were granted, vested immediately, and are 
exercisable at $0.075 until November 12, 2025. All of the options were granted to officers and directors. 
 
On January 4, 2021, 590,000 options expired. 

12. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. Estimates and judgments are continuously evaluated and are based on 
management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual outcomes can differ from these estimates. The key 
sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the 
amounts recognized in the financial statements are: 
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Capitalization of exploration and evaluation assets   
Management has determined that exploration and evaluation costs incurred during the year have future 
economic benefits and are economically recoverable. In making this judgement, management has 
assessed various sources of information including but not limited to the geologic and metallurgic 
information, history of conversion of mineral deposits to proven and probable mineral reserves, scoping 
and feasibility studies, proximity of operating facilities, operating management expertise and existing 
permits.  

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets 
While assessing whether any indications of impairment exist for exploration and evaluation assets, 
consideration is given to both external and internal sources of information. Information the Company 
considers includes changes in the market, economic and legal environment in which the Company 
operates that are not within its control that could affect the recoverable amount of exploration and 
evaluation assets. Internal sources of information include the manner in which exploration and evaluation 
assets are being used or are expected to be used and indications of expected economic performance of 
the assets. Estimates include but are not limited to estimates of the discounted future after-tax cash flows 
expected to be derived from the Company’s exploration properties, costs to sell the properties and the 
appropriate discount rate. Reductions in metal price forecasts, increases in estimated future costs of 
production, increases in estimated future capital costs, reductions in the amount of recoverable mineral 
reserves and mineral resources and/or adverse current economics can result in a write-down of the 
carrying amounts of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets. 
 
Income, value added, withholding and other taxes 
The Company is subject to income, value added, withholding and other taxes. Significant judgment is 
required in determining the Company’s provisions for taxes. There are many transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. 
The Company recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether 
additional taxes will be due. The determination of the Company’s income, value added, withholding and 
other tax liabilities requires interpretation of complex laws and regulations. The Company’s interpretation 
of taxation law as applied to transactions and activities may not coincide with the interpretation of the tax 
authorities. All tax related filings are subject to government audit and potential reassessment subsequent 
to the financial statement reporting period. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from 
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the tax related accruals and deferred 
income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.  

Share-based payments 
Management determines costs for share-based payments using market-based valuation techniques. The 
fair value of the market-based and performance-based share awards are determined at the date of grant 
using generally accepted valuation techniques. Assumptions are made and judgment used in applying 
valuation techniques. These assumptions and judgments include estimating the future volatility of the 
stock price, expected dividend yield, future employee turnover rates and future employee stock option 
exercise behaviors and corporate performance. Such judgments and assumptions are inherently 
uncertain. Changes in these assumptions affect the fair value estimates. 
 
Business combinations 
Determination of whether a set of assets acquired and liabilities assumed constitute a business requires 
the Company to make certain judgments, taking into account all facts and circumstances. Applying the 
acquisition method to business combinations requires the consideration paid and each identifiable asset 
and liability to be measured at its acquisition-date fair value. The determination of the acquisition-date fair 
values often requires management to make assumptions and estimates about future events. The 
assumptions and estimates with respect to determining the fair value of net identifiable assets acquired 
generally require a high degree of judgment, and include estimates of future reserves and resources, 
sales levels and discount rates. Changes in any of the assumptions or estimates used in determining the 
fair value of the consideration paid and the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities could impact the 
amounts assigned to assets, liabilities and goodwill in the purchase price allocation. 
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Covid-19 
The Company’s operations could be significantly adversely affected by the effects of a widespread global 
outbreak of a contagious disease, including the recent outbreak of respiratory illness caused by COVID-
19. The Company cannot accurately predict the impact COVID-19 will have on its operations and the 
ability of others to meet their obligations with the Company, including uncertainties relating to the ultimate 
geographic spread of the virus, the severity of the disease, the duration of the outbreak, and the length of 
travel and quarantine restrictions imposed by governments of affected countries. In addition, a significant 
outbreak of contagious diseases in the human population could result in a widespread health crisis that 
could adversely affect the economies and financial markets of many countries, resulting in an economic 
downturn that could further affect the Company’s operations and ability to finance its operations. 

13. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

During 2020 the Company adopted a number of new IFRS standards, interpretations, amendments and 
improvements of existing standards. These included IAS1, IFRS3 and IFRIC 23. These changes did not 
have any material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRIC that are mandatory for accounting periods 
beginning on or after November 1, 2020 or later periods. Many are not applicable or do not have a 
significant impact to the Company and have been excluded below. The following has not yet been 
adopted and is being evaluated to determine its impact on the Company. 

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”) and IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures (“IAS 28”) were amended in September 2014 to address a conflict between the 
requirements of IAS 28 and IFRS 10 and clarify that in a transaction involving an associate or joint 
venture, the extent of gain or loss recognition depends on whether the assets sold or contributed 
constitute a business. The effective date of these amendments is yet to be determined, however early 
adoption is permitted. 

14. OTHER RISK EXPOSURES 

The Company's risk exposures and the impact on its financial investments, as summarized below, have 
not changed significantly during the year. 

Credit Risk 
The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to amounts receivable. The Company has no 
significant concentration of credit risk arising from operations. Management believes that the credit risk 
concentration with respect to the financial instrument included in amounts receivable is remote. 

Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in market interest rates. The Company's exposure to interest rate risk is minimal. 

Market Risk 
 
Foreign Currency Risk 

The Company's functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and all expenditures are 
transacted in Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal. 
 
Price Risk 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. The Company closely monitors 
commodity prices to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company.  As the 
Company's properties are in the exploration stage and to date do not contain any identified mineral 
resources or reserves, the Company does not hedge against commodity price risk. 
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Sensitivity Analysis 
Based on management's knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Company believes the 
following movements are reasonably possible over a twelve-month period: 
(i) The Company receives low interest rates on its cash and cash equivalent balances and, as such, the 

Company does not have significant interest rate risk. 
(ii) The Company does not hold balances in foreign currencies to give rise to exposure to foreign 

exchange risk. 
 

In addition to the financial risks noted above, given the Company's current status as an exploration stage 
company, there are numerous additional risk factors that could affect the Company’s business prospects 
and future performance, including the following. These risks and uncertainties are not the only ones 
facing the Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Company, or that the 
Company currently deems immaterial, may also affect the Company’s business prospects and future 
performance. 
 
Additional capital 
The exploration and development of the Company’s mineral property interests will require substantial 
additional financing. Failure to obtain sufficient financing may result in the delay or indefinite 
postponement of exploration, development or production on the Company’s mineral property interests. 
The Company will also require additional funding to acquire further property interests. The ability of the 
Company to arrange such financing in the future will depend, in part, upon the prevailing capital market 
conditions as well as the business performance of the Company. There can be no assurance that the 
Company will be successful in its efforts to arrange additional financing on terms satisfactory to the 
Company. If additional financing is raised by the issuance of shares from treasury of the Company, 
control of the Company may change and security holders may suffer additional dilution. 
 
Operating history 
The Company has a very limited history of operations and must be considered a start-up. As such, the 
Company is subject to many risks common to such enterprises, including under-capitalization, cash 
shortages, limitations with respect to personnel, financial and other resources and an absence of 
revenues. There is no assurance that the Company will be successful in achieving a return on 
shareholder investment and the likelihood of success must be considered in light of its early stage of 
operations. 
 
Highly speculative business 
The nature of the Company’s business is highly speculative due to its proposed involvement in the 
exploration, development and production of minerals. Exploration for minerals involves many risks, which 
even a combination of experience, knowledge and careful evaluation may not be able to overcome. There 
is no assurance that any commercial quantities of ore will be discovered by the Company. The 
commercial viability of a mineral deposit, if discovered, depends upon a number of factors including the 
particular attributes of the deposit (principally size and grade), the proximity to infrastructure, the impact of 
mine development on the environment, environmental regulations imposed by various levels of 
government and the competitive nature of the industry which causes base metal prices to fluctuate 
substantially over short periods of time. Most of these factors are beyond the control of the Company. 
Mineral exploration and development are highly speculative and few properties that are explored are 
ultimately placed into commercial production. 
 
Insufficient resources or reserves 
Substantial additional expenditures will be required to establish either resources or reserves on mineral 
properties and to develop processes to extract the minerals. No assurance can be given that minerals will 
be discovered in sufficient quantities to justify commercial operations or that the funds required for 
development can be obtained on a timely basis or at all. 
 
Barriers to commercial production 
The Company will rely upon consultants and others for construction and operating expertise. The 
economics of developing mineral properties are affected by many factors including, but not limited to, the 
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cost of operations, grade of ore, fluctuating mineral markets, costs of processing equipment, competition, 
extensions on licenses and other factors such as government regulations, including regulations relating to 
title to mineral concessions, royalties, allowable production, importing and exporting of minerals and 
environmental protection. Many of the above factors are beyond the control of the Company. Depending 
on the price of minerals produced, the Company may determine that it is impractical to either commence 
or continue commercial production. 
 
Commodity price and exchange rate fluctuations 
The feasibility of mineral exploration is significantly affected by changes in the market price of the 
minerals expected to be produced. Mineral prices fluctuate widely and are affected by numerous factors 
beyond the Company's control. The level of interest rates, the rate of inflation, world supply of minerals 
and stability of exchange rates can all cause significant fluctuations in mineral prices. Such external 
economic factors are in turn influenced by changes in international investment patterns and monetary 
systems and political developments. 
 
Key officers, consultants and employees 
The success of the Company will be largely dependent upon the performance of its key officers, 
consultants and employees. Locating mineral deposits depends on a number of factors, not the least of 
which is the technical skill of the exploration personnel involved. Failure to retain key individuals or to 
attract or retain additional key individuals with necessary skills could have a materially adverse impact 
upon the Company’s success. The Company has not purchased any key-man insurance with respect to 
any of its directors, officers or consultants and has no current plans to do so. 
 
Title 
The mining claims in which the Company has an interest have not been surveyed and, accordingly, the 
precise location of the boundaries of the claims and ownership of mineral rights on specific tracts of land 
comprising the claims may be in doubt. Such claims have not been converted to lease and tenure, and as 
a result, are subject to annual compliance with assessment work requirements. Other parties may dispute 
the Company’s title to its mining properties. While the Company has diligently investigated title to all 
mineral claims and, to the best of its knowledge, title to all properties is in good standing; this should not 
be construed as a guarantee of title. The properties may be subject to prior unregistered agreements or 
transfers or land claims, including First Nations land claims and title may be affected by undetected 
defects. There is no guarantee that title to the Company’s properties or its rights to earn an interest in its 
properties will not be challenged or impugned.  Also, in many countries including Canada and the USA, 
claims have been made and new claims are being made by aboriginal peoples that call into question the 
rights granted by the governments of those countries in respect of resource properties. 
 
Maintaining interests in mineral properties 
The Company’s continuing right to maintain its ownership in its mineral property interests will be 
dependent upon compliance with applicable laws and with agreements to which it is a party. There is no 
assurance that the Company will be able to obtain and/or maintain all required permits and licenses to 
carry on its operations. Additional expenditures will be required by the Company to maintain its interests 
in its properties. There can be no assurance that the Company will have the funds, will be able to raise 
the funds or will be able to comply with the provisions of the agreements relating to its properties which 
would entitle it to an interest therein and if it fails to do so its interest in certain of these properties may be 
reduced or be lost. 
 
External market factors 
The marketability and price of minerals which may be acquired or discovered by the Company will be 
affected by numerous factors beyond the control of the Company. The Company will be affected by 
changing production costs, the supply or/and demand for minerals, the rate of inflation, the inventory 
levels of minerals held by competing companies, the political environment and changes in international 
investment patterns. 
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Governmental and regulatory requirements 
Government approvals and permits are currently, and may in the future, be required in connection with 
the Company’s operations. To the extent that such approvals are required and not obtained, the 
Company may be restricted or prohibited from proceeding with planned exploration or development 
activities. Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and permitting requirements may result in 
enforcement actions there under, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing 
operations to cease or be curtailed, which may include requirements for the Company to take corrective 
measures requiring capital expenditures, installation of additional equipment, or other remedial actions. 
Parties engaged in mining operations may be required to compensate those suffering loss or damage by 
reason of the mining activities and may be liable for civil or criminal fines or penalties imposed for 
violations of applicable laws or regulations. Amendments to current laws, regulations and permitting 
requirements, or more stringent application of existing laws, could have a material adverse impact on the 
Company and cause increases in capital expenditures or production costs or reductions in levels of 
production at producing properties or require abandonment or delays in the development of properties. 
 
Environmental regulations 
All phases of the Company’s operations are subject to environmental regulation. Environmental 
legislation is becoming stricter, with increased fines and penalties for non-compliance, more stringent 
environmental assessments of proposed projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for 
companies and their officers, directors and employees. There can be no assurance that environmental 
regulation will not adversely affect the Company’s operations. Environmental hazards may exist on a 
property in which the Company holds an interest which are unknown to the Company at present which 
have been caused by previous or existing owners or operators of the property. 
 
Environmental legislation provides for restrictions and prohibitions on spills, releases or emissions of 
various substances produced in association with certain mining industry operations, such as seepage 
from tailings disposal areas, which would result in environmental pollution. A breach of such legislation 
may result in the imposition of fines and penalties. In addition, certain types of operations require the 
submission and approval of environmental impact assessments. Environmental legislation is evolving in a 
manner which means standards, and enforcement, fines and penalties for non-compliance are more 
stringent. 
 
Environmental assessments of proposed projects carry a heightened degree of responsibility for 
companies and their directors, officers and employees. The cost of compliance with changes in 
governmental regulations has the potential to reduce the profitability of operations. There is no assurance 
that future changes in environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely affect the Company’s 
operations. The Company intends to fully comply with all environmental regulations in all of the countries 
in which it is active. 
 
Conflicts of interest 
Certain directors and officers of the Company are or may become associated with other natural resource 
companies which may give rise to conflicts of interest. In accordance with the Business Corporations Act 
(Ontario), directors who have a material interest in any person who is a party to a material contract or a 
proposed material contract with the Company are required, subject to certain exceptions, to disclose that 
interest and generally abstain from voting on any resolution to approve the contract. In addition, the 
directors and the officers are required to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of 
the Company. The directors and officers of the Company have either other full-time employment or other 
business or time restrictions placed on them and, accordingly, the Company will not be the only business 
enterprise of these directors and officers. 
 
Competition in acquiring additional properties 
Significant and increasing competition exists for mineral acquisition opportunities throughout the world. As 
a result of this competition, some of which is with large, better established mining companies with 
substantial capabilities and greater financial and technical resources, the Company may be unable to 
acquiring rights to exploit additional attractive mining properties on terms it considers acceptable. 
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Land access 
As of April 1, 2013, under the recently modified Mining Act, the Company is required to obtain permits to 
conduct exploration and evaluation activities on its Ontario properties. In management’s view there is 
uncertainty concerning the First Nation’s ability to comply with the legislation on a timely basis, and there 
is a risk of permitting delays. The impact of any delays on the Company’s operations is unknown. 
 
Dividend policy 
No dividends on the common shares of the Company have been paid by the Company to date. The 
Company intends to retain its earnings, if any, to finance the growth and development of its business and 
has no present intention of paying dividends or making any other distributions in the foreseeable future. 
 

15. OUTSTANDING SHARE, WARRANT AND OPTION DATA  

Common shares  
As at October 31, 2020, and the date hereof, there were 37,935,615 common shares of the Company 
outstanding.   
 
Warrants  
As at October 31, 2020, and the date hereof, there were 10,368,200 warrants outstanding.    
 
Options  
As at October 31, 2020 and the date hereof the Company had 890,000 and 2,450,000 options 
outstanding.  

Forward-Looking Statements 

Certain statements in this MD&A may constitute “forward-looking” statements which involve known and 
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or 
achievements of the Company and its subsidiary, or the industry in which they operate, to be materially 
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements.  When used in this report, the words “estimate”, “believe”, “anticipate”, “intend”, 
“expect”, “plan”, “may”, “should”, “will”, the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable 
terminology are intended to identify forward-looking statements.  Such forward-looking statements reflect 
the current expectations of the management of the Company with respect to future events based on 
currently available information and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results, 
performance or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied by those forward-
looking statements, such as reduced funding, currency and interest rate fluctuations, increased 
competition and general economic and market factors and including the risk factors summarized above 
under the heading “Risks and Uncertainties”.  New risk factors may arise from time to time and it is not 
possible for management of the Company to predict all of those risk factors or the extent to which any 
factor or combination of factors may cause actual results, performance or achievements of the Company 
to be materially different from those expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements.  Given 
these risks and uncertainties, investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as 
a prediction of actual results.  Although the forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are based 
upon what management believes to be reasonable assumptions, the Company cannot assure investors 
that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements.  The forward-looking 
statements contained in this MD&A speak only as of the date hereof.  The Company does not undertake 
or assume any obligation to release publicly any revisions to these forward-looking statements to reflect 
events or circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, except 
as required by law. 

CORPORATE DATA 

HEAD OFFICE 
 
Bold Ventures Inc. 
Bay Adelaide Centre – East Tower 

 SOLICITORS 
 
Gardiner Roberts LLP 
Barristers and Solicitors 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Shareholders of Bold Ventures Inc. 

 
Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bold Ventures Inc. and its subsidiaries 
(the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at October 
31, 2019 and 2018, and the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, 
consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the 
years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as at October 31, 2019 and 2018, 
and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Material uncertainty related to going concern 

We draw attention to Note 2 in the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the 
Company incurred a net loss during the year ended October 31, 2019 and, as of that date, the 
Company’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets. As stated in Note 2, these events or 
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate that material uncertainties 
exist that cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Other information  

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 



 

 
   

inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated 
financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the Company or cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risks of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 



 

 
   

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease 
to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
The engagement partner of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Jessica 
Glendinning. 
 
McGovern Hurley LLP 

 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
 
Toronto, Ontario 
February 27, 2020 
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Going concern (Note 2) 
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 6 and 13) 
Subsequent events (Note 14) 
 
Director                                           Director 
 
“Ian Brodie-Brown”                                     “David Graham”    
 
Ian Brodie-Brown                                    David Graham 
 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 
 
 
  

October 31, October 31,
(in Canadian Dollars) Notes 2019 2018

$ $

Assets

Current assets
Cash 11,649               43,458               
Amounts receivable 168                    13,052               
Marketable securities 5 -                     2,229                 
Prepaids and deposits 2,026                 3,302                 

Total current assets 13,843               62,041               

Exploration and evaluation assets 6, 7(a) 584,349              1,359,821           
Total assets 598,192              1,421,862           

Liabilities

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 7 105,527              106,263              
Loan payable 8 10,000               -                     

Total liabilities 115,527              106,263              

Equity
Share capital 9 11,265,438         11,166,938         
Contributed surplus 323,000              403,000              
Deficit (11,105,773)        (10,254,339)        
Total equity 482,665              1,315,599           
Total liabilities and equity 598,192              1,421,862           
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

(in Canadian Dollars) Note 2019 2018

Expenses
Salaries and management fees 7(a)  $          23,070  $          54,680 
Professional fees 7(c)             53,660              50,156 
Office and general             23,494              37,760 
Rent                    -                12,100 
Travel and promotion               8,755              12,557 
Transfer agent and filing fees             18,121              20,343 

Loss before the following           (127,100)           (187,596)

Interest and other income               6,156                    61 
(Write-off)/recovery of exploration and evaluation assets 6(b)           (810,490)              59,811 
           (804,334)              59,872 
Net (loss) and total comprehensive (loss) for the year  $       (931,434)  $        (127,724)

Net loss per share:

Basic and diluted loss per share, (Note 9) $            (0.04)  $             (0.01)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding - basic
and diluted (Note 9)       24,995,660 24,429,145       

ended October 31,
For the years
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(In Canadian Dollars)
Number of 

shares Amount
Contributed 

surplus Deficit
Total 

equity
Note $ $ $ $

Balance at October 31, 2017          23,480,049            10,977,938          940,117       (10,746,732)          1,171,323 
Common shares issued as consideration for an option agreement 9(a)(i)               400,000                  70,000                      -                        -              70,000 
Common share units issued 9(a)(ii)               800,000                200,000                      -                        -            200,000 
Estimated fair value of common share unit allocated to warrants 9(a)(ii)                          -                 (83,000)             83,000                        -                       - 
Common shares issued as consideration for an option agreement 9(a)(iii)                 20,000                    2,000                      -                        -                2,000 
Options expired 9(d)                          -                           -            (19,000)               19,000                       - 
Warrants and broker warrants expired 9(b)                          -                           -          (601,117)             601,117                       - 
Loss for the year                          -                           -                      -            (127,724)            (127,724)
Balance at October 31, 2018           24,700,049            11,166,938           403,000        (10,254,339)          1,315,599 

Balance at October 31, 2018          24,700,049            11,166,938          403,000       (10,254,339)          1,315,599 
Shares issued in partial settlement of an option payment 9(a)               280,000                  28,000                      -                        -              28,000 
Common shares issued as consideration for debt settlements 9(a)               154,000                  70,500                      -                        -              70,500 
Warrants expired 9(b)                          -                           -            (80,000)               80,000                       - 
Loss for the year                          -                           -                      -            (931,434)            (931,434)
Balance at October 31, 2019          25,134,049            11,265,438          323,000       (11,105,773)            482,665 

Share capital
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(in Canadian Dollars) 2019 2018
$ $

Cash flows from:
Operating activities

Net loss for the year        (931,434)        (127,724)
Adjustment for items not affecting cash:
Write-off of exploration and evaluation assets         810,490                  - 
Loss on sale of marketable securities                169                  - 

Changes in non-cash working capital items: 
Amounts receivable           12,884            (4,074)
Prepaids and deposits             1,277                 76 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities           69,763           44,561 
Cash flows from operating activities          (36,851)          (87,161)

Investing activities
Proceeds on sale of marketable securities             2,060             8,008 
Acquisition of exploration and evaluation assets            (7,018)        (226,311)
Cash flows from investing activities           (4,958)        (218,303)

Financing activities
Issuance of working capital units                    -         200,000 
Loan payable           10,000                  - 
Cash flows from financing activities           10,000         200,000 

Net change in cash          (31,810)        (105,464)
Cash, beginning of year           43,458         148,922 

          11,649           43,458 

Supplementary information

          28,000           72,000 
Debt settled for shares           70,500                  - 

Fair value assigned to common shares issued as 
consideration for an option to acquire an interest in a 
property

Cash, end of year

For the years
ended October 31,
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1. General information 

 
Bold Ventures Inc. (“Bold” or the “Company”) was incorporated on June 8, 1989 under the laws of British 
Columbia. On August 31, 2010, the Company filed Articles of Continuance to continue into Ontario and is 
now subject to the laws of Ontario as if it had been incorporated under the Business Corporations Act 
(Ontario).   
 
The Company is engaged in the acquisition, exploration and evaluation of mineral properties in Canada and 
the USA and is publicly listed on the TSX Venture Exchange.  The address of the registered office is Bay 
Adelaide Centre - East Tower, 22 Adelaide Street West Suite 3600, Toronto, Ontario M5H 4E3. 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the years ended October 31, 2019 and 2018 
were authorized for issuance in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors on February 27, 
2020. 
 

2. Going concern 
 
The Company’s ability to realize the costs it has incurred to date on its properties is dependent upon it 
being able to identify economically recoverable reserves; to finance their exploration and evaluation costs; 
to resolve any environmental, regulatory, or other constraints which may hinder the successful development 
of the reserves; and to attain profitable operations.  
 
The business of mining and exploration for minerals involves a high degree of risk and there can be no 
assurance that current exploration programs will result in profitable mining operations.  The recoverability of 
the carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets and the Company’s continued existence is 
dependent upon the preservation of its interest in the underlying properties, the discovery of economically 
recoverable reserves, the achievement of profitable operations, or the ability of the Company to raise 
alternative financing, if necessary, or alternatively upon the Company’s ability to dispose of its interests on 
an advantageous basis. These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties which cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Changes in future conditions 
could require material write downs of the carrying values. 
 
Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to the properties on which it is conducting exploration 
and in which it has an interest, in accordance with industry standards for the current stage of exploration of 
such properties, these procedures do not guarantee the Company's title. Property title may be subject to 
government licensing requirements or regulations, unregistered prior agreements, unregistered claims, 
aboriginal claims, and non-compliance with regulatory, environmental and social requirements. 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles 
applicable to a going concern. Accordingly, they do not give effect to adjustments that would be necessary 
should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern and therefore be required to realize its 
assets and liquidate its liabilities and commitments in other than the normal course of business and at 
amounts different from those in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Such adjustments 
could be material. It is not possible to predict whether the Company will be able to raise adequate financing 
or to ultimately attain profitable levels of operations.  
 
Details of deficit and working capital of the Company are as follows: 
 October 31, 2019 October 31, 2018 
  $ $ 
Deficit 11,105,773 10,254,339
Working capital (deficit) (101,684) (44,222)
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3. Basis of preparation   
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain 
financial instruments that have been measured at fair value. The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Canadian dollars which is the functional currency of the Company. 
 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). IFRS represents 
standards and interpretations approved by the IASB, and are comprised of IFRSs, International Accounting 
Standards (“IASs”), and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRICs”) and the 
former Standing Interpretations Committee (“SICs”). 

4. Significant accounting policies 
 
Basis of consolidation 
 
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its controlled 
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries consist of entities over which the Company is exposed to, or has rights to, 
variable returns as well as the ability to affect those returns through the power to direct the relevant 
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date control is transferred to the 
Company and are de-consolidated from the date control ceases. The consolidated financial statements 
include all the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries 
after eliminating inter-entity balances and transactions. 

The Company owns 100% of Rencore Resources Inc., a company engaged in exploration of the Ring of 
Fire area north northeast of Thunder Bay, Ontario. 

Exploration and evaluation assets 

Exploration and evaluation outlays relating to properties, that are incurred after the legal right to explore has 
been obtained, are capitalized until the properties are brought into production, at which time they are 
amortized on a unit of production basis. Other general exploration expenses are charged to consolidated 
statements of loss as incurred. The cost of properties abandoned, impaired or sold and their related 
capitalized exploration costs are expensed to consolidated statements of loss in the year of abandonment 
or sale. The amounts shown as exploration and evaluation assets represent unamortized costs to date and 
do not necessarily reflect present or future values. 

Costs include the cash consideration and the fair market value of shares issued for the acquisition and 
exploration of properties. The carrying value is reduced by option proceeds received until such time as the 
exploration and evaluation assets are reduced to nominal amounts. Properties acquired under option 
agreements, whereby payments are made at the sole discretion of the Company are recorded in the 
accounts at the time of payment. 

When a project is considered to no longer have commercially viable prospects for the Company, 
exploration and evaluation assets in respect of that property are assessed as impaired and written off to the 
consolidated statements of loss. The Company also assesses exploration and evaluation assets for 
impairment when other facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an asset may exceed 
its recoverable amount. 
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Impairment of non-financial assets 

At the end of each reporting period, non-financial assets are subject to impairment tests whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. Where the 
carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and fair 
value less costs to sell, the asset is written down accordingly. Any impairment is recognized in the 
consolidated statements of loss.  

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include short-term investments with original maturities of less than ninety days. 
The Company invests cash in term deposits maintained in high credit quality institutions. 

Provisions and decommissioning liabilities 

Provisions, which include decommissioning liabilities, are liabilities that are uncertain in timing or amount. 
The Company records a provision when:  

(i)  the Company has a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event;  

(ii)  it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation; and  

(iii)  a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  

Constructive obligations are obligations that derive from the Company’s actions where:  

 (i)  by an established pattern of past practice, published policies or a sufficiently specific current statement, 
the Company has indicated to other parties that it will accept certain responsibilities; and  

(ii)  as a result, the Company has created a valid expectation on the part of those other parties that it will 
discharge those responsibilities.  

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect management’s current 
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. 
If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. Provisions are reduced by actual expenditures for which the 
provision was originally recognized. Where discounting has been used, the carrying amount of a provision 
increases in each period to reflect the passage of time. This increase (accretion expense) is included in 
finance costs in the consolidated statements of loss.  

The Company did not have any material reclamation provisions or decommissioning liabilities as at October 
31, 2019 and 2018. 

Loss per share  

Basic loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding. Diluted loss 
per share is calculated by assuming that any proceeds from the exercise of dilutive stock options and 
warrants would be used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the period, with 
the incremental number of shares being included in the denominator of the diluted loss per share 
calculation. The diluted loss per share calculation excludes any potential conversion of options and 
warrants that would increase earnings per share or decrease loss per share.  During the years ended 
October 31, 2019 and 2018, all outstanding options and warrants were considered anti-dilutive and were 
therefore excluded from the diluted loss per share calculation. 
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Income taxes 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred income tax. Income tax is recognized in the 
consolidated statements of loss except to the extent it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive 
loss or directly in equity. 

Current income tax 

Current income tax expense is based on the results for the period as adjusted for items that are not taxable 
and not deductible. Current tax is calculated using tax rates and laws that were enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Management at the end of each reporting period evaluates 
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to 
interpretation. Provisions are established where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to 
the tax authorities. 

Deferred income tax 

Deferred income taxes are the taxes expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets in the financial statements and their corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit and are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and their corresponding tax bases. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be 
utilized. 

Refundable tax credits 

The Company is entitled to a credit on certain exploration expenditures incurred in the Province of Quebec. 
This credit is recognized as an exploration and evaluation asset recovery on the consolidated statements of 
financial position unless the property has been impaired in which case it is recognized in the consolidated 
statements of loss.  

The refundable tax credit for exploration expenditures is 28% of qualified expenditures incurred. The 
Company estimates the benefits to be recognized from refundable tax credits relating to qualified 
expenditures incurred. These receivables are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the Company 
has met all eligibility requirements for the expenditures in the period they are incurred. 

Flow through-share financings 

The Company periodically finances a portion of its exploration activities through the issue of flow through 
shares, which transfers the tax deductibility of exploration expenditures to the investor (referred to as 
renunciation). Proceeds received on the issuance of such shares up to the value of similar non-flow through 
shares are credited to capital stock and any difference between that amount and the issue price is 
recognized as a flow through share premium and recognized as a liability in the consolidated statements of 
financial position. Upon renunciation to the investor of the tax benefits associated with the related 
expenditures, a deferred tax liability is recognized and the liability previously recorded is reversed with any 
difference being recorded as a deferred tax recovery (expense). To the extent that suitable deferred tax 
assets are available, the Company will reduce the deferred tax liability and record a recovery on the 
consolidated statements of loss. The related exploration costs are charged to exploration and evaluation 
assets.  

Foreign currency translation 

The Canadian dollar is the functional and reporting currency of the Company’s operations. Monetary assets 
and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars at exchange rates in effect at the statement of financial 
position date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at historical exchange rates. Revenues and 
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expenses are translated at the rate at the time of the transaction. Any resulting gain or loss is recorded in 
the consolidated statements of loss. 

Revenue recognition 

Operator fee revenue is recognized by the Company as a percentage of exploration and evaluation 
activities undertaken by the Company on behalf of the option holder of the Ring of Fire property. Revenue 
is recognized as these exploration and evaluation expenditures occur. 

Financial instruments 

Accounting policy under IFRS 9 applicable from November 1, 2018 

Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Non-derivative financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified and measured as “financial assets 
at fair value”, as either FVPL or FVOCI, and “financial assets at amortized costs”, as appropriate. The 
Company determines the classification of financial assets at the time of initial recognition based on the 
Company’s business model and the contractual terms of the cash flows. 

All financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not at FVPL, 
directly attributable transaction costs on the trade date at which the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining their 
classification at FVPL or at amortized cost. 

Subsequent measurement – financial assets at amortized cost 

After initial recognition, financial assets measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured at the end 
of each reporting period at amortized cost using the Effective Interest Rate (“EIR”) method. Amortized cost 
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any fees or costs that are 
an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance income in the consolidated 
statements of loss. 

Subsequent measurement – financial assets at FVPL 

Financial assets measured at FVPL include financial assets management intends to sell in the short term 
and any derivative financial instrument that is not designated as a hedging instrument in a hedge 
relationship. Financial assets measured at FVPL are carried at fair value in the consolidated statements of 
financial position with changes in fair value recognized in other income or expense in the consolidated 
statements of loss. The Company’s marketable securities are classified as financial assets at FVPL. 

Subsequent measurement – financial assets at FVOCI 

Financial assets measured at FVOCI are non-derivative financial assets that are not held for trading and 
the Company has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to measure the assets at 
FVOCI. The Company does not measure any financial assets at FVOCI.  

After initial measurement, investments measured at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with 
unrealized gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive income or loss in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income (loss). When the investment is sold, the cumulative gain or loss 
remains in accumulated other comprehensive income or loss and is not reclassified to profit or loss. 
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Dividends from such investments are recognized in other income in the consolidated statements of loss 
when the right to receive payments is established. 

Derecognition 

A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or the 
Company no longer retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The Company’s only financial assets subject to impairment are other accounts receivable, which are 
measured at amortized cost. The Company has elected to apply the simplified approach to impairment as 
permitted by IFRS 9, which requires the expected lifetime loss to be recognized at the time of initial 
recognition of the receivable. To measure estimated credit losses, accounts receivable have been grouped 
based on shared credit risk characteristics, including the number of days past due. An impairment loss is 
reversed in subsequent periods if the amount of the expected loss decreases and the decrease can be 
objectively related to an event occurring after the initial impairment was recognized. 

Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured at FVPL as is 
the case for held for trading or derivative instruments, or the Company has opted to measure the financial 
liability at FVPL. The Company’s financial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities and 
loan payable, which are each measured at amortized cost.  All financial liabilities are recognized initially at 
fair value and in the case of long-term debt, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

Subsequent measurement – financial liabilities at amortized cost 

After initial recognition, financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured at the 
end of each reporting period at amortized cost using the EIR method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking 
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any fees or costs that are an integral part of the 
EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance cost in the consolidated statements of loss. 

Derecognition 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires 
with any associated gain or loss recognized in other income or expense in the consolidated statements of 
loss. 

Accounting policy under IAS 39 applicable prior to November 1, 2018 

The accounting policy under IAS 39 for the comparative information presented in respect of financial assets 
and liabilities, was similar to the accounting policy adopted in 2018: 

Financial assets and liabilities, including derivative instruments, are initially recognized and subsequently 
measured based on their classification as “fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)”, “available for sale” 
financial assets, “held to maturity”, “loans and receivables”, or “other” financial liabilities. FVTPL financial 
instruments are measured at their fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net loss for the period. 
Available for sale financial assets are measured at their fair value and changes in fair value are included in 
other comprehensive loss until the asset is removed from the consolidated statements of financial position 
or until impairment is assessed as other than temporary. Held to maturity investments, loans and 
receivables and other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method.  
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The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial 
instruments recorded at fair value by valuation technique:  

Level 1: The fair value measurements are classified as level 1 if the fair value is determined using quoted, 
unadjusted market prices for identical assets or liabilities.  

Level 2: The fair value measurements are classified as level 2 when inputs other than quoted prices in level 
1 which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly.  

Level 3: The fair value measurements are classified as level 3 when inputs require unobservable market 
data or use statistical techniques to derive forward curves from observable market data and unobservable 
inputs.  

Share-based payments 

The Company applies the fair value method of accounting for share-based payments granted to employees 
and other individuals providing similar services. The fair value of the options is determined using an option 
pricing model that takes into account, as of the grant date, the exercise price, the expected life of the 
option, the current price of the underlying stock and its expected volatility, expected dividends on the stock, 
and the risk free interest rate over the expected life of the option. Each tranche of an option that vests over 
time is considered a separate award and the fair value of each tranche is expensed over its vesting period 
with the corresponding credit to contributed surplus.  

Share-based payments granted to non-employees are measured at the fair value of goods received unless 
that cannot be reasonably estimated in which case the fair value of the share-based payments are used. 
The measurement date is generally the date the goods or services are received. 

Cash consideration received from employees on exercise of options is credited to share capital along with 
the original grant date fair value of the options exercised. The value of options forfeited before vesting is 
removed from contributed surplus and credited to operations, while the value of options that expire after 
vesting is credited directly to deficit. 

Warrants 

All warrants issued under a unit financing arrangement are valued on the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model, net of related issue costs and are recorded in contributed surplus. Expired 
warrants are removed from contributed surplus and credited directly to deficit. 

Recent accounting pronouncements 

Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRIC that are mandatory for accounting periods 
beginning on or after November 1, 2019 or later periods. Many are not applicable or do not have a 
significant impact to the Company and have been excluded below. The following has not yet been adopted 
and is being evaluated to determine its impact on the Company. 

IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements (“IAS 1”) and IAS 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors (“IAS 8”) were amended in October 2018 to refine the definition of 
materiality and clarify its characteristics.  The revised definition focuses on the idea that information is 
material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the 
primary users of general-purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements.  
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020.  Earlier 
adoption is permitted. 

IFRS 3 – Business Combinations (“IFRS 3”) was amended in October 2018 to clarify the definition of a 
business.  This amended definition states that a business must include inputs and a process and clarified 
that the process must be substantive and the inputs and process must together significantly contribute to 
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operating outputs.  In addition it narrows the definitions of a business by focusing the definition of outputs 
on goods and services provided to customers and other income from ordinary activities, rather than on 
providing dividends or other economic benefits directly to investors or lowering costs and added a test that 
makes it easier to conclude that a company has acquired a group of assets, rather than a business, if the 
value of the assets acquired is substantially all concentrated in a single asset or group of similar assets.  
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020.  Earlier 
adoption is permitted. 

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”) and IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures (“IAS 28”) were amended in September 2014 to address a conflict between the 
requirements of IAS 28 and IFRS 10 and clarify that in a transaction involving an associate or joint venture, 
the extent of gain or loss recognition depends on whether the assets sold or contributed constitute a 
business. The effective date of these amendments is yet to be determined, however early adoption is 
permitted. 

IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments (“IFRIC 23”) was issued in June 2017 and clarifies the 
accounting for uncertainties in income taxes.  The interpretation committee concluded that an entity shall 
consider whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. If an entity 
concludes it is probable that the taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, then the entity 
shall determine taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses and credits or tax rates consistently 
with the tax treatment used or planned to be used in its income tax filings.  If an entity concludes it is not 
probable that the taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the entity shall reflect the effect 
of uncertainty in determining the related taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses and credits 
or tax rates.  IFRIC 23 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. 

Changes in accounting policies 

Effective November 1, 2018, the Company adopted IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which resulted in 
changes in the accounting policy as described below. In accordance with the transitional provisions, the 
Company adopted this standard retrospectively without restating comparatives, with the cumulative impact 
adjusted in the opening balances as at November 1, 2018. There were no effects on opening balances at 
November 1, 2018 with respect to the adoption of this policy. 

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 replaces International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification, measurement and impairment of 
financial assets and hedge accounting. It establishes two primary measurement categories for financial 
assets: (i) amortized cost and (ii) fair value either through profit or loss (“FVPL”) or through other 
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); establishes criteria for the classification of financial assets within each 
measurement category based on business model and cash flow characteristics; and eliminates the existing 
held for trading, held to maturity, available for sale, loans and receivable and other financial liabilities 
categories. IFRS 9 also introduces a new expected credit loss model for the purpose of assessing the 
impairment of financial assets and requires that there be a demonstrated economic relationship between 
the hedged item and hedging instrument. 
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The following table shows the previous classification under IAS 39 and the new classification under IFRS 
9 for the Company’s financial instruments: 

 
Segmented information 

The Company currently conducts substantially all of its operations in Canada in one business segment.  

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Estimates and judgments are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. Actual outcomes can differ from these estimates. The key sources of estimation 
uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the amounts recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements are: 

Capitalization of exploration and evaluation assets   

Management has determined that exploration and evaluation costs incurred during the year have future 
economic benefits and are economically recoverable. In making this judgement, management has 
assessed various sources of information including but not limited to the geologic and metallurgic 
information, history of conversion of mineral deposits to proven and probable mineral reserves, scoping and 
feasibility studies, proximity of operating facilities, operating management expertise and existing permits.  

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets 

While assessing whether any indications of impairment exist for exploration and evaluation assets, 
consideration is given to both external and internal sources of information. Information the Company 
considers includes changes in the market, economic and legal environment in which the Company operates 
that are not within its control that could affect the recoverable amount of exploration and evaluation assets. 
Internal sources of information include the manner in which exploration and evaluation assets are being 
used or are expected to be used and indications of expected economic performance of the assets. 
Reductions in metal price forecasts, increases in estimated future costs of production, increases in 
estimated future capital costs, reductions in the amount of recoverable mineral reserves and mineral 
resources and/or adverse current economics can result in a write-down of the carrying amounts of the 
Company’s exploration and evaluation assets. 

Income, value added, withholding and other taxes 

The Company is subject to income, value added, withholding and other taxes. Significant judgment is 
required in determining the Company’s provisions for taxes. There are many transactions and calculations 
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Company 
recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be 

 Financial instrument classification 
 Under IAS 39 Under IFRS 9 
Financial assets   
Cash Loans and receivables Amortized cost 
Amounts receivable Loans and receivables Amortized cost 
Marketable securities FVPL FVPL 
 
Financial liabilities   
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other financial liabilities Amortized cost 
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due. The determination of the Company’s income, value added, withholding and other tax liabilities requires 
interpretation of complex laws and regulations. The Company’s interpretation of taxation law as applied to 
transactions and activities may not coincide with the interpretation of the tax authorities. All tax related 
filings are subject to government audit and potential reassessment subsequent to the financial statement 
reporting period. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were 
initially recorded, such differences will impact the tax related accruals and deferred income tax provisions in 
the period in which such determination is made. 

Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations 

Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations are estimated based on the Company’s 
interpretation of current legal or constructive obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental 
costs, which may arise when environmental disturbance is caused by the exploration and evaluation of a 
property interest.  Such costs are discounted to their net present value using a risk-free rate and are 
provided for and expensed as soon as the obligation to incur such costs arises. Discount rates using a pre-
tax rate that reflects the time value of money are used to calculate the net present value. The related 
liability is adjusted for each period for the unwinding of the discount rate and for changes to the current 
market-based discount rate and the amount or timing of the underlying cash flows needed to settle the 
obligation. The Company has no material restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations as at 
October 31, 2019 and 2018, as the disturbance to date is minimal. 

Share-based payments 

Management determines costs for share-based payments using market-based valuation techniques. The 
fair value of the market-based and performance-based share awards are determined at the date of grant 
using generally accepted valuation techniques. Assumptions are made and judgment used in applying 
valuation techniques. These assumptions and judgments include estimating the future volatility of the stock 
price, expected dividend yield, future employee turnover rates and future employee stock option exercise 
behaviors and corporate performance. Such judgments and assumptions are inherently uncertain. Changes 
in these assumptions affect the fair value estimates. 

Contingencies  
Refer to Note 13. 

Going concern 
Refer to Note 2. 

5. Marketable securities 
 

The Company's marketable securities were designated as fair value through profit and loss and were 
reported at fair value based on quoted market prices as follows: 

 October 31, 2019  October 31, 2018 
  $  $ 
KWG Resources Inc. -  2,229
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6.    Exploration and evaluation assets 

 
 
(a) Northern Ontario properties - Ring of Fire 
(i) Dundee Corporation earn-in right 

Pursuant to an option agreement dated May 31, 2011 with a subsidiary (“Subco”) of Dundee 
Corporation, Subco had the right to earn up to a 33-1/3% interest in Bold’s Ring of Fire properties by 
funding $2,500,000 of exploration work by May 31, 2014. Upon expending $2,500,000 within a three 
year period, a joint venture is to be formed between the Company and Subco. During the year ended 
October 31, 2014 the $2,500,000 spending threshold was met and Subco earned its 33-1/3% interest. 
The properties that Subco has earned into to date are described in (ii) to (iv) below.  

(ii) Ring of Fire Claims 
The Ring of Fire Claim blocks, for which exploration expenditure requirements are in abeyance with the 
Ministry of Northern Development and Mines, pending completion of First Nation agreements, were 
staked to explore areas located to the north and west of the Ring of Fire area of the James Bay 
Lowlands. Located approximately 550 km north of Thunder Bay, these claim groups are named Areas 
55, 55E, 55E1, 55E2, 57 to 63 and 64 to 71.  

During 2017 it was decided that no further exploration was warranted on areas 72 and 73 and as a 
result, deferred exploration and evaluation assets incurred in connection with these two areas in the 
amount of $21,481 were written off. 

(iii) Koper Lake Project 
Under an agreement dated May 4, 2012 with Fancamp Exploration Limited (“Fancamp”), subject to 
KWG Resources Inc.’s (“KWG”) interest as discussed in (iv) below, the Company has earned a 50% 
working interest in the Fancamp Ring of Fire property known as the Koper Lake Project. The Koper 
Lake Project property is situated approximately 530 km north east of Thunder Bay in the James Bay 
Lowlands of northern Ontario. The agreement called for the Company to make option payments 
totalling $1,500,000 and to incur exploration expenditures on the property of at least $8,000,000 over a 
3-year period, which it did under the KWG option agreement during 2016, as discussed in (iv) below.  
 
A further 10% interest may be earned by Bold at any time by delivery of a positive feasibility study and 
by making a payment of $700,000 in cash and/or stock at the option of Bold. The estate of the 
Company’s former Chairman holds a 2% net smelter royalty interest (“2% NSR”) in the four claims that 
comprise the property. Bold Ventures maintains a right of first refusal on one-half (1%) of the 2% NSR. 

For the year ended October 31, 
2018

Beginning 
balance

Acquisition 
costs

Exploration 
costs

Adjustments Proceeds Ending 
balance

($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)
Northern Ontario properties 482,773                -                  -                    -   -              482,773
Northwestern Ontario properties 182,400       113,720      194,098                 -   (10,053)        (1) 480,165
Quebec properties 396,337              146             400                  -   -              396,883
  1,061,510 113,866 194,498                  -   (10,053)        1,359,821
(1) Cost recoveries from Lac des Milles Lac First Nation on the Traxxin Extension Gold project $10,053.

For the year ended October 31, 
2019

Beginning 
balance

Acquisition 
costs

Exploration 
costs

Adjustments Write offs Ending 
balance

($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)
Northern Ontario properties 482,773                -                  -   (74,638)         -              408,135
Northwestern Ontario properties 480,165         28,000           7,018 (583)              (338,386)      176,214
Quebec properties 396,883                -                  -   75,221          (472,104)      -          
  1,359,821         28,000 7,018                  -   (810,490)      584,349
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In January 2013, the Company signed an agreement with Fancamp giving Bold the option to earn up to 
a 100% working interest in the Koper Lake property. The agreement provides that once Bold has 
earned its 60% interest in the Koper Lake property (it has currently earned a 50% interest as discussed 
in (iv) below), it will then have two options for a period of 90 days following the date it earns its 60% 
interest. Under the first option it can earn a further 20% interest by agreeing to pay Fancamp 
$15,000,000 payable in equal installments over three years with half of the amount payable in cash and 
the balance payable, at Bold’s option, through the issuance of common shares of Bold, or its assignee, 
at the market price at the time the shares are issued. If the first option is exercised, Bold would then 
have the option to acquire Fancamp’s remaining interest in exchange for a Gross Metal Royalty. 
Fancamp would then be entitled to be paid 2% of the total revenue from the sale of all metals and 
mineral products from the property from the commencement of commercial production. Once all of the 
capital costs to bring the Koper Lake project to the production stage have been repaid entirely, the 
gross metal royalty may be scaled up to a maximum of 4% of the total revenue from the sale of all 
metals and mineral products from the property depending upon the price of product sold. 

(iv) KWG Resources Inc. option on the Koper Lake property 
In March 2013, and amended October 23, 2015, the Company optioned its interest in the Koper Lake 
property to KWG. Under the terms of the option agreement, KWG assumed the obligation to make 
option payments totaling $1,500,000 and to fund the $8,000,000 exploration programs planned for the 
property; and as of September 21, 2016, KWG had met those obligations. As a result, on September 
21, 2016, the Company earned a 50% working interest in Fancamp’s Koper Lake property; KWG 
earned an 80% interest in Bold’s interest in chromite and a 20% interest in Bold’s interest in nickel and 
other non-chromite minerals.  

  
KWG can acquire an 80% interest in chromite produced from the Koper Lake property by funding 100% 
of the costs to a feasibility study leaving Bold and its co-venturer (a subsidiary of Dundee Corporation) 
with a 20% carried interest, pro rata. For nickel and other non-chromite minerals identified during the 
exploration programs, the parties have agreed to form a joint arrangement in which KWG would have a 
20% participating interest and Bold and its co-venturer (a subsidiary of Dundee Corporation) would 
have an 80% participating interest, pro rata. KWG will have a right of first refusal to purchase all ores or 
concentrates produced by such joint arrangement whenever its interest in the joint arrangement 
exceeds 50%.  

 
(v) Rencore Claims 

Pursuant to an amalgamation completed on February 13, 2012, the Company acquired Rencore 
Resources Limited and all of the exploration properties and related obligations held by Rencore in the 
Ring of Fire (“Rencore claims”).  The Rencore claims consist of a 100% interest in mineral claims 
located north-northwest of Thunder Bay.  These properties are known as REN 6 and REN 8.   

 
Rencore has an option agreement dated May 31, 2011, as amended October 7, 2014, with a subsidiary 
(“Subco”) of Dundee Corporation for Subco to earn a 33-1/3% interest in Rencore’s Ring of Fire project 
by funding $2,500,000 of exploration work by March 31, 2014 (extended to the date when another 
exploration program is approved and budgeted for completion). Upon expending $2,500,000 within the 
agreed timeline, a joint venture will be formed between Rencore and Subco.  Rencore will pay a finder’s 
fee, as funds are expended by Subco pursuant to the option agreement in tranches of $1,000,000, 
calculated as 2% of the funds expended satisfied in either common shares of the Company at the 
market price at the time of issuance, or twice that number of warrants exercisable at the market price 
for two years, subject to regulatory approval. At October 31, 2019 and 2018, $1,371,188 has been 
spent under this program. 
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(b) Northwestern Ontario properties 
(i) Wilcorp Project  

Under an agreement dated February 24, 2012, and subsequent amendments, the Company acquired 
an option to certain property that is made up of patented claims and a staked mining claim.  

 
The option agreement for the patented claims requires a payment by the Company of $14,000 on or 
before June 1, 2020 and $8,000 annually on June 1 of each year thereafter. The option may be 
exercised at any time, and the properties acquired, by the payment of $100,000 to the vendor. The 
vendor retains a 2% Net Smelter Returns Royalty (“NSR”) of which half may be purchased at any time 
by Bold for $500,000 cash. Bold retains a right of first refusal on the remaining 1% NSR.  

 
The terms of the agreement for the staked mining claim are a one-time payment of $12,000 (paid). The 
vendor retains a 1% NSR of which half may be purchased at any time prior to production for a cash 
consideration of $500,000. Bold retains a right of first refusal on the remaining 0.5% NSR. 
 

(ii) Traxxin Extension Gold project 
During 2017, the Company announced it had formalized an agreement with Lac des Milles Lac First 
Nation and had staked 7 claims in the Bedivere Lake area of northwestern Ontario. The parties have 
shared the cost related to the claim staking equally, and each party owns 50% of the gold property. 
Bold is the operator of the claims. 
 

(iii)  Stover Gold Project 
On November 17, 2017 the Company entered into an option agreement to acquire the Stover Gold 
Project. On June 14, 2019 the Company announced that it would be dropping its claims on the Stover 
Gold Project. The Company had attempted to raise the cash required to fund option commitments, due 
on May 31, 2019, that were necessary to retain its option on the property. Unfortunately, the Company 
was unable to do so and was also unable to negotiate an alternative proposal with the optionors. Under 
the agreement the Company incurred exploration and evaluation expenditures totalling $303,080 which 
amount was written off during the year ended October 31, 2019. 

 
(iv) J & B Lithium Project 

On February 12, 2018, the Company announced the acquisition of two separate claim groups located 
within the Georgia Lake Area Pegmatite field. The Jean claim group consists of 8 claims and the 
Barbara claim group consists of 2 claims. On August 15, 2018 the Company announced it had an 
option to acquire an additional 28 mining claims, known as the Pleason Claims, which were in the 
vicinity of the Company's Jean claim group. During the year ended October 31, 2019 the Company 
decided not to proceed with the J & B Lithium Project and costs incurred in the amount of $35,306 were 
written off during the year ended October 31, 2019. 

 
(c) Quebec properties 

The Quebec properties consists of the Lac Grasset claim groups. Lac Grasset comprises 50 claims in 
La Gauchitiere Township, Mattagami, Quebec straddling the Sunday Lake Deformation Zone. During 
the year ended October 31, 2019, the Company decided to discontinue exploration of the Lac Grasset 
claim group and costs incurred in the amount of $472,104 were written off during the year ended 
October 31, 2019. During 2018 the Company received $59,811 in refundable tax credits related to 2017 
expenditures on the property. 

 

7. Related party transactions 
During the years ended October 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had the following related party 
transactions:  
a. Director’s fees, professional fees and other compensation in the amount of $24,750 (2018 - $99,000), 

were paid or payable to directors and key management personnel in the form of short-term salaries and 
benefits. During the year ended October 31, 2019, $1,680 (2018 – $44,320) was charged to exploration 
and evaluation projects, and $23,070 (2018 - $54,680) was expensed. 
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- In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, 
including any directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company.  
- The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the compensation committee. 

b.  The Company’s President and CFO agreed to a debt settlement arrangement under which 154,000 
common shares of the Company were exchanged for settlement of $70,500 in debts owed to them. 

c.  Legal fees in the amount of $33,310 (2018 – $35,620) were paid or payable to a law firm whose partner 
is a director and an officer of the Company. 

 
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at October 31, 2019 was $64,410 (2018 - $62,225) 
owing to directors, and officers, companies owned by directors and officers, and a law firm whose partner is 
a director and an officer of the Company. These amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on 
demand. 
 
See Note 6(a)(iii). 

8. Loan payable 
The loan payable is unsecured, bears interest at 6% per annum, and interest and principal are due on 
October 16, 2020. 

9. Share capital 
 
Share consolidation: 
On February 3, 2020, the Company consolidated its outstanding common shares on a one-new-for-five-old 
basis. All share and per share figures in these consolidated financial statements have been presented on a 
retroactive basis showing the effect of this share-consolidation. 
 
Authorized and outstanding: 
The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares with no par 
value. At October 31, 2019, the Company has 25,134,049 (2018 – 24,700,049) common shares issued and 
outstanding. 

 
(a) Share activity: 
During the year ended October 31, 2019 the Company issued 280,000 common shares in partial 
satisfaction of an option commitment, and 154,000 common shares in satisfaction of $70,500 debts owed 
by the Company. The 280,000 shares were valued at $28,000, and the 154,000 shares were valued at 
$15,400, with the gain on the debt settlement of $55,100 being reflected as an addition to the shares 
issued. The gain on the debt settlement has been recognized directly in equity as the creditors are 
shareholders of the Company. The value attributed to the shares in both transactions was the market value 
of the shares on the day they were issued. 
 
During 2018 the Company had the following common share activities: 

(i) On November 17, 2017 the Company issued 400,000 common shares in connection with an option 
agreement to acquire the Stover Gold Project. The shares have been valued at $70,000, being the market 
price of the shares on the day they were issued. 

(ii) On January 26, 2018 the Company issued 800,000 working capital units in connection with a private 
placement for proceeds of $200,000. Each unit comprises one common share of the Company and one 
common share purchase warrant, with each warrant entitling the holder to acquire one common share at a 
price of $0.25 until January 26, 2023.  

The value of the warrants was estimated at $83,000 using the Black Scholes pricing model. 
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(iii) On August 29, 2018 the Company issued 20,000 common shares in connection with an option 
agreement to acquire property that is contiguous to the J&B Lithium Project. The shares have been valued 
at $2,000, being the market price of the shares on the day they were issued. 
 
(b) Warrants 
During the year ended October 31, 2019, 800,000 warrants expired with an estimated value of $80,000, 
which amount was charged to deficit. 
 
During 2018 the Company had the following warrant activity: 
 
(i) The Company issued a total of 800,000 warrants in connection with the private placement described in 
9(a)(ii). The warrants have been valued at $83,000 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on 
the following weighted average assumptions:  

Expected dividend yield         0% 
Expected annual volatility                     147% 
Risk-free interest rate                           2.06% 

                                    Expected average life                          5 years 
 
A summary of warrant activity for the year ended October 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 

   
Weighted-
average 

  
Number of 
warrants** 

exercise price 
($) 

Balance, October 31, 2017 9,604,954 0.350
Warrants issued under a private placement 800,000 0.250
Warrants expired (1) (8,048,954) 0.350
Balance, October 31, 2018 2,356,000 0.370
Warrants expired (1) (800,000 )               0.600
Balance, October 31, 2019 1,556,000 0.250
(1) The 8,048,954 warrants that expired in fiscal 2018 had an original estimated value of $601,117 which 
amount was transferred to deficit in 2018. The 800,000 warrants that expired in the year ended October 31, 
2019 had an original estimated value of $80,000 which amount was transferred to deficit. 
 
As at October 31, 2019 the following common share purchase warrants were outstanding: 

Expiration date 
Number of 
 Warrants** 

Exercise 
 Price ($) 

21-July-2020 756,000 0.250 
26-Jan-2023 800,000 0.250 

Balance, October 31, 2019 1,556,000  0.250 
**The warrant balances reported include the warrants underlying the Broker Warrants noted in (c). 
 
(c) Broker Warrant units 
A summary of broker warrant activity for the years ended October 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 

   
Weighted-
average 

  
Number of 
warrants 

exercise price 
($) 

Balance, October 31, 2017 716,562 0.315
Warrants expired   (660,562) 0.315
Balance, October 31, 2018 and 2019 56,000 0.250
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As at October 31, 2019 the following broker warrant units were outstanding: 

Expiration date 

Number of 
Broker 

Warrant units 
Exercise 
 Price ($) 

21-July-2020 56,000 0.250 
Balance, October 31, 2019 56,000 0.250 

 
(d) Options 
The Company has established a stock option plan pursuant to which options to purchase common shares 
may be granted to certain officers, directors, and employees of the Company as well as persons providing 
ongoing services to the Company.  The maximum number of common shares reserved for issuance upon 
the exercise of options is not to exceed 10% of the total number of common shares outstanding 
immediately prior to such an issuance.  Under the plan, the Board of Directors has the choice of either 
vesting or allowing options issued to be exercisable upon issuance.  Options are normally issued for a five-
year term. 
 
During the year ended October 31, 2019 there was no option activity. 
 
During the year ended October 31, 2018, 110,000 options expired with an original value of $19,000, which 
amount was offset to deficit. 
 
A summary of option activity for the years ended October 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 
     Number of     Weighted-average
           options     exercise price ($)
Balance October 31, 2017 1,455,000   0.25
Expired (110,000)   0.25
Balance October 31, 2018 and October 31, 2019 1,345,000   0.25
 
The following table summarizes stock options outstanding and exercisable under the plan at October 31, 
2019: 

Options outstanding and exercisable   
      
     Weighted 
     average 

Number     exercise 
outstanding Expiry date    price ($) 

905,000 January 4, 2021   0.25
20,000 July 25, 2021   0.25

420,000 October 16, 2022   0.25
1,345,000   0.25
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10. Income taxes 

 

 

a) Provision for Income Taxes

Major items causing the Company's effective income tax rate to differ from the combined Canadian 
federal and provincial statutory rate of 26.5% (2018 - 26.5%) were as follows at October 31:

2019 2018
$ $

Loss before income taxes (931,434)        (127,724)        

Expected income tax recovery based on statutory rate (246,798)        (33,855)         
Adjustment to expected income tax benefit:

Other -                49,600          
Increase in (reduction of) unrecognized tax assets 246,798         (15,745)         

Deferred income tax provision -                -                

b) Unrecognized Deferred Tax Assets

Deferred income tax assets have not been recognized in respect 
of the following amounts and deductible temporary differences: 2019 2018

$ $
Non-capital loss carry-forwards 1,054,000      1,022,000      
Share issue costs 21,000           66,000          
Exploration and evaluation property costs 6,970,000      6,039,000      
Other temporary differences -                11,000          
Total 8,045,000      7,138,000      

The tax losses in Canada expire after 20 years.
The other temporary differences do not expire under current legislation.

The Company has non-capital losses for income tax purposes of approximately $1,054,000 in Canada,
which may be carried forward and offset against future taxable income. These losses expire as follows:

$

2029 330,000    
2030 192,000    
2031 79,000      
2032 118,000    
2034 77,000      
2035 149,000    
2036 2,000        
2037 1,000        
2038 74,000      
2039 32,000      

1,054,000 
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11. Capital management 
The Company’s objective when managing capital, defined as its equity, is to safeguard its ability to 
continue as a going concern, and to pursue the exploration and evaluation of its properties. The Company 
manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and 
the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 
Company may from time to time issue shares and adjust its capital spending. The Company is subject to 
flow-through obligations to investors, which require it to use the funds raised through the issue of “flow-
through shares” on exploration expenditures.  To assess capital and operating efficiency and financial 
strength, the Company continually monitors its net cash and working capital.  The Company’s capital 
management objectives, policies and processes have remained unchanged during the years ended 
October 31, 2019 and 2018.   
 
The Company is not subject to any capital requirements imposed by a lending institution or regulatory body.  
 

12. Financial instruments and risk management 
The carrying amounts for cash, amounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and loan 
payable approximate their estimated fair value due to the short-term nature of these financial instruments. 
 
Cash and amounts receivable, are recorded at amortized cost, which upon their initial measurement is 
equal to their fair value. Subsequent measurements are recorded at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method.  
 
Marketable securities are classified as FVTPL and are measured at fair value. 
 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities and loan payable are initially measured at their fair value. 
Subsequent measurements are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  
 
The Company’s financial instruments that are carried at fair value consist of marketable securities. The 
marketable securities have been classified as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy. 

The Company's risk exposures and the impact on its financial instruments, as summarized below, have 
not changed significantly during the year. 

Credit Risk 
The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to amounts receivable. The Company has no significant 
concentration of credit risk arising from operations. Management believes that the credit risk 
concentration with respect to the financial instrument included in amounts receivable is remote. 

Liquidity Risk 
The Company's main source of liquidity is derived from its common stock issuances. As at October 31, 
2019, the Company had current assets of $13,843 (October 31, 2018 - $62,041) to settle current liabilities 
of $115,527 (October 31, 2018 - $106,263). The Company's financial liabilities generally have contractual 
maturities that are subject to normal trade terms.  

Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in market interest rates. The Company's exposure to interest rate risk is minimal. 

Market Risk 
Foreign Currency Risk 
The Company's functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and all expenditures are 
transacted in Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal. 
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Price Risk 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. The Company closely monitors 
commodity prices to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company.  As the 
Company's properties are in the exploration stage and to date do not contain any identified mineral 
resources or reserves, the Company does not hedge against commodity price risk. 

Sensitivity Analysis 
Based on management's knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Company believes the 
following movements are reasonably possible over a twelve-month period: 
(i) The Company receives low interest rates on its cash and cash equivalent balances and, as such, the 

Company does not have significant interest rate risk. 
(ii) The Company does not hold balances in foreign currencies to give rise to exposure to foreign exchange 

risk. 

13. Commitments and contingencies 
The Company's exploration and evaluation activities are subject to government laws and regulations, 
including tax laws, and laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment. The Company 
believes that its operations comply in all material respects with all applicable past and present laws and 
regulations. The Company records provisions for any identified obligations, based on management's 
estimate at the time. Such estimates are, however, subject to changes in laws and regulations. 
 
The Company has indemnified the subscribers of flow-through share offerings pursuant to subscription 
agreements with investors for amounts that may become payable by the shareholder as a result of the 
Company not having met its expenditure commitments on qualified items. 
 
On May 26, 2015, a legal action in the amount of $500,000 was commenced by the Crown against the 
Company, and three other parties, for damages arising from a forest fire that the parties to the suit are 
alleged to be responsible for. The Company does not believe it is liable; however, the Company believes 
that it has sufficient insurance coverage to pay any amounts that it may be found liable for. 

14. Subsequent events 
On January 6, 2020 the Company announced it had signed a letter agreement to option the Farwell Gold 
and Base Metals property. The Farwell Property is located approximately 55 km northwest of Wawa, 
Ontario. The claims are road accessible and consist of 103 Cell claims, 6 Multi-Cell claims and 6 Boundary 
claims. The Company has the option to earn a 100% interest in the property by making aggregate cash 
option payments of $225,000, issuing an aggregate of 1,650,000 common shares, and completing a total of 
$1,000,000 of exploration work on the property over a four-year period (with first-year exploration work 
expenditures of $90,000). The option agreement is subject to TSX Venture Exchange approval, signing a 
definitive agreement and financing. The vendors will retain a 3% net smelter royalty in the property, and the 
Company will have the right to buy back a 1.5% net smelter royalty in consideration for the payment of $2 
million. 
 
On February 3, 2020, the Company consolidated its outstanding common shares on a one-new-for-five-old 
basis. All share and per share figures in these consolidated financial statements have been presented on a 
retroactive basis showing the effect of this share-consolidation. 
 
On February 12, 2020 the Company announced it closed the first tranche of a non-brokered private 
placement, announced on February 5, 2020, and raised $122,250 through the issuance of 2,445,000 
working capital units. Each working capital unit is priced at $0.05 and comprises one common share of the 
Company priced at $0.05 and one common share purchase warrant, with each warrant entitling the holder 
to acquire one common share at a price of $0.10 until February 11, 2022. 
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BOLD VENTURES INC. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (“MD&A”) 
For the years ended October 31, 2019 and 2018 
 

1. GENERAL 

The following discussion and analysis provide an analysis of the financial results of Bold Ventures Inc. (“Bold” 
or the “Company”) for the years ended October 31, 2019 and 2018. The following information should be read 
in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the year ended 
October 31, 2019 prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  This 
MD&A is prepared in conformity with National Instrument 51-102 F1 and has been approved by the Board of 
Directors.  All monetary amounts, unless otherwise indicated, are expressed in Canadian dollars.  Additional 
information relating to the Company can be found on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com 

The date of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis is February 27, 2020.  

2. OVERALL PERFORMANCE AND OUTLOOK 

Performance highlights 
Wilcorp Gold Project 
The Company and the vendor have recently agreed to amend the Wilcorp Option Agreement. The amendment 
calls for a $14,000 payment or before June 1, 2020 and $8,000 on June 1 each year thereafter.  
 
In the fall of 2012, a reconnaissance prospecting program was carried out over seven top priority I.P. 
Anomalies as selected by Abitibi Geophysics. 62 samples were taken from different parts of the property and 
values ranged from <5ppb gold up to 14, 403 ppb gold (14.4 g/t gold). Of this total, 16 samples returned values 
greater than 100 ppb gold and six returned gold values greater than 1,000 ppb (1.0g/t gold). Additional 
sampling, mapping and diamond drilling has been recommended. 
 

Lac des Mille Lacs Compilation Study 
The Company completed a data compilation study of an area within Northwestern Ontario that has been 
mandated by the Lac des Mille Lacs First Nation ("LdMLFN"). The identification and compilation of resource 
related information is part of a strategic initiative to develop knowledge, awareness and understanding of 
resources for LdMLFN and will be used as a tool for managing natural resources. Bold's technical team carried 
out the study that includes base and precious metals, industrial minerals and materials, aggregate, building 
stone and peat resources. 

 

On January 6, 2020 the Company announced it had signed a letter agreement to option the Farwell Gold and 

Base Metals property. The Farwell Property is located approximately 55 km northwest of Wawa, Ontario. The 

claims are road accessible and consist of 103 Cell claims, 6 Multi-Cell claims and 6 Boundary claims 

comprising approximately 3,993 hectares or 9,867 acres. The Company has the option to earn a 100% interest 

in the Property by making aggregate cash option payments of $225,000, issuing an aggregate of 1,650,000 

common shares, and completing a total of $1,000,000 of exploration work on the property over a four-year 

period (with first-year exploration work expenditures of $90,000). The option agreement is subject to the signing 

of a definitive agreement, TSX Venture Exchange approval, and financing. The vendors will retain a 3% net 

smelter royalty in the property, and the Company will have the right to buy back a 1.5% net smelter royalty in 

consideration for the payment of $2 million. 

On February 12, 2020 the Company announced it closed the first tranche of a non-brokered private placement, 

announced on February 5, 2020, and raised $122,250 through the issuance of 2,445,000 working capital units. 

 

Outlook 
Overall the outlook and prospects for Bold are encouraging. The Company’s Ring of Fire property 
interests in Northern Ontario, the Wilcorp Gold Project, the Traxxin Extension Gold Project and the option 

http://www.sedar.com/
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to acquire the Farwell gold and base metals property provide the Company with a diverse portfolio of 
opportunities: 

• At the Koper Lake project an initial 43-101 level resource estimation was completed on December 15, 
2015 by KWG as part of their earn-in option. The drilling programs on the Koper Lake property, the last of 
which was completed in May 2014, have been successful in confirming that chromite mineralization does 
exist within the Koper Lake property directly to the east of the adjoining Blackbird deposit owned by Noront 
Resources.  

• At September 21, 2016 the Company earned a 50% working interest in Fancamp Exploration 
Limited’s Koper Lake property, and KWG earned an 80% interest in Bold’s interest in chromite and a 
20% interest in Bold’s interest in nickel and other non-chromite minerals. As a result, Bold’s current 
chromite interest is a “carried” 10%. If KWG fulfills the terms of Bold’s option to earn a 100% interest, 
Bold will have a 20% “carried interest”   

• The Ontario Government has announced its support for the planning and construction of an all-
season road accessing First Nation communities and the Ring of Fire development area. Bold’s 
projects in and around the Ring of Fire will benefit from this development with improved access and 
lower cost logistics.  

 

3. SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 

Audited data, for the years ended 
October 31, 

 2019 

$ 

2018 

$ 

2017 

$ 

Interest and other income  6,156 61 10,293 

Net loss for the year  (931,434) (127,724) (1,607,899) 

Basic & diluted loss per share  (0.04) (0.01) (0.07) 

Total Assets  598,192 1,421,862 1,233,025 

 
 OF OPERATIONS  

Overview 
The following table, which should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of the 
Company provides selected financial information: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2019 2018 2019 2018

$ $ $ $

Interest and other income                 -                   -                 6,156                    61 

Operating expenses         (21,898)         (25,871)           (127,100)           (187,596)

Net income (loss)       (584,408)         (25,871)           (931,434)           (127,724)

Basic and diluted loss  per share             (0.03)             (0.00)                (0.04)                 (0.01)

Total assets        598,192      1,421,862            598,192          1,421,862 

For the three months ended

October 31,

For the years ended

October 31,
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Notable operating expense items are outlined in the table that follows: 

 
 
Revenues 
None of the Company’s properties have advanced to the point where a production decision can be made. As a 
consequence, the company has no producing properties and no sales or revenues from that source. 
 
During the year ended October 31, 2019, the Company realized a net loss of $931,434 (2018 – loss 
$127,724). During the year ended October 31, 2019 there was a write-off of exploration and evaluation assets 
of $810,490 (2018 – a recovery of $59,811). The Company is making every effort to conserve cash. 
 
Acquisition and Exploration Expenditures 
During the year ended October 31, 2019 the company spent a total of $35,018 (2018 - $298,311) on 
exploration and evaluation assets as follows:  

 

 
Significant projects 
Bold is in the business of exploring for and developing mineral properties. Substantially all of the efforts of the 
Company are devoted to these business activities. To date the Company has not earned significant revenues 
from any of its ongoing projects. A description of each of the Company’s ongoing projects follows. 
 
(a) Northern Ontario properties - Ring of Fire 
(i) Dundee Corporation earn-in right 

Pursuant to an option agreement dated May 31, 2011 with a subsidiary (“Subco”) of Dundee 
Corporation, Subco had the right to earn up to a 33-1/3% interest in Bold’s Ring of Fire properties by 
funding $2,500,000 of exploration work by May 31, 2014. Upon expending $2,500,000 within a three 

2019 2018 2019 2018

$ $ $ $

Salaries and management fees         (12,000)         (19,570)             23,070              54,680 

Professional fees          26,000          23,284             53,660              50,156 

Office and general            5,504          16,095             23,494              37,760 

Rent                 -              2,200                    -                12,100 

Travel and promotion            3,857           (2,751)               8,755              12,557 

Transfer agent and filing fees           (1,463)            6,613             18,121              20,343 

Total operating expenses          21,898          25,871            127,100            187,596 

For the three months ended For the years ended

October 31, October 31,

Outlays by expenditure category by project for the three month periods ended October 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Staking and acquisition                         -                           -                                 -                          2,000                       -                         -                         -                  2,000 

Geological consulting                         -                           -                                 -                     111,179                       -                         -                         -             111,179 

                        -                           -                                 -                     113,179                       -                         -                         -             113,179 

Northern Ontario properties Northwestern Ontario properties Quebec properties Total

Outlays by expenditure category by project for the years ended October 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Staking and acquisition                         -                           -                        28,000                   103,667                       -                     146              28,000           103,813 

Airborne/geological survey                         -                           -                                 -                        57,836                       -                         -                         -                57,836 

Environmental consulting                         -                           -                                 -                          2,922                       -                         -                         -                  2,922 

Geological consulting                         -                           -                          7,018                   133,340                       -                     400                7,018           133,740 

                        -                           -                        35,018                   297,765                       -                     546              35,018           298,311 

Northern Ontario properties Northwestern Ontario properties Quebec properties Total
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year period, a joint venture is to be formed between the Company and Subco. During the years 
ended October 31, 2014 the $2,500,000 spending threshold was met and Subco earned its 33-1/3% 
interest. The properties that Subco has earned into to date are described in (ii) to (iv) below. 
 

(ii) Ring of Fire Claims 
The Ring of Fire Claim blocks, for which exploration expenditure requirements are in abeyance with 
the Ministry of Northern Development and Mines, pending completion of First Nation agreements, 
were staked to explore areas located to the north and west of the Ring of Fire area of the James Bay 
Lowlands. Located approximately 550 km north of Thunder Bay, these claim groups are named Areas 
55, 55E, 55E1, 55E2, 57 to 63 inclusive and 64 to 71 inclusive.  

During the year ended October 31, 2017 it was decided that no further exploration was warranted on 
Areas 72 and 73 and as a result, deferred exploration and evaluation assets incurred in connection 
with these two areas in the amount of $21,481 were written off. 

(iii) Koper Lake 
Under an agreement dated May 4, 2012 with Fancamp Exploration Limited (“Fancamp”), subject to 
KWG Resources Inc.’s (“KWG”) interest as discussed in (iv) below, the Company has earned a 50% 
working interest in the Fancamp Ring of Fire property known as the Koper Lake Project. The Koper 
Lake Project property is situated approximately 530 km north east of Thunder Bay in the James Bay 
Lowlands of northern Ontario. The agreement called for the Company to make option payments 
totalling $1,500,000 and to incur exploration expenditures on the property of at least $8,000,000 over 
a 3-year period, which it did under the KWG option agreement during 2016, as discussed in (iv) 
below.  
 
A further 10% interest may be earned by Bold at any time by delivery of a positive feasibility study 
and by making a payment of $700,000 in cash and/or stock at the option of Bold. The estate of the 
Company’s former Chairman holds a 2% net smelter royalty interest (“2% NSR”) in the four claims 
that comprise the property. Bold Ventures maintains a right of first refusal on one-half (1%) of the 2% 
NSR. 

 
In January 2013, the Company signed an agreement with Fancamp giving Bold the option to earn up 
to a 100% working interest in the Koper Lake property. The agreement provides that once Bold has 
earned its 60% interest in the Koper Lake property (it has currently earned a 50% interest as 
discussed in (iv) below), it will then have two options for a period of 90 days following the date it earns 
its 60% interest. Under the first option it can earn a further 20% interest by agreeing to pay Fancamp 
$15,000,000 payable in equal installments over three years with half of the amount payable in cash 
and the balance payable, at Bold’s option, through the issuance of common shares of Bold, or its 
assignee, at the market price at the time the shares are issued. If the first option is exercised, Bold 
would then have the option to acquire Fancamp’s remaining interest in exchange for a Gross Metal 
Royalty. Fancamp would then be entitled to be paid 2% of the total revenue from the sale of all metals 
and mineral products from the property from the commencement of commercial production. Once all 
of the capital costs to bring the Koper Lake project to the production stage have been repaid entirely, 
the gross metal royalty may be scaled up to a maximum of 4% of the total revenue from the sale of all 
metals and mineral products from the property depending upon the price of product sold. 

(iv) KWG Resources Inc. option on the Koper Lake property 
In March 2013, and amended October 23, 2015, the Company optioned its interest in the Koper Lake 
property to KWG. Under the terms of the option agreement, KWG assumed the obligation to make 
option payments totaling $1,500,000 and to fund the $8,000,000 exploration programs planned for the 
property; and as of September 21, 2016 KWG had met those obligations. As a result on September 
21, 2016, the Company earned a 50% working interest in Fancamp’s Koper Lake property; KWG 
earned an 80% interest in Bold’s interest in chromite and a 20% interest in Bold’s interest in nickel 
and other non-chromite minerals.  
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KWG can acquire an 80% interest in chromite produced from the Koper Lake property by funding 
100% of the costs to a feasibility study leaving Bold and its co-venturer (a subsidiary of Dundee 
Corporation) with a 20% carried interest, pro rata. For nickel and other non-chromite minerals 
identified during the exploration programs, the parties have agreed to form a joint arrangement in 
which KWG would have a 20% participating interest and Bold and its co-venturer (a subsidiary of 
Dundee Corporation) would have an 80% participating interest, pro rata. KWG will have a right of first 
refusal to purchase all ores or concentrates produced by such joint arrangement whenever its interest 
in the joint arrangement exceeds 50%.  

 
(v) Rencore Claims 

Pursuant to an amalgamation completed on February 13, 2012, the Company acquired Rencore 
Resources Limited and all of the exploration properties and related obligations held by Rencore in the 
Ring of Fire (“Rencore claims”).  The Rencore claims consist of a 100% interest in mineral claims 
located north-northwest of Thunder Bay.  These properties are known as REN 6 and REN 8.   

 
Rencore has an option agreement dated May 31, 2011, as amended October 7, 2014, with a 
subsidiary (“Subco”) of Dundee Corporation for Subco to earn a 33-1/3% interest in Rencore’s Ring of 
Fire project by funding $2,500,000 of exploration work by March 31, 2014 (extended to the date when 
another exploration program is approved and budgeted for completion). Upon expending $2,500,000 
within the agreed timeline, a joint venture will be formed between Rencore and Subco.  Rencore will 
pay a finder’s fee, as funds are expended by Subco pursuant to the option agreement in tranches of 
$1,000,000, calculated as 2% of the funds expended satisfied in either common shares of the 
Company at the market price at the time of issuance, or twice that number of warrants exercisable at 
the market price for two years, subject to regulatory approval. At October 31, 2019, $1,371,188 has 
been spent under this program. 

 
(b) Northwestern Ontario properties 
(i) Wilcorp Project 

Under an agreement dated February 24, 2012, and subsequent amendments, the Company acquired 
an option to certain property that is made up of patented claims and a staked mining claim.  
 
The option agreement for the patented claims requires a payment by the Company of $14,000 on or 
before June 1, 2020, and $8,000 annually on June 1 of each year thereafter. The option may be 
exercised at any time, and the properties acquired, by the payment of $100,000 to the vendor. The 
vendor retains a 2% Net Smelter Returns Royalty (“NSR”) of which half may be purchased at any time 
by Bold for $500,000 cash. Bold retains a right of first refusal on the remaining 1% NSR.  
 
The terms of the agreement for the staked mining claim are a one-time payment of $12,000 (paid). 
The vendor retains a 1% NSR of which half may be purchased at any time prior to production for a 
cash consideration of $500,000. Bold retains a right of first refusal on the remaining 0.5% NSR.  

 
(ii) Traxxin Extension Gold project 

During the year ended October 31, 2017, the Company announced it had formalized an agreement 
with Lac des Milles Lac First Nation and had staked 7 claims totaling 3,953 acres in the Bedivere 
Lake area of northwestern Ontario. The parties have shared the cost related to the claim staking 
equally, and each party owns 50% of the gold property. Bold is the operator of the claims. 
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The following table sets out selected quarterly financial information for the eight most recent quarters (all 
reported under IFRS).  

 
Discussion of significant items affecting results by quarter: 
 
Q4 2019 - During the three months ended October 31, 2019, the Company realized a net loss of $584,408 
(2018 –  $25,872). During the three months ended October 31, 2019 there was a write-off of exploration and 
evaluation assets of $507,410 (2018 – nil). 
 
Q3 2019 - During the three months ended July 31, 2019, the Company realized a net loss of $268,059 (2018 – 
net income $13,108). During the three months ended October 31, 2019 there was a write-off of the Stover 
Project exploration and evaluation assets of $303,080 (2018 – a recovery of $59,811). 
 
Q2 2019 - There was no unusual activity during Q2 2019. 
 
Q1 2019 - There was no unusual activity during Q1 2019. 
 

5. LIQUIDITY 

The Company has no significant revenues and no expectation of significant revenues in the near term. In order 
to manage this risk, the Company closely monitors its cash requirements and expenditures to maintain 
sufficient liquidity.  
 
As at October 31, 2019, the Company had current assets of $13,843 (October 31, 2018 - $62,041) to 
settle current liabilities of $115,527 (October 31, 2018 - $106,263). All of the Company's accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities have contractual maturities that are subject to normal trade terms.  
 
Future exploration programs will depend on the Company’s ongoing ability to raise funds. Bold is an 
exploration stage company and continues to rely on equity offerings and other partnership arrangements to 
fund its exploration activities. There can be no assurance that funds will be available.  
 

6. CAPITAL RESOURCES 

The Company experienced normal operating conditions during the year. There were no events during the 
period, other than normal operating conditions, that affected the company’s capital resources. 

 

7. OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

As at October 31, 2019 the Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements. 

 
  Q4 

October 31, 
2019 

Q3 
July 31, 

2019 

Q2 
April 30, 

2019 

Q1 
January 31, 

2019 

Interest and other income $ - 6,156 - - 

Net income (loss) $ (584,408) (268,059) (33,426) (45,541) 

Net Loss per common share   $ (0.03) (0.01) 0.00 0.00 

Number of shares outstanding  25,134,049 25,134,049 24,980,049 24,980,049 

  Q4 
October 31, 

2018 

Q3 
July 31, 

2018 

Q2 
April 30, 

2018 

Q1 
January 31, 

2018 

Interest and other income $ - 39 22 3 

Net Loss $ (25,872) 13,108 (56,018) (58,942) 

Net Loss per common share   $ 0.00 0.00 (0.01) 0.00 

Number of shares outstanding  24,700,049 24,680,049 24,680,049 24,680,049 
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8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

During the years ended October 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had the following related party 
transactions:  
a. Director’s fees, professional fees and other compensation in the amount of $24,750 (2018 - $99,000), 

were paid or payable to directors and key management personnel in the form of short-term salaries 
and benefits. During the year ended October 31, 2019 $1,680 (2018 – $44,320) was charged to 
exploration and evaluation projects, and $23,070 (2018 - $54,680) was expensed. 
- In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, 
including any directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company.  
- The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the compensation committee. 

b.  The Company’s President and CFO agreed to a debt settlement arrangement under which 154,000 
common shares of the Company were exchanged for settlement of $70,500 in debts owed to them. 

c.  Legal fees in the amount of $33,310 (2018 – $35,620) were paid or payable to a law firm whose 
partner is a director and an officer of the Company. 

 
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at October 31, 2019 was $64,410 (2018 - $62,225) 
owing to directors, and officers, companies owned by directors and officers, and a law firm whose partner 
is a director and an officer of the Company. These amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due 
on demand. 
 
See Note 6(a)(iii) to the Company’s October 31, 2019 consolidated financial statements. 

9. EVENTS AFFECTING THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL CONDITION 

There were no events during the period, other than normal operating conditions, that affected the Company’s 
financial condition.  

10. PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 

There are no asset or business acquisitions or dispositions proposed by the Company at October 31, 2019 
other than those disclosed herein. 

11. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. Estimates and judgments are continuously evaluated and are based on 
management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual outcomes can differ from these estimates. The key 
sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the 
amounts recognized in the financial statements are: 
 
Capitalization of exploration and evaluation assets   
Management has determined that exploration and evaluation costs incurred during the year have future 
economic benefits and are economically recoverable. In making this judgement, management has 
assessed various sources of information including but not limited to the geologic and metallurgic 
information, history of conversion of mineral deposits to proven and probable mineral reserves, scoping 
and feasibility studies, proximity of operating facilities, operating management expertise and existing 
permits.  

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets 
While assessing whether any indications of impairment exist for exploration and evaluation assets, 
consideration is given to both external and internal sources of information. Information the Company 
considers includes changes in the market, economic and legal environment in which the Company 
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operates that are not within its control that could affect the recoverable amount of exploration and 
evaluation assets. Internal sources of information include the manner in which exploration and evaluation 
assets are being used or are expected to be used and indications of expected economic performance of 
the assets. Estimates include but are not limited to estimates of the discounted future after-tax cash flows 
expected to be derived from the Company’s exploration properties, costs to sell the properties and the 
appropriate discount rate. Reductions in metal price forecasts, increases in estimated future costs of 
production, increases in estimated future capital costs, reductions in the amount of recoverable mineral 
reserves and mineral resources and/or adverse current economics can result in a write-down of the 
carrying amounts of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets. 
 
Income, value added, withholding and other taxes 
The Company is subject to income, value added, withholding and other taxes. Significant judgment is 
required in determining the Company’s provisions for taxes. There are many transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. 
The Company recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether 
additional taxes will be due. The determination of the Company’s income, value added, withholding and 
other tax liabilities requires interpretation of complex laws and regulations. The Company’s interpretation 
of taxation law as applied to transactions and activities may not coincide with the interpretation of the tax 
authorities. All tax related filings are subject to government audit and potential reassessment subsequent 
to the financial statement reporting period. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from 
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the tax related accruals and deferred 
income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.  

Share-based payments 
Management determines costs for share-based payments using market-based valuation techniques. The 
fair value of the market-based and performance-based share awards are determined at the date of grant 
using generally accepted valuation techniques. Assumptions are made and judgment used in applying 
valuation techniques. These assumptions and judgments include estimating the future volatility of the 
stock price, expected dividend yield, future employee turnover rates and future employee stock option 
exercise behaviors and corporate performance. Such judgments and assumptions are inherently 
uncertain. Changes in these assumptions affect the fair value estimates. 
 
 
Business combinations 
Determination of whether a set of assets acquired and liabilities assumed constitute a business requires 
the Company to make certain judgments, taking into account all facts and circumstances. Applying the 
acquisition method to business combinations requires the consideration paid and each identifiable asset 
and liability to be measured at its acquisition-date fair value. The determination of the acquisition-date fair 
values often requires management to make assumptions and estimates about future events. The 
assumptions and estimates with respect to determining the fair value of net identifiable assets acquired 
generally require a high degree of judgment, and include estimates of future reserves and resources, 
sales levels and discount rates. Changes in any of the assumptions or estimates used in determining the 
fair value of the consideration paid and the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities could impact the 
amounts assigned to assets, liabilities and goodwill in the purchase price allocation. 

12. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRIC that are mandatory for accounting periods 
beginning on or after November 1, 2019 or later periods. Many are not applicable or do not have a 
significant impact to the Company and have been excluded below. The following has not yet been 
adopted and is being evaluated to determine its impact on the Company. 
 

IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements (“IAS 1”) and IAS 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors (“IAS 8”) were amended in October 2018 to refine the definition of 
materiality and clarify its characteristics.  The revised definition focuses on the idea that information is 
material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the 
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primary users of general-purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements.  
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020.  Earlier 
adoption is permitted. 

IFRS 3 – Business Combinations (“IFRS 3”) was amended in October 2018 to clarify the definition of a 
business.  This amended definition states that a business must include inputs and a process and clarified 
that the process must be substantive and the inputs and process must together significantly contribute to 
operating outputs.  In addition it narrows the definitions of a business by focusing the definition of outputs 
on goods and services provided to customers and other income from ordinary activities, rather than on 
providing dividends or other economic benefits directly to investors or lowering costs and added a test 
that makes it easier to conclude that a company has acquired a group of assets, rather than a business, if 
the value of the assets acquired is substantially all concentrated in a single asset or group of similar 
assets.  The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2020.  Earlier adoption is permitted. 

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”) and IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures (“IAS 28”) were amended in September 2014 to address a conflict between the 
requirements of IAS 28 and IFRS 10 and clarify that in a transaction involving an associate or joint 
venture, the extent of gain or loss recognition depends on whether the assets sold or contributed 
constitute a business. The effective date of these amendments is yet to be determined, however early 
adoption is permitted. 

IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments (“IFRIC 23”) was issued in June 2017 and clarifies 
the accounting for uncertainties in income taxes.  The interpretation committee concluded that an entity 
shall consider whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. If an 
entity concludes it is probable that the taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, then the 
entity shall determine taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses and credits or tax rates 
consistently with the tax treatment used or planned to be used in its income tax filings.  If an entity 
concludes it is not probable that the taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the entity 
shall reflect the effect of uncertainty in determining the related taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused 
tax losses and credits or tax rates.  IFRIC 23 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2019. 

Changes in accounting policies 

Effective November 1, 2018, the Company adopted IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which resulted in 
changes in the accounting policy as described below. In accordance with the transitional provisions, the 
Company adopted this standard retrospectively without restating comparatives, with the cumulative 
impact adjusted in the opening balances as at November 1, 2018. There were no effects on opening 
balances at November 1, 2018 with respect to the adoption of this policy. 

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 replaces International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification, measurement and impairment 
of financial assets and hedge accounting. It establishes two primary measurement categories for financial 
assets: (i) amortized cost and (ii) fair value either through profit or loss (“FVPL”) or through other 
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); establishes criteria for the classification of financial assets within each 
measurement category based on business model and cash flow characteristics; and eliminates the 
existing held for trading, held to maturity, available for sale, loans and receivable and other financial 
liabilities categories. IFRS 9 also introduces a new expected credit loss model for the purpose of 
assessing the impairment of financial assets and requires that there be a demonstrated economic 
relationship between the hedged item and hedging instrument. 
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The following table shows the previous classification under IAS 39 and the new classification under IFRS 
9 for the Company’s financial instruments: 

 

13. OTHER RISK EXPOSURES 

The Company's risk exposures and the impact on its financial investments, as summarized below, have 
not changed significantly during the year. 

Credit Risk 
The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to amounts receivable. The Company has no 
significant concentration of credit risk arising from operations. Management believes that the credit risk 
concentration with respect to the financial instrument included in amounts receivable is remote. 

Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in market interest rates. The Company's exposure to interest rate risk is minimal. 

Market Risk 
 
Foreign Currency Risk 

The Company's functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and all expenditures are 
transacted in Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal. 
 
Price Risk 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. The Company closely monitors 
commodity prices to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company.  As the 
Company's properties are in the exploration stage and to date do not contain any identified mineral 
resources or reserves, the Company does not hedge against commodity price risk. 

Sensitivity Analysis 
Based on management's knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Company believes the 
following movements are reasonably possible over a twelve-month period: 
(i) The Company receives low interest rates on its cash and cash equivalent balances and, as such, the 

Company does not have significant interest rate risk. 
(ii) The Company does not hold balances in foreign currencies to give rise to exposure to foreign 

exchange risk. 
 

In addition to the financial risks noted above, given the Company's current status as an exploration stage 
company, there are numerous additional risk factors that could affect the Company’s business prospects 
and future performance, including the following. These risks and uncertainties are not the only ones 
facing the Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Company, or that the 
Company currently deems immaterial, may also affect the Company’s business prospects and future 
performance. 
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Additional capital 
The exploration and development of the Company’s mineral property interests will require substantial 
additional financing. Failure to obtain sufficient financing may result in the delay or indefinite 
postponement of exploration, development or production on the Company’s mineral property interests. 
The Company will also require additional funding to acquire further property interests. The ability of the 
Company to arrange such financing in the future will depend, in part, upon the prevailing capital market 
conditions as well as the business performance of the Company. There can be no assurance that the 
Company will be successful in its efforts to arrange additional financing on terms satisfactory to the 
Company. If additional financing is raised by the issuance of shares from treasury of the Company, 
control of the Company may change and security holders may suffer additional dilution. 
 
Operating history 
The Company has a very limited history of operations and must be considered a start-up. As such, the 
Company is subject to many risks common to such enterprises, including under-capitalization, cash 
shortages, limitations with respect to personnel, financial and other resources and an absence of 
revenues. There is no assurance that the Company will be successful in achieving a return on 
shareholder investment and the likelihood of success must be considered in light of its early stage of 
operations. 
 
Highly speculative business 
The nature of the Company’s business is highly speculative due to its proposed involvement in the 
exploration, development and production of minerals. Exploration for minerals involves many risks, which 
even a combination of experience, knowledge and careful evaluation may not be able to overcome. There 
is no assurance that any commercial quantities of ore will be discovered by the Company. The 
commercial viability of a mineral deposit, if discovered, depends upon a number of factors including the 
particular attributes of the deposit (principally size and grade), the proximity to infrastructure, the impact of 
mine development on the environment, environmental regulations imposed by various levels of 
government and the competitive nature of the industry which causes base metal prices to fluctuate 
substantially over short periods of time. Most of these factors are beyond the control of the Company. 
Mineral exploration and development are highly speculative and few properties that are explored are 
ultimately placed into commercial production. 
 
Insufficient resources or reserves 
Substantial additional expenditures will be required to establish either resources or reserves on mineral 
properties and to develop processes to extract the minerals. No assurance can be given that minerals will 
be discovered in sufficient quantities to justify commercial operations or that the funds required for 
development can be obtained on a timely basis or at all. 
 
Barriers to commercial production 
The Company will rely upon consultants and others for construction and operating expertise. The 
economics of developing mineral properties are affected by many factors including, but not limited to, the 
cost of operations, grade of ore, fluctuating mineral markets, costs of processing equipment, competition, 
extensions on licenses and other factors such as government regulations, including regulations relating to 
title to mineral concessions, royalties, allowable production, importing and exporting of minerals and 
environmental protection. Many of the above factors are beyond the control of the Company. Depending 
on the price of minerals produced, the Company may determine that it is impractical to either commence 
or continue commercial production. 
 
Commodity price and exchange rate fluctuations 
The feasibility of mineral exploration is significantly affected by changes in the market price of the 
minerals expected to be produced. Mineral prices fluctuate widely and are affected by numerous factors 
beyond the Company's control. The level of interest rates, the rate of inflation, world supply of minerals 
and stability of exchange rates can all cause significant fluctuations in mineral prices. Such external 
economic factors are in turn influenced by changes in international investment patterns and monetary 
systems and political developments. 
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Key officers, consultants and employees 
The success of the Company will be largely dependent upon the performance of its key officers, 
consultants and employees. Locating mineral deposits depends on a number of factors, not the least of 
which is the technical skill of the exploration personnel involved. Failure to retain key individuals or to 
attract or retain additional key individuals with necessary skills could have a materially adverse impact 
upon the Company’s success. The Company has not purchased any key-man insurance with respect to 
any of its directors, officers or consultants and has no current plans to do so. 
 
Title 
The mining claims in which the Company has an interest have not been surveyed and, accordingly, the 
precise location of the boundaries of the claims and ownership of mineral rights on specific tracts of land 
comprising the claims may be in doubt. Such claims have not been converted to lease and tenure, and as 
a result, are subject to annual compliance with assessment work requirements. Other parties may dispute 
the Company’s title to its mining properties. While the Company has diligently investigated title to all 
mineral claims and, to the best of its knowledge, title to all properties is in good standing; this should not 
be construed as a guarantee of title. The properties may be subject to prior unregistered agreements or 
transfers or land claims, including First Nations land claims and title may be affected by undetected 
defects. There is no guarantee that title to the Company’s properties or its rights to earn an interest in its 
properties will not be challenged or impugned.  Also, in many countries including Canada and the USA, 
claims have been made and new claims are being made by aboriginal peoples that call into question the 
rights granted by the governments of those countries in respect of resource properties. 
 
Maintaining interests in mineral properties 
The Company’s continuing right to maintain its ownership in its mineral property interests will be 
dependent upon compliance with applicable laws and with agreements to which it is a party. There is no 
assurance that the Company will be able to obtain and/or maintain all required permits and licenses to 
carry on its operations. Additional expenditures will be required by the Company to maintain its interests 
in its properties. There can be no assurance that the Company will have the funds, will be able to raise 
the funds or will be able to comply with the provisions of the agreements relating to its properties which 
would entitle it to an interest therein and if it fails to do so its interest in certain of these properties may be 
reduced or be lost. 
 
External market factors 
The marketability and price of minerals which may be acquired or discovered by the Company will be 
affected by numerous factors beyond the control of the Company. The Company will be affected by 
changing production costs, the supply or/and demand for minerals, the rate of inflation, the inventory 
levels of minerals held by competing companies, the political environment and changes in international 
investment patterns. 
 
Governmental and regulatory requirements 
Government approvals and permits are currently, and may in the future, be required in connection with 
the Company’s operations. To the extent that such approvals are required and not obtained, the 
Company may be restricted or prohibited from proceeding with planned exploration or development 
activities. Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and permitting requirements may result in 
enforcement actions there under, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing 
operations to cease or be curtailed, which may include requirements for the Company to take corrective 
measures requiring capital expenditures, installation of additional equipment, or other remedial actions. 
Parties engaged in mining operations may be required to compensate those suffering loss or damage by 
reason of the mining activities and may be liable for civil or criminal fines or penalties imposed for 
violations of applicable laws or regulations. Amendments to current laws, regulations and permitting 
requirements, or more stringent application of existing laws, could have a material adverse impact on the 
Company and cause increases in capital expenditures or production costs or reductions in levels of 
production at producing properties or require abandonment or delays in the development of properties. 
 



 

13 

 

Environmental regulations 
All phases of the Company’s operations are subject to environmental regulation. Environmental 
legislation is becoming stricter, with increased fines and penalties for non-compliance, more stringent 
environmental assessments of proposed projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for 
companies and their officers, directors and employees. There can be no assurance that environmental 
regulation will not adversely affect the Company’s operations. Environmental hazards may exist on a 
property in which the Company holds an interest which are unknown to the Company at present which 
have been caused by previous or existing owners or operators of the property. 
 
Environmental legislation provides for restrictions and prohibitions on spills, releases or emissions of 
various substances produced in association with certain mining industry operations, such as seepage 
from tailings disposal areas, which would result in environmental pollution. A breach of such legislation 
may result in the imposition of fines and penalties. In addition, certain types of operations require the 
submission and approval of environmental impact assessments. Environmental legislation is evolving in a 
manner which means standards, and enforcement, fines and penalties for non-compliance are more 
stringent. 
 
Environmental assessments of proposed projects carry a heightened degree of responsibility for 
companies and their directors, officers and employees. The cost of compliance with changes in 
governmental regulations has the potential to reduce the profitability of operations. There is no assurance 
that future changes in environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely affect the Company’s 
operations. The Company intends to fully comply with all environmental regulations in all of the countries 
in which it is active. 
 
Conflicts of interest 
Certain directors and officers of the Company are or may become associated with other natural resource 
companies which may give rise to conflicts of interest. In accordance with the Business Corporations Act 
(Ontario), directors who have a material interest in any person who is a party to a material contract or a 
proposed material contract with the Company are required, subject to certain exceptions, to disclose that 
interest and generally abstain from voting on any resolution to approve the contract. In addition, the 
directors and the officers are required to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of 
the Company. The directors and officers of the Company have either other full-time employment or other 
business or time restrictions placed on them and, accordingly, the Company will not be the only business 
enterprise of these directors and officers. 
 
Competition in acquiring additional properties 
Significant and increasing competition exists for mineral acquisition opportunities throughout the world. As 
a result of this competition, some of which is with large, better established mining companies with 
substantial capabilities and greater financial and technical resources, the Company may be unable to 
acquiring rights to exploit additional attractive mining properties on terms it considers acceptable. 
 
Land access 
As of April 1, 2013, under the recently modified Mining Act, the Company is required to obtain permits to 
conduct exploration and evaluation activities on its Ontario properties. In management’s view there is 
uncertainty concerning the First Nation’s ability to comply with the legislation on a timely basis, and there 
is a risk of permitting delays. The impact of any delays on the Company’s operations is unknown. 
 
Dividend policy 
No dividends on the common shares of the Company have been paid by the Company to date. The 
Company intends to retain its earnings, if any, to finance the growth and development of its business and 
has no present intention of paying dividends or making any other distributions in the foreseeable future. 
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14. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

On January 6, 2020 the Company announced it had signed a letter agreement to option the Farwell Gold 
and Base Metals property. The Farwell Property is located approximately 55 km northwest of Wawa, 
Ontario. The claims are road accessible and consist of 103 Cell claims, 6 Multi-Cell claims and 6 
Boundary claims. The Company has the option to earn a 100% interest in the property by making 
aggregate cash option payments of $225,000, issuing an aggregate of 1,650,000 common shares, and 
completing a total of $1,000,000 of exploration work on the property over a four-year period (with first-
year exploration work expenditures of $90,000). The option agreement is subject to the signing of a 
definitive agreement, TSX Venture Exchange approval, and financing. The vendors will retain a 3% net 
smelter royalty in the property, and the Company will have the right to buy back a 1.5% net smelter 
royalty in consideration for the payment of $2 million. 
 
On February 3, 2020, the Company consolidated its outstanding common shares on a one-new-for-five-
old basis. All share and per share figures in these consolidated financial statements have been presented 
on a retroactive basis showing the effect of this share-consolidation. 
 
On February 12, 2020 the Company announced it closed the first tranche of a non-brokered private 
placement, announced on February 5, 2020, and raised $122,250 through the issuance of 2,445,000 
working capital units. Each working capital unit is priced at $0.05 and comprises one common share of 
the Company priced at $0.05 and one common share purchase warrant, with each warrant entitling the 
holder to acquire one common share at a price of $0.10 until February 11, 2022. 

15. OUTSTANDING SHARE, WARRANT AND OPTION DATA  

Common shares  
As at October 31, 2019, and the date hereof, there were 25,134,049 and 27,579,049 common shares 
respectively of the Company outstanding.   
 
Warrants  
As at October 31, 2019, and the date hereof, there were 1,556,000 and 4,043,700 warrants respectively 
outstanding.    
 
Broker Warrant units  
As at October 31, 2019, and the date hereof, the Company has 56,000 broker warrant units outstanding.  
 
Options  
As at October 31, 2019 and the date hereof the Company had 1,325,000 options outstanding.  
 

Forward-Looking Statements 

Certain statements in this MD&A may constitute “forward-looking” statements which involve known and 
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or 
achievements of the Company and its subsidiary, or the industry in which they operate, to be materially 
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements.  When used in this report, the words “estimate”, “believe”, “anticipate”, “intend”, 
“expect”, “plan”, “may”, “should”, “will”, the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable 
terminology are intended to identify forward-looking statements.  Such forward-looking statements reflect 
the current expectations of the management of the Company with respect to future events based on 
currently available information and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results, 
performance or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied by those forward-
looking statements, such as reduced funding, currency and interest rate fluctuations, increased 
competition and general economic and market factors and including the risk factors summarized above 
under the heading “Risks and Uncertainties”.  New risk factors may arise from time to time and it is not 
possible for management of the Company to predict all of those risk factors or the extent to which any 
factor or combination of factors may cause actual results, performance or achievements of the Company 
to be materially different from those expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements.  Given 



 

15 

 

these risks and uncertainties, investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as 
a prediction of actual results.  Although the forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are based 
upon what management believes to be reasonable assumptions, the Company cannot assure investors 
that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements.  The forward-looking 
statements contained in this MD&A speak only as of the date hereof.  The Company does not undertake 
or assume any obligation to release publicly any revisions to these forward-looking statements to reflect 
events or circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, except 
as required by law. 
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